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VISION
A research-led University with an international
reputation for excellence.
He Whare Wānanga aronui ana ki te rangahau,
e rongonui ana i ngā tōpito o te ao i āna
tutukinga ikeike.

MISSION
The University of Otago will create, advance, preserve,
promote and apply knowledge, critical thinking and
intellectual independence to enhance the understanding, development and well-being of individuals, society
and the environment. It will achieve these goals by
building on foundations of broad research and teaching
capabilities, unique campus learning environments, its
nationwide presence and mana, and international links.
Ko tā Te Whare Wānanga o Otāgo he whakawhanake,
he pupuri, he whakatairanga hoki i te mātauranga, i te
ihomatua tātari kaupapa, i te whakaaroaro motuhake o te
tangata, kia hāpai ai te mōhio, te mārama, te hiatotanga,
otirā, te oranga o te tangata, o te iwi hoki. Mā te rangahau
me te tika mārika o te whakaako, mā te whai wānanga
ahurei, mā te whakaū ki tōna mana, me ōna toronga puta
noa i te motu, i te ao hoki ēnei whāinga e tutuki.
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UNIVERSITY GOVERNANCE
LEGAL STATUS
The University was established by the University of Otago Ordinance of the Provincial
Council in 1869, the University of Otago Amendment Act 1961 and the Education Act
1989. It is governed by a Council, which appoints the Vice-Chancellor, who is the chief
executive and employer of all other staff.
STATUTORY ROLE
Defining characteristics of universities in New Zealand, specified in the Education Act
1989, include that their teaching is primarily informed by research, they are repositories
of knowledge and expertise, and they accept a role as critic and conscience of society.
THE UNIVERSITY COUNCIL
The Council is constituted and empowered according to legislation. Council is chaired
by the Chancellor, and comprises appointed, elected and designated members.
COMMITTEES OF COUNCIL
Specific committees report directly to Council on matters including financial
management and performance, capital development, audit and risk, and health and
safety and ethics compliance. It also has a Treaty of Waitangi committee with equal
membership from Ngāi Tahu, and the University may, from time to time, establish
special working parties to examine particular issues.
THE SENATE
Senate reports directly to Council, advising it primarily on academic matters as the
Academic Board of the University. Senate is convened by the Vice-Chancellor and its
membership is drawn mainly from the heads of academic departments. Also included
are other senior academics and representatives of other teaching staff and students. It is,
in turn, advised by a number of committees and boards.
UNIVERSITY AUTONOMY AND ACADEMIC FREEDOM
The Education Act 1989 provides statutory recognition of, and protection for, the
institutional autonomy of the University and the academic freedom of its staff and
students. In accordance with the Act, the Council and the Vice-Chancellor have a duty
to act to preserve and enhance university autonomy and academic freedom.
GOVERNANCE DOCUMENTS
The University strategic plan, Strategic Direction to 2020, provides a framework for the
development of the University.
The University Investment Plan outlines the means by which the University will
contribute to the Government’s strategies and priorities for tertiary education, and how
it will monitor its performance in these matters.
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The 150th Anniversary
Convocation Ceremony was one
of many highlights in 2019.

CHANCELLOR’S INTRODUCTION
IT WAS A GREAT HONOUR and privilege to be Chancellor of
the University of Otago in 2019, the year in which the University
celebrated the 150th anniversary of its establishment in 1869.
Otago’s Scottish settlers had a vision of a university in
Dunedin even before they arrived here in 1848. While many
believed it would be best to fund scholarships to send New
Zealanders to institutions in Britain, Otago – led by its own
provincial government – decided to go it alone and establish
a local university. Their faith and commitment has been well
rewarded.
When the University of Otago opened for lectures in 1871 there
were 81 male students. Within a few months the Council agreed
to the admission of women students. By the time of its centenary
in 1969 the University had 5,000 students, and in 2019 there
were over 21,000 students at our campuses throughout New
Zealand. The University has earned an international reputation
for research and teaching excellence, and outstanding student
achievement and experience. Now employing more than 3,800
staff, it is also a significant cultural and economic force, and our
graduates are scattered around the globe.
The University’s rich heritage and exciting future were
celebrated at many splendid events held both nationally and
internationally throughout 2019. These are highlighted in a
specially dedicated section of this Annual Report. Of particular

note are the sesquicentennial festivities that took place over
Queen’s Birthday weekend in June, including the 150th
Anniversary Convocation Ceremony, anniversary dinners,
a multi-faith church service, a concert, and a rugby match
between Selwyn College and Knox College, the University’s
oldest affiliated colleges. The weekend was thoroughly enjoyed
by many alumni and visitors, including former presidents of the
Otago University Students’ Association who also held a reunion
over the weekend.
It was a pleasure to meet so many alumni at these events.
Whether they are still here in New Zealand or now living
overseas, it has become increasingly clear to me that our
alumni regard their Otago experience as a defining time
in their lives. Many are now choosing to give back and
are generously contributing to our fundraising initiatives.
The University of Otago was founded on the principles of
philanthropy and this continues today. In 2019 we welcomed a
number of new members to our Court of Benefactors [detailed
later in this report], including the Presbyterian Synod of Otago
and Southland. The Presbyterian Church has supported the
University since its establishment, funding the first professorial
chairs. Fittingly, as Otago celebrated its sesquicentennial, the
Synod gifted a further $300,000 to help fund a new lectureship
in Chaplaincy. Its generosity and that of so many others help us
do things that might otherwise not be possible.
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“Whether they are still here in New Zealand or
now living overseas, it has become increasingly
clear to me that our alumni regard their Otago
experience as a defining time in their lives.”

Another great pleasure was being able to personally congratulate
Otago’s new graduates on the completion of their studies. In 2019
the University hosted 11 graduation ceremonies, at which 3,585
students graduated in person and a further 1,656 graduated in
absentia. At these ceremonies it was my privilege to present a
further seven honorary doctorates in addition to four presented
at the 150th Anniversary Convocation Ceremony. These are
all outstanding alumni (listed on page 20) who have made a
significant contribution to the University and to society.
2019 was a very good year for the University. While we celebrated
the achievements of the past 150 years, many new milestones
were reached. These are canvassed in the following pages of
this report, but highlights include the official opening of the
Faculty of Dentistry’s new clinical services building which is
considered one of the most technologically advanced dental school
facilities in the world. A number of significant new sustainability
initiatives were announced including a $1.2 million programme
to significantly reduce the University’s energy use and greenhouse
gas emissions. Otago researchers were highly successful in major
external funding rounds, we retained our position in national and
international university rankings, and continued our excellent
record in the national Tertiary Teaching Excellence Awards.
There has, indeed, been much to celebrate over the past year
and there are many people to thank. Firstly I would like to
acknowledge the outstanding efforts of all those who helped to

ensure the 150th anniversary was so successful and memorable,
in particular Vice-Chancellor Professor Harlene Hayne,
Deputy Vice-Chancellor (External Engagement) Professor
Helen Nicholson, and co-ordinator of the 150th celebration
project Ms Kerry Buchan. I would also like to congratulate Dr
Alison Clarke on the publication of her excellent book Otago:
150 Years of New Zealand’s First University.
I am very grateful to my fellow members of Council for their
support and hard work over the past year. We welcomed three
new members in 2019 – Associate Professor Charles Pigden
and Ms Suzanne Ellison, as well as Mr James Heath who served
one year as the student representative. At the end of the year we
farewelled Mr Shane Montague-Gallagher who completed his
four-year term as the general/professional staff representative.
I must also acknowledge and thank the Vice-Chancellor and
her executive group for their dedicated work over the past
12 months. At the time of writing, the world is confronting
the unprecedented challenges of the horrendous COVID-19
pandemic. However, I believe the University is well placed to
face these challenges and I would like to thank all members of
the University community who are tirelessly working to ensure
the University continues to operate during this critical time.
DR ROYDEN SOMERVILLE QC
Chancellor
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VICE-CHANCELLOR’S REVIEW
2019 WAS A VERY IMPORTANT YEAR for the University of
Otago. It marked 150 years since the University was established
and provided an unparalleled opportunity for us to celebrate our
extraordinary achievements as New Zealand’s first university. It
also provided a platform from which we could not only reflect,
but also look towards an equally exciting future.
The sesquicentennial was celebrated with a year-long programme
of events held in Dunedin, around New Zealand and the world,
with more than 100,000 people taking part – staff, students,
alumni, members of the extended University community and
the public. A special section of this report has been dedicated
to these celebrations (see pages 22–27) and there were many
highlights: the Clocktower lawn picnic was so popular we
have decided to make it an annual event; we recognised 11
outstanding alumni with honorary doctorates; appointed
seven exceptional scholars to the inaugural Sesquicentennial
Distinguished Chairs; and more than $6.8 million was raised
for academic initiatives. Over the past 150 years the University
of Otago has changed the face of education in this country and
has had a profound impact on the cultural, health and economic
well-being of our society. I am particularly pleased that we were
able to offer a wide variety of events – big and small, formal
and informal, academic and entertaining – to engage the many
sectors of society whose lives have been touched by our work. The
outstanding success of this sesquicentennial year is testament
to the hard work of a great many people and I would like to

thank everybody for their efforts, in particular 150th Project
Co-ordinator Kerry Buchan and Professor Helen Nicholson who
chaired the 150th Anniversary Project Operational Committee.
In 1869 the founders of this University demonstrated a deepseated commitment to education. They believed a university
education should be widely available and that this education
should be practical, meeting the needs of the young people
who would go on to play a role in the affairs of the colony. This
commitment has not changed. 150 years later, the University of
Otago is first and foremost a “school” – and a very good one. For
more than a decade Otago has topped the New Zealand Tertiary
Education Commission’s educational performance indicators
with student retention and graduation rates equivalent to some of
the best universities in the world. This was reinforced in the 2019
global rankings with Otago maintaining its position in the top
1% of international universities, with a number of subject areas
ranked in the world’s top 100.
Our success reflects the sustained efforts of our staff and
students. The University of Otago has received more Tertiary
Teaching Excellence Awards than any other New Zealand
university, a tally further enhanced in 2019 with Dr David
McMorran (Chemistry) winning a well-deserved sustained
teaching excellence award from Ako Aotearoa. The latest
Performance-Based Research Fund (PBRF) quality evaluation
confirmed the University’s status as a leading research university
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“In 1869 the founders of this University
demonstrated a deep-seated commitment to
education… This commitment has not changed.
150 years later, the University of Otago is first
and foremost a ‘school’ – and a very good one.”

with an impressive 30% increase in A-rated staff, a 15% increase
in new and emerging staff and a 16% increase in funded staff
overall. Of particular note, Otago’s Business School was rated
the top business school in New Zealand. Otago researchers
secured the largest share in the three major funding rounds – the
Marsden Fund, Health Research Council and MBIE’s Endeavour
Fund – which is an outstanding achievement. Notable amongst
these grants was an inaugural Marsden Fund Council Award
of $3 million to investigate genetic predisposition to metabolic
diseases in Pacific peoples and $13.5 million from MBIE for the
development of new antiviral agents. These are exciting projects
with the potential to vastly improve health and well-being. The
University’s own Distinguished Research Medal – our highest
honour – was presented to Professor Richie Poulton, Director
of the internationally-significant Dunedin Multidisciplinary
Health and Development Study. The findings of this study have
informed policymakers here in New Zealand and around the
world for decades; now the study is moving to the next stage,
looking at how we age.
Otago’s student experience uniquely combines both academic
excellence with social, cultural and sporting enrichment. Over
the past year our rowing, debating, rugby, soccer and netball
teams all enjoyed fantastic success. More than 7,400 students
took part in the annual Inter-College Competition, and students
collectively dedicated more than 42,000 hours to volunteer
service. Participation in such extra-curricular activities helps

shape our young people into mature, independent and successful
graduates. In 2019 Otago chemistry graduate Oliver Pooke was
awarded a Rhodes Scholarship, medical alumnus Jonathan
Stevenson received a prestigious William Georgetti Scholarship
and Fulbright scholarships were won by a further seven
Otago graduates – three of whom are Māori. The University is
committed to achieving equitable participation and success rates
in tertiary education for Māori and Pacific students and has
integrated its Māori and Pacific Strategic Frameworks across all
core functions.
In 2019 our Māori and Pacific enrolments were at all-time highs
of 2,187 and 1,058 students respectively. Over the past decade
we have seen a dramatic increase in the number of Māori and
Pacific students gaining entry to our highly competitive health
professional programmes, sciences and ICT subjects and Māori
have achieved population parity in our law student cohort for
the first time. The long-term impacts of their achievements
will be transformational for these students, their families, their
communities and our wider society.
To ensure our ongoing success, we need to ensure our staff and
students have access to the best possible facilities. Over recent
years we have been undertaking one of the most ambitious
capital development plans in our 150-year history, and the results
are truly impressive. In 2019 the Faculty of Dentistry’s new
Clinical Services building was opened which is second to none in
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“Our founders established this University
at a time of change and uncertainty.
Inspired by their foresight, we are taking
a long-term view to our future.”

the world. In the near future we look forward to the completion
of our new music, theatre and performing arts facility, research
support facility, and dental teaching and treatment clinic in
South Auckland.
While 2019 was a year of much celebration, it was also marked
by tragedy. Two students from our Christchurch campus were
worshipping at the Al Noor Mosque when it was targeted in a
terror attack on 15 March. Fortunately our students were safe,
but many lives were lost. I am very proud of the efforts of our
staff and students who helped treat the victims of this abhorrent
disaster, and of the overwhelming support that was shown to
our Muslim community by all members of the University. We
must continue to call out racism and all other inappropriate
behaviours whenever and wherever they arise, and promote
inclusiveness, tolerance and acceptance of diversity at all times.
Here at Otago we have welcomed students from more than 100
countries and this contributes much to the cultural vibrancy of
our campuses and the breadth of ideas that come from bringing
together people with different perspectives and experiences.
Tragedy struck again on 5 October with the death of 19-year-old
student Sophia Crestani at a party at a Dundas Street flat. This
terrible accident has understandably devastated Sophia’s family
and deeply impacted many within our student community.
At the request of Sophia’s family, a clean-up of the North
Dunedin area was held in her memory. Together with the Otago
University Students’ Association, we will be continuing to work
with Sophia’s family and Dunedin stakeholders, including the
Police, Dunedin City Council, Fire and Emergency, and Otago
Property Investors to find ways to improve the safety of our
North Dunedin community. Student safety will be a focus for all
New Zealand universities in the years ahead as the government
introduces a mandatory code of practice for the pastoral care of
tertiary students. With more than 85% of new students coming
to Otago from outside Dunedin, we already dedicate significant
resources to their care. In the most recent student opinion
survey, respondents gave overwhelmingly positive assessments
of their personal safety on campus, our health and counselling
services, University-provided living accommodation and
learning support.

The University of Otago’s founders established this University
at a time of change and uncertainty. Inspired by their foresight,
we are taking a long-term view to our future. Our Vision 2040
project has commenced with the aim of developing a strategy for
the next 20 years, determining what sort of university we seek to
become and enabling us to better respond to national and global
problems and opportunities which we may face without being
diverted by short-term constraints.
This seems particularly relevant as – moving into 2020 – the
University and New Zealand face one of the most significant
global challenges of recent times – the COVID-19 pandemic. At
the time of writing New Zealand is in an Alert Level 4 lockdown
and the impacts this will have on the University in both the short
and long term are impossible to predict with any certainty.
Nonetheless, I am fully confident in the resilience of the
University of Otago. Despite a constrained funding environment,
the University ended 2019 on a sound financial footing and the
University community has already demonstrated its adaptability
in responding to this crisis. I am very grateful for the efforts of
our staff and students in preparing for, and adjusting to, working
in isolation. I am also enormously proud of the significant
contributions of Otago’s scientists and health experts during
this unprecedented event. I have no doubt that the University
community will continue to respond to the pandemic with
fortitude and that together we will meet this challenge.
In conclusion, I wish to again acknowledge our exceptional
students who are the reason we are here. I also wish to thank
both our academic and professional staff for their commitment
and hard work. In particular I would like to recognise Professor
Vernon Squire, who retired in 2019 as Deputy Vice-Chancellor
(Academic). His contribution to the University has been
immeasurable. Finally, I must thank the members of Council for
their continued dedication and guidance.
PROFESSOR HARLENE HAYNE
Vice-Chancellor
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OUR PEOPLE 2019
SENIOR APPOINTMENTS
Professor Nathan Berg to the Dunedin City Council Chair of
Entrepreneurship.

(Anatomy), Professor Philippa Howden-Chapman (Public
Health, UOW), Professor Robert Patman (Politics), Professor
Jacinta Ruru (Law) and Professor Hamish Spencer (Zoology) to
newly-created positions of Sesquicentennial Distinguished Chair.

Professor Paul Cooper as Professor of Oral Biology.
Associate Professor Pat Cragg as Acting Deputy ViceChancellor, Academic.
Associate Professor William Levack as Dean and Head of the
University of Otago, Wellington.
Professor Mike Morgan as Dean of the Faculty of Dentistry.
Professor Craig Rodger to the Beverly Chair in Physics.
Professor Jeffrey Smith as Dean of the University of Otago
College of Education.
Professor Rathan Subramaniam as Dean of the University of
Otago Medical School.
Professor Michael Schultz to the Mary Glendinning Chair in
Medicine.
Professor Sonja Tiernan to the Eamon Cleary Chair in Irish
Studies
Dr Amir Zarrabi as Associate Professor of Urology.
Professor Sally Brooker (Chemistry), Professor Greg Cook
(Microbiology and Immunology), Professor Neil Gemmell

PROFESSORIAL PROMOTIONS
The following University of Otago academics have been promoted
to the position of professor (effective from 1 February 2020):
Gillian Abel (Population Health, UOC); Joanne Baxter (Health
Sciences Divisional Office); Rhiannon Braund (Preventive
and Social Medicine); Rachel Brown (Human Nutrition); Pat
Cragg (Academic Division and Physiology); Jacob Edmond
(English and Linguistics); Colin Gavaghan (Law); Jean HaySmith (Medicine, UOW); Julia Horsfield (Pathology); Lisa
Houghton (Human Nutrition); Caroline Horwath (Human
Nutrition); Christine Jasoni (Anatomy); Niels Kjaergaard
(Physics); Miles Lamare (Marine Science); William Levack
(Medicine, UOW); Richard Macknight (Biochemistry); Fiona
McDonald (Physiology); Alexander McLellan (Microbiology
and Immunology); Suzanne Pitama (Māori/Indigenous Health
Institute, UOC); Bruce Robertson (Zoology); Katrina Sharples
(Mathematics and Statistics, Medicine); Will Sweetman
(Religion); Neil Waddell (Oral Rehabilitation); Esko Wiltshire
(Paediatrics and Child Health, UOW); Yolanda van Heezik
(Zoology); Rachel Zajac (Psychology).
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Research professors: Joseph Boden (Psychological Medicine,
UOC); John Pickering (Medicine, UOC); Debra Waters
(Physiotherapy); Tim Woodfield (Orthopaedic Surgery and
Musculoskeletal Medicine, UOC).
The following staff were appointed to the position of associate
professor (effective from 1 February 2020):
Melanie Beres (Sociology, Gender Studies and Criminology);
Max Berry (Paediatrics and Child Health, UOW); Melanie
Bussey (Physical Education, Sport and Exercise Sciences); Anna
Carr (Tourism); Marcelle Dawson (Sociology, Gender Studies
and Criminology); Lara Friedlander (Oral Rehabilitation);
Paul Gardner (Biochemistry); Tony Garry (Marketing);
Richard Greatbanks (Management); Elaine Hargreaves
(Physical Education, Sport and Exercise Sciences); Dione
Healey (Psychology); Michael Jack (Physics); Anne-Marie
Jackson (Physical Education, Sport and Exercise Sciences);
Emily Keddell (Social and Community Work); Regis Lamberts
(Physiology); Richard Linscott (Psychology); Sunyoung Ma
(Oral Rehabilitation); Peter Mace (Biochemistry); Susan
Mackenzie (Tourism); Alex Macmillan (Preventive and Social
Medicine); Vijay Mallan (Higher Education Development
Centre); Rachael McLean (Preventive and Social Medicine);
Carla Meledandri (Chemistry); Steven Mills (Computer
Science); Hugh Morrison (College of Education); Hilda
Mulligan (Physiotherapy); Garry Nixon (General Practice
and Rural Health); Conor O’Kane (Management); Louise

Parr-Brownlie (Anatomy); Rose Richards (Health Sciences
Divisional Office); Kirsten Robertson (Marketing); James Scott
(Geology); James Ussher (Microbiology and Immunology);
Zach Weber (Philosophy); Lincoln Wood (Management);
Emma Wyeth (Preventive and Social Medicine).
Research associate professors: Chris Baldi (Medicine); Pat
Silcock (Food Science); Debbie Snell (Orthopaedic Surgery and
Musculoskeletal Medicine, UOC); Jo-Ann Stanton (Anatomy);
Michael Tatley (New Zealand Pharmacovigilance Centre).
Clinical associate professor: Sinead Donnelly (Medicine, UOW).
EMERITUS PROFESSORS
The University Council awarded the status of emeritus professor
to the following academics: Professor Judith Bennett (History,
School of Arts); Professor William Harris (Politics, School
of Social Sciences); Professor Richard Morgan (School of
Geography); Professor Ross Notman (College of Education);
Professor Lisa Smith (School of Social Sciences); Professor
Vernon Squire (Deputy Vice-Chancellor, Academic); Professor
Kwok Wing-Lai (College of Education).
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HONORARY DEGREES
The University conferred Honorary Doctor of Laws degrees
on the following recipients: archaeologist Professor Atholl
Anderson; former New Zealand Prime Minister Sir Bill
English; international gender justice campaigner Brigid
Inder; the Honourable Justice Forrest Miller (NZ Court of
Appeal); former president of the World Dental Federation
Dr Clive Ross; businessman Sir Julian Smith; Otago’s first
female medical graduate of Pacific descent Papali’i Dr Viopapa
Annandale-Atherton; and former director of the New Zealand
International Arts Festival Carla van Zon.
Publisher Bridget Williams received an Honorary Doctor
of Literature degree; former New Zealand Surveyor General
William Robertson received an Honorary Doctor of Science
degree; and former chair of ANZ Bank New Zealand Ltd and
Te Papa Tongarewa John Judge received an Honorary Doctor of
Commerce degree.

Companion of the New Zealand Order of Merit: Professor Peter
Crampton (Centre for Hauora Māori, DSM) for services to
education and health sciences.
Officer of the New Zealand Order of Merit: Professor Andre
Van Rij (Department of Surgical Sciences, DSM) for services to
health, particularly vascular surgery.
New Zealand Antarctic Medal: Professor Pat Langhorne
(Department of Physics) for services to Antarctic Science.
OBITUARIES
Associate Professor John Birch (Department of Food Science).
Emeritus Professor Terence Crooks (Higher Education
Development Centre).
Dr Samantha Farrimond (Dunedin School of Medicine,
Department of Psychological Medicine).
Emeritus Professor Peter Holland (Department of Geography).

HONOURS

Emeritus Professor Alan Horsman (Department of English).

A number of staff were recognised with Honours in 2019:

Ms Kaye Saunders (Department of Computer Science).

Dame Companion of the New Zealand Order of Merit: Dr
Susan Bagshaw (Department of Paediatrics, UOC) for services
to youth health.

Mr Jon Wolken (Media Production Unit).
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100,000
100,000 PEOPLE PARTICIPATED IN MORE
THAN 150 EVENTS

2,000

2,000 ATTENDANCES AT ALUMNI EVENTS

200

200 PRINT ARTICLES AND MORE THAN
20 NATIONAL BROADCASTS

22

22 REUNIONS HOSTED
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150 YEARS
OF DARING TO
BE WISE
2019 was the 150th
anniversary of the
establishment of the
University of Otago,
a milestone celebrated
with a year-long
programme of events.
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150 YEARS OF DARING TO BE WISE
IN 1869, an extraordinary leap of faith by a determined group
of settlers with a strong belief in the benefits of education led to
the creation of New Zealand’s first university, the University of
Otago.
In 2019, the University honoured their founding vision by
celebrating the achievements of the past, while looking to the
future and continuing to take up the challenge of the University
motto Sapere Aude – Dare to be Wise. The image chosen for
the anniversary (and the cover of this Annual Report), of the
historic Clocktower reflected in the glass of the state-of-the-art
Centre for Innovation building, illustrates this theme.
Planning for the 150th anniversary year officially began in
2017 with the appointment of a 150th project co-ordinator. A
150th anniversary project operational committee planned the
year’s celebrations, with the 150th anniversary project advisory
committee, chaired by Vice-Chancellor Professor Harlene
Hayne, providing oversight.
As well as celebrating the founding vision and the achievements
and journey of the past 150 years, the anniversary was an
opportunity to look at how this knowledge and experience can
be used to inform the future.
EVENTS FOR A WIDE AUDIENCE
Events were held locally, nationally and globally with the aim
of attracting a wide range of audiences and stakeholders. These
included alumni and friends in New Zealand and around the
world, current and former staff, and students. Honouring
the strong town-and-gown relationship between the city of
Dunedin and the University, many events encouraged Dunedin
residents to come onto campus to join in the celebrations.
Nearly 100,000 people participated in more than 150 events,
many of which were clustered together to give people the
chance to attend a variety of celebrations. Appealing to a broad
range of interests and age groups, events ranged from informal
picnics to official ceremonies with invited dignitaries.
Cultural, sporting and spiritual events were held, some were
student-focused, others for families or staff, and there was a
strong academic programme across all divisions throughout
the year.
The official celebrations at Queen’s Birthday weekend
started with the civic opening of the 150th University of
Otago Exhibition “Dare To Be Wise” at the Otago Museum

by Dunedin Mayor Mr Dave Cull. This was followed on
Saturday by the Academic Street Parade and the Convocation
Ceremony at the Dunedin Town Hall, which was attended by
the Governor-General Her Excellency the Rt Hon. Dame Patsy
Reddy. At the ceremony, the Chancellor Dr Royden Somerville
QC awarded honorary degrees to Sir Bill English, Professor
Atholl Anderson, Papali’i Dr Viopapa Annandale-Atherton
and Dr Brigid Inder.
A salute of blue and gold fireworks lit up the Octagon and
the 150th Anniversary Dinner followed at the Dunedin
Town Hall. Sunday featured an all-faith celebratory service at
Knox Church, college lunches and a spectacular gala concert
“A Celebration of Otago in Words and Music”, featuring
performances from distinguished alumni alongside talented
musicians from the University and Dunedin community.
Commissioned for the concert, Ōwheo was written by poet Sue
Wootton and set to music by Professor Anthony Ritchie. The
weekend wrapped up with the well-attended Cameron Shield
rugby match played at the Oval in brilliant sunshine.
Other highlights included the family-friendly picnic held on
the Clocktower Lawn in February, which drew a large crowd
from the city and has now become an annual fixture. In March,
the planned street parade was cancelled out of respect for
the victims of the Christchurch mosque tragedy. The Pacific
150th anniversary dinner on Saturday was also cancelled. The
University and Compass Catering donated the prepared food
to the emergency centre staff and affected refugees’ families
hosted at the Arai Te Uru Marae. Those attending the Pacific
weekend spent their time instead with friends and colleagues,
joining together to support each other.
April featured the Science Teller Festival, Tally Ho! 3 and a visit
from the Kansai University rugby team, with matches played
against University of Otago and New Zealand Universities’ teams.
Events later in the year included the Anniversary Gold Ball; a
Pacific 150th Koneseti; hosting the UNESCO Play Festival and the
1869 Heritage Festival and Conference; the Clocktower Cushion
Concert featuring performing arts students; and an international
rowing regatta which drew teams from Russia, China and Japan.
In October Ngā Pou Whirinaki featured four events which
celebrated the far-reaching contribution of the University of
Otago’s Māori students, staff and scholars.
Alumni events were integral to the celebrations, with nearly
2,000 alumni attending functions in New Zealand, Australia,
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China, South East Asia, the UK, Samoa, Fiji, the USA and
Canada. A special alumni event was held at Parliament in
Wellington in early March, as well as 150th functions in
Auckland and Christchurch. Around 22 reunions were also
held during the year.
Other events during the year which embraced the anniversary
included 42 academic conferences, concerts by the Dunedin
Symphony Orchestra, a University edition of the Dunedin
Fonebook, and a number of book launches and exhibitions.
EXHIBITIONS AND MORE
The University’s “Dare To Be Wise” exhibition, showcasing
the research and people of Otago, attracted 30,000 people
during the year. “A Garden of Earthly Delights” at the
Hocken Collections drew exhibits from many departments of
the University, and “1869, The Year That Was” at the Special
Collections at the Central Library featured material from
events occurring in New Zealand and around the world in 1869.
A golden anniversary rose Otago University was developed
by Glenavon Roses, and specially produced local 150th Ocho
chocolates and a Central Otago pinot noir produced by Otago
Polytechnic marked the anniversary.
The year also featured a number of special publications, most
notably the social history Otago, 150 Years of New Zealand’s
First University by Dr Alison Clarke. The book, published by
Otago University Press, was the culmination of five years of
research and interviews by Dr Clarke and was well received in
reviews.
Also launched during the year was a history of the Otago
University Students’ Association by former OUSA staff member
Philippa Keaney, titled Audeamus! We Dare!
A special anniversary issue of the Otago Magazine was
published, featuring 150 alumni heroes and heroines, and He
Kitenga 150 showcased current research that stands on the
shoulders of Otago’s research pioneers.
The University Book Shop, Otago Daily Times, OAR FM and
The Breeze supported the anniversary throughout the year.
A series of articles ran each week in the Otago Daily Times and a
special anniversary supplement was published at Queen’s Birthday
weekend. A weekly podcast series “Daring to be Wise” on Oar FM
featured interviews with a wide range of people connected to the

University, and the “Pioneer Podcasts” series was created with the
help of Ngā Taonga Sound and Vision archives.
Media coverage included more than 200 print articles and more
than 20 national broadcasts. The three top TV and radio stories
combined reached nearly one million people and the three top
Facebook posts for the University in June all featured Queen’s
Birthday celebrations, reaching nearly 70,000 people with more
than 12,000 interactions.
ANNIVERSARY FUNDRAISING
Special 150th anniversary fundraising projects were chosen for
the year. These included establishing endowment funds for the
University rowing and debating clubs and supporting the Social
Impact Studio in its student-led social action projects.
The Presbyterian Church, which funded the University’s first
professors, continued its support with the Presbyterian Synod
of Otago and Southland making an endowment of $300,000
towards a new lectureship in Chaplaincy Studies, another of the
University’s special 150th fundraising projects.
Two other 150th projects to receive donations included the
new Performing Arts facility which received $500,000 from
the Otago Community Trust, and the breast cancer exercise
rehabilitation programme Expinkt™ which received $14,000
from the gala concert at Queen’s Birthday.
The New Zealand Doctors’ Orchestra also played in the town
hall as part of the 150th celebrations. Many of the 80 doctors
playing were Otago alumni and the concert donated more than
$7,000 to the local hospice.
As an anniversary gift, Port Otago gifted land to the University
to support the development of its Sustainable Futures
initiative. Also as part of the University’s 150th celebrations,
U3A Dunedin made a donation of $50,000 to the University
to establish a scholarship fund for mature (35 years plus)
researchers.
Distinguished University of Otago alumnus Dr Stanley Paris
and his wife Dr Catherine Patla pledged more than $1 million
to the University to encourage research and advanced practice
initiatives in musculoskeletal and orthopaedic manual therapy
(OMT) at Otago’s School of Physiotherapy.
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From top left: The Anniversary Gold Ball was a glittering town-and-gown success.
The 2019 Capping Sextet, and vocalists Joel Amosa, Kawiti Waetford, Rebecca Ryan and
Anna Leese entertained at the 150th Gala concert.
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From top left: University of Otago Chancellor Dr Royden Somerville QC, Governor-General
Her Excellency the Rt Hon. Dame Patsy Reddy and Vice-Chancellor Professor Harlene Hayne.
The congregation was welcomed to a multi-faith service at Knox Church.
The 150th Convocation Ceremony at Dunedin Town Hall.
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30%

30% INCREASE IN A-RATED STAFF: PBRF

$40m

$40 MILLION FROM HRC

$38.5m

$38.5 MILLION FROM THE ENDEAVOUR FUND

31

31 PROJECTS SUPPORTED BY THE MARSDEN FUND
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EXCELLENCE
IN RESEARCH
The University of
Otago is one of New
Zealand’s largest
and most broadly
capable research
organisations. In 2019
this was confirmed
by outstanding
research outcomes,
success in competitive
funding rounds,
and the national
and international
recognition of
individual researchers.
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EXCELLENCE IN RESEARCH
THE UNIVERSITY OF OTAGO’S FOCUS on excellence was
reaffirmed in the latest Performance-Based Research Fund
(PBRF) Quality Evaluation. The assessment, announced in
April 2019, revealed a 30% increase in the number of A-rated
staff at the University, along with strong increases across the
other research grades. Since the 2012 evaluation, Otago’s
number of A-rated staff has increased from 189 to 248. Overall,
there was a 16% increase in funded staff – up from 1,298 to
1,508. The University’s B- and C-rated researchers increased
10% and 20% respectively, along with a 15% increase in newand-emerging staff.
University of Otago research aims to enhance health, and social
and environmental well-being, a commitment reflected in the
University’s designated Research Themes in which researchers
work collaboratively across disciplines in areas of existing or
potential research strength. Three new themes were approved
in 2019: the Transport Research Network, HeartOtago and
Otago’s Food Waste Technical and Social Innovations Research
Group (Food Waste Innovations).
Otago is actively involved in all 11 of New Zealand’s National
Science Challenges, established to tackle the biggest sciencebased issues facing this country. The second five-year tranche
of funding for these challenges was approved by government
effective from July 2019, providing ongoing opportunities for
Otago researchers to contribute to the health and well-being
of our society, our environment and biological heritage, our
oceans and Antarctica, our resilience to natural disasters and
technological innovation. Projects led by Otago researchers
included investigations into the potential of circulating
tumour DNA for better treatment of New Zealand’s most
prevalent cancers; the use of probiotics to help prevent diabetes;
childhood obesity; ecosystem connectivity; a programme
measuring Antarctic sea-ice growth and decay; and the Ātea
project sharing Māori knowledge and culture in the digital
realm. [See also page 52].
University of Otago, Christchurch researchers played a key role in
global research showing the causes of the eating disorder anorexia
are likely to be metabolic as well as psychological, providing a new
direction in the search for better treatments for this disease. Otago
microbiologists were part of an international project identifying
new processes that control methane production in the stomachs
of sheep, cattle and deer - an important discovery in the quest to
lower global agricultural methane emissions.
Among the many significant research outcomes in 2019,
scientists from the Brain Health Research Centre made a

breakthrough in the understanding of the role of the protein
tumor necrosis factor-alpha in Alzheimer’s disease which may
lead to more effective treatment in the future. The Otago-led
Genomics Aotearoa is developing a catalogue of New Zealand
genomic variation to help address health inequities in this
country. The first New Zealand-wide study of the burden
of Legionnaires’ disease found triple the number of cases
than previously reported, a finding that has international
implications. A study from the Department of Preventive
and Social Medicine revealed the true cost of alcohol on New
Zealand’s workplace productivity – estimated at $1.65 billion
each year. And a team of Otago’s Dodd-Walls Centre scientists
created a novel device that could enable the next generation
of faster, more energy-efficient internet – a micro-resonator
optical frequency comb made from a tiny disc of crystal.
Otago geneticist Professor Neil Gemmell made international
headlines when he released the results of his Loch Ness eDNA
project. While no evidence of a Jurassic-age monster was
found, the project highlighted the potential of eDNA as an
environmental monitoring tool to the world. Otago Global
Health Institute researchers continued their efforts to improve
the management of tuberculosis in Indonesia with new funding
from the e-Asia Joint Research programme and the Health
Research Council of New Zealand (HRC). Researchers also took
part in a new international vaccine research project to help fight
devastating Salmonella infections in sub-Saharan Africa.
Access to world-class facilities is vital for our researchers’
success. In 2019 a metal-free Clean Lab for trace metal research
was opened in the Mellor Laboratories. This provides filtered
air 100,000 times cleaner than outside air and will support
a growing diversity of applications from earth sciences
to archaeology and forensics to climate change, as well as
biomedical research. [See also pages 42–43].
FUNDING
The quality and depth of the University’s research was once again
recognised with success in major contestable funding rounds.
Otago researchers secured $40 million of a total
$81 million awarded nationally by the Health Research Council,
including one grant of almost $5 million to support a five-year
programme aiming to close smoking disparities, particularly for
Māori and Pacific people. A further 30 grants supported projects
ranging from climate change and its impact on people’s health
through to using DNA to help predict who may suffer heart failure.
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University of Otago scientists received their largest ever
allocation from the Government’s Endeavour Fund with a total
of almost $38.5 million, of which $29.5 million was awarded
to three significant programmes – the New Frontiers of
Antiviral Development project, an initiative to empower Māori
communities’ response to climate change, and a project to
develop new antimicrobials. Just under $1 million was awarded
to develop a ryegrass that does not flower in field conditions,
increasing its efficiency as a livestock feed.
Otago researchers received an inaugural Marsden Fund
Council Award of $3 million to investigate genetic
predisposition to metabolic diseases such as diabetes and gout
in Pacific peoples. The Marsden Fund awarded a further
$19 million to 31 Otago projects, including 14 Fast-Start grants,
with projects on subjects including gravitational waves, sleep
loss in children, the psychopathic personality, cancer and
Austronesian colonisation. Seven early-career researchers also
received HRC Emerging Researchers First Grants totalling
$1.7 million, around half of the national allocation. A further 23
researchers were awarded HRC Career Development Awards.
Otago’s expertise in Antarctic science was recognised by new
funding from MBIE’s Antarctic Science Platform, administered
by Antarctic New Zealand. More than 20 Otago researchers
are contributing to four significant projects announced during
2019, including a six-year $10 million project to investigate how
ecosystems in the Ross Sea might respond to climate change.
ACHIEVEMENTS
Committed to providing a supportive environment for research
staff and students, the University celebrates success. The 2019
Distinguished Research Medal – the University’s highest
honour – was presented to Professor Richie Poulton, Director
of the internationally-regarded Dunedin Multidisciplinary
Health and Development Study.
The BEATS (Built Environment and Active Transport to
School) research team, led by Associate Professor Sandra
Mandic (School of Physical Education, Sport and Exercise
Sciences), received the 2019 Research Group Award. The
Rowheath Trust Award and Carl Smith Medal, which recognise
outstanding research by early career staff, have been awarded to
Dr Karl Iremonger (Department of Physiology).
Early Career Awards for Distinction in Research were presented
to Dr Anna Garden (Chemistry); Dr Tim Hore (Anatomy);

Dr Carolina Loch (Oral Sciences, Sir John Walsh Research
Institute); Dr Erin Macaulay (Pathology); Dr Mei Peng (Food
Science); Dr John Shaver (Religion, School of Social Sciences).
Professor Murray Thomson (Dentistry) received the Division of
Health Sciences’ Chaffer Medal for distinguished performance
in health research and neurosurgeon Professor Dirk de Ridder
was awarded the Dean’s Medal.
Other Otago researchers to receive national and international
recognition included:
• Professor David Baxter (School of Physiotherapy) who
received a fellowship from the Chartered Society of
Physiotherapy in the United Kingdom
• Professor Hallie Buckley (Anatomy) who was awarded a
James Cook Research Fellowship from the Royal Society of
New Zealand
• Professor Keith Gordon (Chemistry) and Dr Anne-Marie
Jackson (School of Physical Education, Sport and Exercise
Sciences) who received prestigious annual Royal Society
Te Apārangi Awards. Professor Gordon received the
MacDiarmid Medal and Dr Jackson received the Te Kōpūnui
Māori Research Award
• Otago alumnus Dr Olivia Faull and Dr Damian Scarf
(Psychology) who were awarded Rutherford Discovery
Fellowships from the Royal Society Te Apārangi. Dr
Scarf also received the National Animal Ethics Advisory
Committee’s inaugural Aotearoa New Zealand 3Rs Research
Award
• Associate Professor Julia Horsfield who won a Fulbright New
Zealand Scholarship
• Dr Sharon Pattison (Medicine) who was awarded the Roche
New Zealand Translational Cancer Research Fellowship
• Professor Elaine Reese (Psychology) and Professor Philip
Seddon (Zoology) who were elected as Ngā Ahurei a Te
Apārangi Fellows to the Academy of the Royal Society Te
Apārangi
• The Christchurch Health and Development Study won the
New Zealand Medical Association’s Robinson Award for an
article published in the New Zealand Medical Journal titled
“Childhood Predictors of Adult Adiposity”.
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1%

TOP 1% OF UNIVERSITIES INTERNATIONALLY

18,915

18,915 EQUIVALENT FULL-TIME STUDENTS (EFTS)

200

200 ACADEMIC PROGRAMMES OFFERED

15

15 SUBJECTS IN THE TOP 100 WORLDWIDE
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EXCELLENCE
IN TEACHING
Teaching excellence
is a priority at the
University of Otago.
In 2019 this was
reinforced by success
in key performance
indicators and
international rankings,
and the ongoing
recognition of our
quality programmes.
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2019 Otago Excellence in Teaching Awards were presented to (from left): Dr Anne-Marie Jackson – Kaupapa Māori Teaching Award (School of
Physical Education, Sport and Exercise Sciences); Dr David McMorran (Chemistry); Dr Nicola Beatson (Accountancy and Finance); and Associate
Professor Ben Schonthal (Religion).

EXCELLENCE IN TEACHING
THE UNIVERSITY OF OTAGO again topped the key Tertiary
Education Commission indicators that measure the educational
performance of students at New Zealand universities. Otago
placed first among the country’s eight universities in three
of the four indicators – course completion, qualification
completion and retention of its first-year students.
Otago continued to perform well in international rankings. The
University maintained its position in the 201-250 band of the
influential Times Higher Education World University Rankings
and was ranked 176th in the QS World University rankings
(previously 175th equal), cementing its position in the top 1%
of universities internationally, as one of New Zealand’s top two
universities and one of Australasia’s top 10.
Highlighting the quality of teaching and research across disciplines,
QS also ranked 15 Otago subject areas in the top 100 worldwide,
with two subjects in the top 50: sports-related subjects 20th and
dentistry 34th. QS ranked the Otago Online MBA 13th in the
world, up from 34th in 2018. Otago’s was the only New Zealand
online MBA to be placed in this ranking and ranked second in
Australasia. The Otago MBA programme retained its third place
ranking in the CEO Magazine’s annual Global MBA Rankings.

TEACHING EXCELLENCE
The quality of teaching contributes much to this success and
each year the University recognises teaching excellence with
a range of awards. The 2019 Otago Excellence in Teaching
Awards were presented to Associate Professor Ben Schonthal
(Department of Religion); Dr David McMorran (Department
of Chemistry); and Dr Nicola Beatson (Department of
Accountancy and Finance). Dr Anne-Marie Jackson, (School
of Physical Education, Sport and Exercise Sciences) won the
Kaupapa Māori Teaching Award. Dr McMorran went on to
receive a National Tertiary Teaching Sustained Excellence
Award from Ako Aotearoa.
The University’s Higher Education Development Centre
provides a number of programmes and services to help foster
and encourage research-led teaching excellence. Seventy-nine
workshops were held in 2019 in areas relating to teaching and
learning, postgraduate supervision, research methodology,
educational technology, community engagement, Treaty of
Waitangi education, and tutor and demonstrator support. There
were 2,810 staff and student attendances at the workshops.
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The University of Otago Library is an essential source of information
to enhance teaching, research and learning across the University
community. In 2019 the physical collection contained 1,235,974
books (an increase of 4% from 2018), 199,772 electronic serials (an
increase of 22%) and 1,037,433 e-books (an increase of 9%).
Some 200 undergraduate and postgraduate degree, diploma and
certificate programmes were offered by the University in 2019.
The School of Physical Education, Sport and Exercise Sciences
introduced a new degree structure, with four three-year majors
replacing the previous four-year Bachelor of Physical Education
and Bachelor of Applied Science in Sport Technology degrees.
The new majors are offered for the Bachelor of Science, Bachelor
of Applied Science and Bachelor of Arts degrees, providing more
choice and career-focused qualifications for a quickly evolving
field of study. A revised Health Sciences First Year programme
was also introduced, with a reduction in both course content
and course contact time. The UMAT (Undergraduate Medical
and Health Sciences Admissions Test) was replaced with the
internationally-regarded UCAT (Universal Clinical Aptitude Test)
for admission into Health Sciences professional programmes.
New majors approved for 2020 included a Global Studies major
for the Bachelor of Arts, and an Agricultural Innovation major
within the Applied Science programme which will draw on the
University’s expertise across subjects as diverse as environment,
ecology, technology, business, marketing, bioinformatics and
genetics. A new lectureship in Chaplaincy was announced
following seed funding received from the Presbyterian Synod
of Otago and Southland.
The Division of Humanities moved to a new structure at the start
of 2019. This structure, designed to foster greater connectedness
and collaboration across the division, comprises seven schools:
the Schools of Arts, Performing Arts, Geography, Social
Sciences, the College of Education, the Faculty of Law, and Te
Tumu, School of Māori, Pacific and Indigenous Studies.
ENROLMENTS
2019 saw a small increase in the University’s enrolments overall,
with EFTS (equivalent full-time students) numbers rising by 0.4% to
18,915. This total comprised 18,689 University EFTS and a further
226 EFTS for the University’s Foundation Studies subsidiary.
Within the University total, first-year enrolments were close to flat
and international full-fee enrolments increased for the fourth year
in succession. Enrolments in the University’s Foundation Studies
subsidiary were down overall by 42 EFTS (-15.7%).

While the United States continued to provide the largest
number of Otago’s international students by head count, there
was steady growth in enrolments from China, and increases
from other countries including India and Vietnam.
The proportion of commencing students attracted from outside
the University’s Otago/Southland home catchment increased
slightly to 75.4% (2018: 74.2%), with 85.7% coming from
outside Dunedin. There were 2,187 Māori students enrolled,
representing a record 10.3% of total enrolments (head count)
and a record 12.4% of total domestic EFTS. Pacific enrolments
were also at an all-time high, with 1,058 students, representing
5.0% of total enrolments and 5.4% of total domestic EFTS.
The number of postgraduate students was up by 2.9% over 2018 in
EFTS terms, due to strong demand for both postgraduate taught and
postgraduate research programmes. Total postgraduate enrolments
also increased proportionally to reach 18.7% of the roll.
The Distance Learning suite of programmes continued to
capitalise on particular areas of Otago expertise. There were
offerings from all academic divisions, with active enrolments
of 4,555 students (equating to 2,513 individual students, 988
EFTS) in 424 approved distance papers. The Distance Learning
programmes were predominantly postgraduate, with diploma,
certificate and doctoral students making up approximately 75%
of all distance-enrolled students.
Summer School ran for six weeks from early January to midFebruary offering 56 undergraduate papers from across the
teaching divisions. Four papers were taught outside Dunedin and
10 papers were taught by distance. The School attracted 1,608
students (260.1 EFTS), more than 84% studied one paper, more
than 12% were Māori, 8.3% Pacific and 9.1% were international
students. Over 72% of students were aged between 20 and 24,
reflecting the largely undergraduate cohort in a second-, thirdor fourth-year of study. A pre-Christmas Summer School ran
for five weeks following 2019’s Semester 2 examinations. The 12
papers offered included five distance papers, together achieving a
total of 327 enrolments and 49.1 EFTS.
In the most recent student and graduate opinion surveys, 86.6%
of respondents reported a positive assessment of the quality of
teaching. The University libraries, and information technology
and teaching facilities received positive assessments of 99.3%
and 96.3% respectively. 91.1% of research degree respondents
reported overall satisfaction with the quality of supervision.
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85%

85% OF NEW STUDENTS FROM OUTSIDE DUNEDIN

42,350

42,350 VOLUNTEER HOURS BY 6,000 STUDENTS

677,120

677,120 VISITS TO RECREATION FACILITIES

97.6%

97.6% OF STUDENTS POSITIVE ABOUT
PERSONAL SAFETY ON CAMPUS
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OUTSTANDING
STUDENT
EXPERIENCES
Academic excellence
together with sporting,
cultural and social
enrichment characterise
the University of Otago
student experience.
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OUTSTANDING STUDENT EXPERIENCES
THE OTAGO EXPERIENCE has its roots in the University’s
distinctive residential lifestyle which, for most students, begins
at one of the 15 residential colleges located around campus.
In 2019, these colleges were filled to capacity, accommodating
more than 3,500 students, with a further 1,133 students housed
in University-owned flats over two semesters.
With more than 85% of new students coming to the University
from outside Dunedin, the University takes seriously its
responsibility to provide quality pastoral care. At the start of
the academic year the Vice-Chancellor hosted two information
sessions for new students and their parents – one for students
living locally and another for those living in residential colleges
– and all students were formally welcomed at the annual
Academic Convocation ceremony.
The Locals Programme – which provides support, social and
volunteering opportunities for first-year students living locally
at home, flatting or boarding – changed its name to the Locals
Collegiate Community to better reflect the collegiate nature
of the whole first-year Otago experience and the contribution
local students make to this community. Now every first-year
undergraduate student with a non-college semester address is
automatically a member of the Locals community.
SUPPORT SERVICES
Academic support for all students is a priority at Otago. The
academic orientation programme was offered to all first-year
students with 1,942 attending a UNIO101 University Transition
and Success presentation which highlights the differences
between school and university study. This is also available
online.
Support for first-year students was also available through
the University’s scholarships offerings, with around 1,000
scholarships taken up in 2019.
The University’s Higher Education Development Centre
(HEDC) provides free and confidential academic development
services to undergraduate and postgraduate students,
including workshops, one-to-one consultations, peer learning
programmes and online resources. In 2019, 1,071 students
accessed one-to-one consultations/tutoring to support them in
their studies. Peer Assisted Study Sessions (PASS) enable firstyear students to develop transferable study skills and regular
revision practice with the help of peers. In 2019, PASS was
offered in 34 papers with 9,024 student contact hours.

In 2019 a Student Success Advisory Group was established to
have overview of student success at the University of Otago
and to support the investigation and implementation of
institutional change that supports student success. The Office of
Student Success undertook a project to support students placed
on Academic Warning under the Academic Progress Policy. All
undergraduate students on Academic Warning were contacted,
offered support and referred to relevant services across the
University.
The Student Experience unit within the Division of Shared
Services provides administrative support for students. In 2019 the
student development team completed more than 4,000 one-on-one
course advice appointments and around 3,000 drop-in sessions.
Other support services offered for students include Student
Health, Recreation Services, Disability Information & Support,
Te Huka Mātauraka (the Māori Centre) and the Pacific
Islands Centre (see pages 72–74). Encouraging students to live
healthy sustainable lives is a growing focus: in 2019 50,427
appointments were made for Student Health services and
there were 677,120 visits to the University’s recreation facilities
(primarily Unipol gym). A Health Yourself campaign was
launched to improve student – and staff – health and well-being
through increasing awareness and understanding of what a
healthy lifestyle looks like.
In 2019 Otago’s Career Development Centre was voted – for
the second successive year – the best university careers service
by the New Zealand Association of Graduate Employers.
The award was based on results from a survey of graduate
recruitment employers and graduates who had recently
secured jobs. During the year the centre provided 2,610 oneon-one appointments and hosted 61 employer presentations,
four careers fairs, and 302 in-house careers workshops and
seminars. A new alumni-student mentoring programme, Otago
MentorMatch, was well received with more than 180 mentors
on board by the end of 2019. The semester-long programme
comprises three sessions in which students and mentors meet to
set goals, seek advice and learn from experienced professionals.
In recent years the University has introduced a number of
initiatives to reduce anti-social behaviour and to help keep
students safe. These include the Code of Student Conduct, the
24/7 Campus Watch service and Te Whare Tāwharau – a sexual
violence support and prevention drop-in centre. Additionally,
a Sexual Misconduct Policy was introduced in May 2019, and
programmes about consent and reporting sexual assault offered
in residential colleges were well attended.
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VOLUNTEERING
Harnessing student altruism is another important focus of
the Otago experience. The Social Impact Studio (formerly
University Volunteer Centre) challenges students to give back
to their community while developing effective leadership and
employability skills. Its work is underpinned by the United
Nations’ Sustainable Development Goals and initiatives include
UniCrew Volunteers, Aspire Programme, Reading Oasis,
Leadership Awards, Silverline and Global Citizenship. In 2019,
the studio worked with 65 community partners and added
827 new student registrations. Over the year more than 42,350
volunteer hours were undertaken by around 6,000 students. In
O-Week alone 1,620 students dedicated 5,735 hours of work to
33 local community organisations.
The student-led Silverline mental health initiative was the joint
winner of the Ministry of Health Youth Health Volunteer Team
Award, was invited to showcase at a Ministry of Health Forum
and was awarded $52,000 from the Ministry of Education
to enhance international student well-being. More than 500
students attended the annual Silverline Festival. The inaugural
University Mental Health Week and #ItsNotAwkwardBro
men’s mental health campaign were also well received. To raise
awareness about mental health issues, Law and Politics student
Hannah Morgan completed a swim across Foveaux Strait raising
more than $21,000, and Commerce student Aidan Barbour-Ryan
completed a personal challenge to run every day for a year.
Other highlights included the Student Volunteer Fair attended
by 23 organisations; two “Good Deed and Feed” events; and a
Sinclair Wetlands planting day. For their efforts UniCrew won
the Keep Dunedin Beautiful Taylor Community Pride Shield
for 2019. The Otago Student Relay for Life raised more than
$107,000 for the Cancer Society Otago and Southland Division.
In the latest graduate opinion survey, 52.1% of respondents indicated
they had undertaken volunteer work while studying at Otago.
STUDENT ACHIEVEMENT
Otago students excelled across a wide spectrum of activities.
Ashleigh Shipton (Medicine and Surgery) received the 2018
Prince of Wales Prize; Kate Tilson (History) was awarded a
Harding Distinguished Postgraduate Scholarship to attend
Cambridge University; and Hansaka Ranaweera and Clara
Sinclair were winner and runner-up respectively in the E.C.
Adams Memorial Prize in Land Law.

Lachie Scharsbrook (Paleogenetics), Anna Clark (Genetics)
and Madeleine Whittaker (Physics and Ecology) were named
Blake Department of Conservation Ambassadors. Rachel
Worthington (Oceanography and Geology) was named a Blake
Antarctica New Zealand / GNS Ambassador.
Nathaniel Otley (Music) received the New Zealand Symphony
Orchestra’s Young Composers Award; and Arina Aizal
(Psychology and Gender Studies) and Elora Chang (Software
Engineering and Information Science) were named in the
Asia New Zealand Foundation’s 25 to Watch in the education,
science and research category.
Six Otago students (out of a total of 15 nationally) were selected
for the Prime Minister’s Scholarship for Asia: Danika Hotham
(Human Geography), Madison Seymour (Human Geography),
Adam Stachurski (Finance and Economics), Finella O’Leary
(Neuroscience), Joe Garry (Law and Economics) and Tessa
Aitken (Accounting and Chinese).
Winners in the Otago University Students’ Association’s Blues
and Golds Awards included: Lucy Matehaere (Māori Sports
Person of the Year); Matthew Clough (Sports Man of the Year);
Megan-Li Smith (Sports Woman of the Year); Lucy Aitken
and Annie Grimes (Outstanding Member of the Dunedin
Community Award for leading fundraising activities for the
Dunedin Women’s Refuge); and Hannah Morgan (Outstanding
Member of the University Community).
The Otago University Rowing Club had another successful
year, coming first in both the New Zealand University Rowing
Championships and the international regatta hosted as part of
the University’s 150th celebrations. The men’s eight also won
gold and silver at the International Famous Universities Rowing
Regatta Series in Nanchang, China.
The Otago University Debating Society hosted and won the annual
Joynt Scroll National Debating Tournament; the men’s basketball
team won the national tertiary championship for the second
consecutive year; the University A and women’s rugby teams again
won their respective Dunedin club titles; and the men’s premier
football team was promoted to the Southern Football League.
In the annual student opinion survey 94.5% of survey
respondents gave a positive assessment of sport and recreation
facilities, 97.2% a positive assessment of administrative and
support services, 97.6% a positive assessment of personal safety
on campus, and 97.4% of residential college respondents gave a
positive assessment of their college.
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8,000m

2

8,000M2 DENTAL CLINICAL SERVICES BUILDING OPENED

$90m

$90 MILLION REBUILD OF TE RANGI HIROA
RESIDENTIAL COLLEGE ANNOUNCED

$1.2m

NEW $1.2 MILLION PROGRAMME TO REDUCE
ENERGY USE AND EMISSIONS

97.7%

97.7% OF STUDENTS POSITIVE ABOUT
THE CAMPUS ENVIRONMENT

41

OUTSTANDING
CAMPUS
ENVIRONMENTS
The University of Otago is
internationally recognised
for its exceptional campus
environments, with
sustainability and a vision
for excellence as the
principles against which
all campus developments
are measured.
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OUTSTANDING CAMPUS ENVIRONMENTS
IN RECENT YEARS the University has undertaken a
significant capital development programme – one of the biggest
in its 150-year history – and in 2019 a number of projects were
completed or nearing an end.
The Faculty of Dentistry’s new 8,000m2 clinical services building
in Dunedin was officially opened in June. Considered one of
the most technologically advanced dental school facilities in the
world, it houses hospital-level patient-treatment services including
surgical facilities, specialty and teaching clinics, a primary care
unit, radiography, paediatric dentistry and orthodontics. The
building is equipped with 214 new patient chairs – 61 more than
previously – and state-of-the-art technology throughout. The next
phase of the project – the refurbishment of the existing Walsh
building and construction of a new 1,800m2 atrium linking the
two buildings – is well underway.
The Southland Learning and Research Centre – a $1.5 million
health sciences study hub at Southland Hospital, developed
in partnership with the Southern District Health Board – was
officially opened in August. Other projects completed included
the final stages of a substantial Sciences precinct project,
new facilities for the School of Pharmacy, and an $11 million
redevelopment of Hayward College.
Work continued on the $28 million dental teaching facility
and patient treatment facility in South Auckland, scheduled
for completion for the start of the 2020 academic year. The
two-storey, 32-chair building is being built on land owned
by the Counties Manukau District Health Board on Great
South Road. The new facility will help meet local health
needs as well as providing students with wide-ranging
learning opportunities, and is being developed with the
support of a $10 million gift from New Zealand businessman
and philanthropist Mr Graeme Hart and his family. Work
also continued on the $50 million research support facility
on Dunedin’s Great King Street. Designed to meet the
most stringent animal welfare regulations and health and
safety requirements, this facility will help future-proof the
University’s status as a leading scientific institution.
The $26 million music, theatre and performing arts facility was
also progressed. This project comprises the construction of a new
building beside the Robertson Library in Union Street East, as well
as refurbishing the music suite, teaching wing and tower block
at the neighbouring University of Otago College of Education.

Features include purpose-built recording studios, flexible teaching
spaces and communal areas that will provide opportunities for
academic, commercial and community collaborations.
A Clocktower refurbishment project was undertaken
throughout the year, the first interior refurbishment of this
historic building in more than a decade. It includes the
replacement of carpets, painting, lighting and technology
upgrades, and the re-organisation of spaces to better
accommodate existing and additional occupants. With a
theme of Pacific navigation, the interior design respects the
University’s past and cultural heritage, referencing the journeys
that have gone before and those to be faced in the future.
NEW DEVELOPMENTS
Plans to rebuild Te Rangi Hiroa Residential College were
announced during the year. The new $90 million, 450-bed
facility will be built on University-owned land on the corner
of Albany and Forth Streets, and will replace the existing
125-bed Te Rangi Hiroa College – named after distinguished
Otago alumnus Te Rangi Hiroa (Sir Peter Buck). Expected
to be operational for the 2023 academic year, it will meet
the demands of a predicted increase in first-year enrolments
and comply with NZ Green Building Council 5-star Green
Star criteria. The new college will comprise seven levels
over four wings and will include professional college staff
accommodation, reception and offices, dining hall and kitchen,
and multifunctional communal spaces.
The University also announced its intention to develop an
academic retreat – gifted the name Hākitekura by Ngāi Tahu –
at Woolshed Bay near Queenstown. The four-hectare lakefront
property near Jack’s Point was donated to the University of
Otago’s Foundation Trust by the Jardine family in December
2016. The existing homestead on the site will be redeveloped
and a new 60-seat lecture theatre constructed to create a linked
conference and seminar facility. Lakeside accommodation
units with 16 self-contained rooms will complete the complex.
A 5-star Green Star design will be targeted for the seminar
buildings and a Homestar 8 rating for the accommodation to
align with the University’s sustainability values. The project has
a construction value of around $12 million and is expected to
be completed by December 2021.
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A new 450-bed Te Rangi Hiroa Residential College is to be built on the corner of Forth and Albany Streets.

A state-of-the-art building is planned to expand the
Christchurch campus. Located on Oxford Terrace, the
building will enable growth and provide new opportunities
for collaboration with partners in the Christchurch Health
Precinct. This will be the biggest construction project the
University has undertaken. The six-storey building will house
much of the health campus’ research and clinical facilities,
and some teaching facilities. When this is completed, the
University will refurbish the existing building next to
Christchurch Hospital to be used primarily for teaching and
clinical research projects.
AWARDS
The quality, sophistication and innovation of the University’s
capital development projects were recognised with awards
during 2019. Recent redevelopments of the St David ll
building and the Mellor Laboratories (previously the Science l
building) jointly won the education category of the Southern
Architectural Awards, as well as Resene Colour Awards. The
Mellor Laboratories project also received a merit award at the
Property Council of New Zealand Awards.
SUSTAINABILITY
A number of key initiatives were announced in 2019 as the
Sustainability Framework 2017-2021 becomes integrated

across all University activities. An innovative waste
management contract was introduced in March, marking a
significant step towards meeting the target of halving waste
to landfill by 2021 (measured against a 2012 baseline). The
contract included the addition of a food waste processor at the
Dunedin campus, electric collection vehicles and establishing
an annual scholarship for waste minimisation initiatives.
A $1.2 million programme to significantly reduce energy
use, greenhouse gas emissions and costs was announced
in September. By improving the way energy is measured
and controlled, it is estimated energy use University-wide
will be reduced by 16% within five years and the cost of the
programme is expected to be recouped in savings in four to
five years. Greenhouse gas emissions are also expected to be
reduced by 2,600 tonnes of CO2-e (carbon dioxide equivalent).
The transition from coal to renewable wood chip fuel for the
University’s heating requirements continued during 2019,
further reducing greenhouse gas emissions.
Initiatives were also introduced to encourage sustainability
at the individual level. A recycling system for staff offices was
rolled out throughout the year; a Green Impact programme
was introduced to encourage teams of staff and students in
their day-to-day sustainability efforts; and all University cafés
made the decision to no longer provide single-use cups.
In the latest Student Opinion Survey 97.7% of students gave a
positive assessment of the general campus environment.

44

UNIVERSITY OF OTAGO ANNUAL REPORT 2019

$1b & $2b
CONTRIBUTION TO THE DUNEDIN ECONOMY
EXCEEDS $1 BILLION AND NATIONALLY $2 BILLION

2,187 & 1,058

MĀORI AND PACIFIC ENROLMENTS AT
ALL-TIME HIGHS: 2,187 AND 1,058 RESPECTIVELY

15,445

15,445 ATTENDANCES AT NZMSC PROGRAMMES

90.2%

90.2% OF ACADEMIC STAFF DEDICATED
TIME TO COMMUNITY SERVICE
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COMMITMENT
AS A LOCAL,
NATIONAL AND
GLOBAL CITIZEN
The University
is committed to
local, national
and international
betterment through its
research, community
service activities,
economic impacts,
commitment to the
arts and its ongoing
support of groups
under-represented in
university study.
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COMMITMENT AS A LOCAL,
NATIONAL AND GLOBAL CITIZEN
AS HIGHLIGHTED ELSEWHERE in this report (see pages
30–31 and 52), University of Otago researchers work to
address questions of national and international importance,
seeking answers to the challenges we will face in a rapidly
changing world. Otago researchers collaborate nationally and
internationally, are actively involved in all 11 National Science
Challenges, and have been successful in attracting support for
their work in major contestable funding rounds.
University staff and students also apply their skills to
community-based initiatives. In a joint venture between the
Otago’s School of Pharmacy and the Southern District Health
Board a new Pharmacy outpatient clinic was officially opened
in Dunedin in March. The clinic is believed to be the first of its
kind in Australasia and is designed to help patients to manage
their medical regimes.
A Dementia Prevention Research Clinic was opened in
Christchurch in July, the third in a national network of clinics
established by Brain Research New Zealand – Rangahau
Roro Aotearoa, a Centre of Research Excellence co-hosted by
Otago. This will provide neuropsychological, neurological and
neurobiological assessments to the local community. A new
School of Physiotherapy clinic was opened in Christchurch
to offer cost-effective physiotherapy services to the public,
provided by senior clinicians or supervised physiotherapy
students in their final year of training.
A six-week programme of free Sunday dental clinics was offered
at the Dental School for low socio-economic patients. Around
60 patients were treated, receiving dental care estimated to
cost $70,000 in private practice. The clinics were supported by
fundraising activities. The Faculty of Dentistry also gifted eight
dental chairs to the Samoan Ministry of Health to be used in
dental clinics in Upolu and Savaii.
Otago joined the national “Give Nothing to Racism” campaign,
led by the Human Rights Commission, aimed at raising
awareness and encouraging people to stop racism of all kinds.

Chaplaincy services at the University were expanded to include
two part-time Muslim chaplains. They offer pastoral care and
spiritual support particularly to Muslim staff and students, and
help with chaplaincy-organised educational events to promote
greater understanding of Islam and all religions.
The University signed a memorandum of understanding with
Dunedin Civil Defence Emergency Management. In the event
of an emergency the University will provide relief facilities
such as food and shelter to staff, students and members of the
local community if needed, as well as providing staff who have
been trained in emergency operation to assist in the Dunedin
Emergency Operations Centre.
COMMUNITY SERVICE AND OUTREACH
A culture of community service and volunteering is wellembedded across the University and in March 2019 the
University Volunteer Centre was rebranded as the Social
Impact Studio, a hub for University of Otago students, staff
and the community to work together to design and implement
projects that benefit society and the environment (see also
page 39). In a survey of academic staff, 90.2% of respondents
had dedicated time to community service and, on average,
this comprised 8.5% of their time. The types of service
undertaken included serving on government advisory boards
and committees (23.0%); providing services to the public sector
(59.8%); giving lectures, talks or presentations to non-university
groups (75.4%); holding a post in an organisation or association
relevant to their area of expertise (65.6%); editing or serving on
the editorial boards of publications (56.6%); and contributing to
community projects (45.9%).
The contributions of a number of staff were recognised with
2019 New Zealand Honours (see page 20) and others were
acknowledged nationally and internationally within their own
fields of endeavour, including:
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• Founder of the Uni Vol programme Professor Tony Binns
(Geography) who was made a life member of Volunteer
Service Abroad
• Professor Paul Brunton (Pro-Vice Chancellor, Health
Sciences) who received fellowships from the International
College of Dentists, the Pierre Fauchard Academy and the
American College of Dentists
• Geology Professor Ewan Fordyce who received the Riversleigh
Medal from the Australian-based Riversleigh Society for
promoting understanding of Australian prehistory
• Professor Andrew Geddes (Law) who received the 2019
Critic and Conscience of Society Award from the Gama
Foundation, for providing independent commentary on
issues affecting New Zealanders
• Professor David Murdoch (Dean, UOC) who was made
a Fellow of the American Academy of Microbiology,
recognising his achievements as an expert and world leader
in respiratory infections
• Marine Science Professor Abby Smith who received the 2019
Miriam Dell Award for Excellence in Science Mentoring
from the Association for Women in the Sciences.
The University has a well-established community outreach
programme. The New Zealand Marine Studies Centre (NZMSC)
fosters understanding and conservation of New Zealand’s
marine environment through education and community
engagement. In 2019, more than 15,445 people took part in
NZMSC programmes. They included 4,742 school students and
teachers from the lower South Island who attended curriculumlinked programmes through the centre and a further 3,719 who
attended outreach programmes in the Nelson/Marlborough/
Tasman region; 3,837 participants in the Aquavan programme;
and a further 3,151 interest groups and families who took part in
other marine experiences offered by the centre.

2019 marked the 30th anniversary of Hands-On at Otago
(formerly Hands-On Science) with around 400 Year-12 and
-13 students spending a week at Otago to experience a taste of
student life. The programme has grown significantly from its
first year when 139 students attended the inaugural event.
Two Science Wānanga were held in 2019. The three-day
experiences for Māori secondary school students were held at
Onetahua Marae (Golden Bay) and Hauiti Marae (Tolaga Bay),
attended by 49 and 69 participants respectively.
Sixty-four students from 47 rural/provincial and/or lower decile
schools from across New Zealand took part in the 2019 Science
Academy (OUASSA), attending two one-week camps. Five students
identified as Pacific and 10 as Māori. The camps were supplemented
with a series of on-line tutorials to help prepare the students for
their NCEA exams. Two four-day teacher professional development
workshops were attended by 16 and 21 teachers respectively.
The University is committed to encouraging groups underrepresented in tertiary study, particularly Māori and Pacific
students. Enrolments for both of these groups were at all-time
highs of 2,187 and 1,058 students respectively. In the Tertiary
Education Commission’s latest performance indicators, Otago
ranked first for Māori and Pacific Island student qualification
completions, first for the retention of Māori students, second
for the retention of Pacific Island students, and second for both
Māori and Pacific student course completion.
A week-long Ngā Pou Whirinaki in October celebrated the
contribution of Otago’s Māori students, staff and scholars. It
featured Te Takarangi Pūkorero, a chaired conversation about
the revitalisation of te reo Māori; the Te Takarangi ki Ōtākou
exhibition, based on the curation of 150 Māori-authored
non-fiction books spanning 202 years of publication; the Hui
Poutama research symposium celebrating Māori academic
achievement; and the 30th anniversary of Te Huka Mātauraka
(the Māori Centre) which supports Māori students to succeed
using a kaupapa Māori approach.
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A new Pacific Office was opened at the University of Otago,
Wellington in August, acknowledging the strong Pacific
presence at the Wellington campus, and the University’s
commitment to training Pacific health professionals to meet the
health needs of diverse Pacific communities in New Zealand
and the Pacific. The Pacific Academic Staff Caucus (PASC) held
its inaugural symposium in 2019 to discuss the place and future
of Pacific research at Otago and issues that impact staff.
[For more information on Māori and Pacific development,
please see pages 68–69 and 72–74.]
CONTRIBUTION TO ECONOMY AND THE ARTS
The University’s contribution to the local and national
economy continued to grow. The latest Economic Impact
Report estimated that the total value added by the University
to the Dunedin economy in the previous 12 months exceeded
$1 billion, with the total flow-on economic impact nationally
at just over $2 billion. It was also estimated that University
directly and indirectly supported 16,583 jobs in Dunedin, with
a further 832 in Christchurch and 751 in Wellington.
Otago also makes a significant contribution to the community
through its commitment to the arts. The annual arts fellowships,
in particular, demonstrate the University’s support of creative
artists and aim to help the public engage with original work
created on our campus and in our city. The 2019 fellows were:
Antonio Ssebuuma (Caroline Plummer Fellow in Community
Dance), Emily Duncan (Robert Burns Fellow), Imogen Taylor
(Frances Hodgkins Fellow), Fifi Colston (University of Otago
College of Education / Creative New Zealand Children’s Writer
in Residence), and Dylan Lardelli (Mozart Fellow).

Support continued for the University of Otago Sheilah Winn
Shakespeare Festival, held in conjunction with the Shakespeare
Globe Centre New Zealand. Each year 24 regional festivals
are staged around New Zealand, involving more than 5,000
secondary students vying for a place at the National Festival
held in Wellington at Queen’s Birthday weekend.
The Hocken Collections is one of the foremost research libraries
in New Zealand, with collections comprising 1,141,358 pictures
and photographs and 10,518 linear metres of archives. In 2019,
6,842 researchers visited Hocken in person or made enquiries
at a distance. The Hocken received its seventh inscription on
the UNESCO Memory of the World New Zealand Register for
the papers of influential University of Otago nutritionist Dr
Muriel Bell.
Four exhibitions were held in the Hocken Gallery during
2019: “Hand in Hand: Photographers and Painters Alike”, a
tribute to Frances Hodgkins marking the centenary of her
birth; “In an orange my mother was eating” by 2018 Frances
Hodgkins fellow Louise Menzies; “A Garden of Earthly
Delights” that attracted over 4,000 visitors; and “Tuia, Southern
Encounters” marking the 250th anniversary of land-based
encounters between Māori and Europeans. “Toot floor” by 2017
Frances Hodgkins Fellow Campbell Patterson toured to Pah
Homestead. The Hocken Collections contributed significantly
to the “Dare to be Wise” 150th anniversary exhibition at Otago
Museum, as well as other exhibitions in New Zealand and
internationally with almost 100 items lent.
Four exhibitions were mounted in the Library’s Special
Collections, including a celebratory display “1869: The Year
That Was”.
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302

302 INSTITUTIONAL PARTNERS

MATARIKI NETWORK ACTIVITIES CONTINUE TO GROW

595

595 CONTINUING EDUCATION EVENTS, LECTURES,
CONFERENCES, PERFORMANCES HOSTED

116,000

CONTACT MAINTAINED WITH 116,000 ALUMNI
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STRONG
EXTERNAL
ENGAGEMENT
In 2019 the University
of Otago continued
to build strong
relationships with
academic, political,
business and alumni
groups, at home and
abroad. Otago staff
secured roles on
important health and
research bodies, and a
number of significant
collaborative
opportunities were
pursued.
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STRONG EXTERNAL ENGAGEMENT
IN 2019 FOUR OTAGO CANCER RESEARCH GROUPS
aligned with researchers from Massey University and Victoria
University of Wellington to form the Cancer Society Research
Collaboration (CSRC) which was awarded a $2 million grant by
the Cancer Society to help fight this leading cause of death in
New Zealand. The Director of one of these groups – the Cancer
and Chronic Conditions (C3) Research Group – Professor
Diana Sarfati was named interim chief executive of the new
Cancer Control Agency, established by the government as part
of its Cancer Action Plan.
Three Otago academics were invited to join the Prime
Minister’s Scientific Advisors Expert Committee on cannabis
law reform in the lead up to the referendum on the legalisation
of cannabis in 2020: Associate Professor Joseph Boden
(Psychological Medicine, UOC), Professor Michelle Glass
(Pharmacology and Toxicology) and Professor Doug Sellman
(National Addiction Centre, UOC).
Associate Professor Suzanne Pitama, Director of the
Christchurch-based Māori/Indigenous Health Institute
(MIHI), was appointed as the first chair of the Australian
Medical Council’s (AMC) Aboriginal, Torres Strait Islander
and Māori Committee. Associate Professor of Microbiology
and Immunology Roslyn Kemp was elected Secretary General
for the International Union of Immunological Societies, and
Associate Professor Rob Aitken (Marketing) was appointed to
the board of Consumer NZ.

The Department of Accounting and Finance joined the Global
Research Alliance for Sustainable Finance and Investment
(GRASFI), a new international network of 18 universities
established to promote multidisciplinary research in this emerging
field, with the aim of aligning the financial system with global
environmental sustainability.
Activities continued to grow within the Matariki Network of
Universities (MNU) of which Otago is a founding partner.
An Otago delegation attended a week-long MNU Global
Citizenship Forum in July, hosted by Durham University,
where they presented on Otago’s initiatives in support of
student well-being. Later in the year Otago hosted the annual
Matariki Lecture, “Imperial emotions: Empathy, Politics
and Global Networks”, delivered by Professor Jane Lydon
(University of Western Australia), and the MNU manager
visited the Dunedin campus. Such visits strengthen our global
connections and provide an opportunity to develop new
collaborations and other projects across the network.
The University is a member of the CAPES (Centres of Asia
Pacific Excellence) consortium established by government in
2017 to help New Zealand businesses, schools, communities
and students gain a better understanding of the culture,
languages and business opportunities in key countries of
the Asia-Pacific region. Activities in 2019 included ongoing
research within the Department of Tourism on cultural
acumen training for the tourism industry and hosting four
Mayan academics. Students took part in cultural and business
initiatives delivered here in New Zealand and overseas.
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NEW AGREEMENTS
A number of new agreements were signed in 2019. In March a
memorandum of understanding (MoU) was signed between
Otago and Vietnam National University (VNU), forming the
basis for the development of further agreements and future
academic exchanges. A MoU with China’s Jinan University
formalised a working relationship between researchers at
the two institutions, with the hope that this will widen the
relationship and provide new opportunities for infectious
disease research. MoUs were also signed with Nanjing Medical
University, China; Sunway College and MSAHA University,
Malaysia; the University of West England; Ho Chi Minh City
University, Vietnam; and Ruhr University, Germany. Thirty
student exchange agreements and MoUs were renewed with
existing partners. This brings the university’s number of
institutional partners to 302.
The University is collaborating with Otago Polytechnic and
Central Otago Health Services Limited to help improve rural
health care in New Zealand. A memorandum of understanding
was signed in December to establish a virtual health centre
focusing on rural health care practice, service, education
and research. While beginning with Otago-based partners,
this reflects the University’s commitment to embed health
professional education in rural communities and may become a
model for engagement with other rural communities.
As recorded in the 2018 Annual Report, the University of Otago
is collaborating with various groups including the Dunedin
City Council, Otago Polytechnic, the Southern DHB, Ngāi

Tahu, and key players in the local digital and gaming industry
in a project to host a Centre of Digital Excellence (CODE) in
Dunedin. In October 2019, it was announced that this will
receive $10 million in funding from the Provincial Growth
Fund. A position for a visiting academic leader in computer
game development will be established by the University,
allowing experts who span the academic/industry interface
to spend time here to contribute to teaching, research and
industry engagement. The University will also contribute by
expanding the courses and programmes relating to computer
game development.
CONFERENCES, SYMPOSIA, VISITORS
The University’s sesquicentennial provided year-long
opportunities to engage with multiple audiences locally,
nationally and internationally (see pages 22–27). In addition,
some 595 continuing education events were held, including
123 lectures, 307 seminars, 22 Inaugural Professorial Lectures,
46 short courses, 26 symposiums, 10 conferences and 41
performances were given.
The Winter Symposium Programme was again hosted in
Wellington, Invercargill, Queenstown, Christchurch and
Auckland on subjects including the use of social media, the
legalisation of cannabis, New Zealand’s health and disability
system, civil justice and climate change.
The University of Otago, Wellington’s 23rd annual Public
Health Summer School attracted more that 1,000 attendees.
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Thirty courses were offered including large symposia on
cannabis and other drug policy challenges, and child wellbeing in Aotearoa New Zealand. A particular highlight
was the Southern Hemisphere launch of the World Health
Organization’s new Housing and Health guidelines. Speakers
included the Minister for Climate Change, the Hon. James
Shaw, and Otago’s Professor Philippa Howden-Chapman who is
chair of the WHO Housing and Health Guideline Development
working group.

Columbia, Canada) was the Harraways 1867 Visiting Professor;
distinguished alumna Professor Helen Heslop (Baylor College
of Medicine, Houston) was the John Borrie Professorial Fellow;
and Professor Alison Phipps (UNESCO Chair of Refugee
Integration through Languages and the Arts, University of
Glasgow) was the De Carle Distinguished Lecturer for 2019.

The Department of Tourism held its inaugural Tourism Policy
School in Queenstown in March, focusing on the impact, value
and sustainability of tourism. This brought together expertise
from government, industry, business and academia to discuss
and debate the challenges facing the tourism industry.

The University is committed to fostering long-lasting, mutually
beneficial relationships with alumni and friends, and maintains
contact with more than 116,000 people living in New Zealand and
around the world via face-to-face meetings, and electronic and
print communications, including the biannual Otago Magazine.

The University participated in International Brain Awareness
Week, a global campaign to raise public awareness of the
progress and benefits of brain research. Events in Dunedin
were a collaboration between the Neurological Foundation of
New Zealand, Otago Museum, the University of Otago’s Brain
Health Research Centre, Collaboration for Ageing Research
Excellence (CARE) and Brain Research New Zealand.

The University’s 150th celebrations provided a focus for alumni
events and the Development and Alumni Relations Office (DARO)
is fortunate to have strong relationships with its alumni networks
and boards who voluntarily organise events to connect alumni.

More than 60 New Zealand and Chinese health scientists
gathered at a forum hosted by the New Zealand-China NonCommunicable Disease Research Collaboration Centre led
by Otago’s Professor Jim Mann. The aim was to further grow
research relationships between the two countries.
Otago’s 54th Foreign Policy School addressed the topic
Economic Policy in a 21st Century World: Challenges and
Opportunities. Attended by more than 160 people, it attracted
an international team of high-profile scholars and policy
practitioners, with New Zealand’s Deputy Prime Minister
and Minister of Foreign Affairs, the Rt Hon. Winston Peters,
giving the keynote address. The 1869 Conference and Heritage
Festival was held in September, reflecting on a historical
moment across all fields of human endeavour in the humanities
and sciences. The conference was hosted by Otago’s Centre for
Research on Colonial Culture and the Australasian Victorian
Studies Association, and was held in conjunction with the city’s
Heritage Festival.
The 2019 Open Peace Lecture was delivered in September by
Al Noor Mosque Imam Gamal Fouda, who was addressing
worshippers on 15 March 2019 when a gunman entered the
mosque on Deans Avenue in Christchurch. Other distinguished
guests hosted on the University’s campuses included five
members of the United States Senate who visited in April to
learn about Otago research of interest to both New Zealand and
the United States. World-renowned expert in food structure
and health relations Professor Ricky Yada (University of British

ALUMNI RELATIONS

In 2019 these events included a dinner at the House of Commons
in London organised by the United Kingdom Trust Board, a
celebratory dinner in Apia arranged by La O Samoa Board, 150th
dinner organised by the Melbourne Network, a gala event in
Auckland championed by our Auckland network, and a special
evening function at the New Zealand Embassy in Washington DC
hosted by the Board of the Alumni of the University of Otago in
America (AUOA). In addition there were numerous other events
supported by alumni, bringing the total to 45 alumni events held
in various locations in New Zealand and across the world.
DARO also assisted with the organisation of over 20 alumni
reunions in Dunedin and in other cities in New Zealand. These
reunions included reunions of the OUSA executive held during
the Queen’s Birthday weekend celebrations, and of UniCol which
celebrated its 50th anniversary at the end of November.
Digital platforms provided another avenue for DARO to maintain
connections with alumni, including the targeted “What’s On for
Alumni” emails and the quarterly @Otago eNewsletter. Social
media provided further opportunities for alumni to communicate
with each other and to engage directly with the University. During
2019 University of Otago Alumni Facebook page followers grew a
further 1,000 followers, bringing the total number to 6,323.
Through donations received from alumni and friends, DARO
provided entrance scholarships to 82 recipients in 2019. In most
cases this funding supported students’ residential college fees.
Donor support also contributed to fellowship and research
positions in departments, as well as prizes and awards to recognise
diligence and tenacity for learning.
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$42.9m

UNIVERSITY GROUP SURPLUS OF $42.9 MILLION

40

40 COMMERCIAL OPPORTUNITIES
FOR OTAGO INNOVATION LTD

SHAPING OUR CULTURE PROJECT LAUNCHED

5,973

5,973 ATTENDANCES AT HUMAN RESOURCES COURSES
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SUSTAINING
CAPABILITY
The University of Otago
takes a long-term
view to sustaining
capabilities, recognising
the need to meet
the challenges of a
changing world, to use
resources effectively,
and to foster a vibrant
and diverse community
in which staff are fully
engaged.
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SUSTAINING CAPABILITY
To support the vision of being a research-led University with
an international reputation for excellence, it is important to
generate sufficient resources and to target those resources
effectively. As outlined in further detail in the Financial Review
on page 84, the University Group surplus of $42.9 million
was slightly higher than budgeted due to the strong financial
market performance during 2019.
The tertiary sector continues to operate in a constrained funding
environment where funding increases set by government are
lower than cost increases faced by the university sector. While the
University started 2020 in a strong financial position the challenges
posed by COVID-19 are not possible to quantify and will require
careful fiscal management if the high quality of teaching, research
and community service is to be maintained and adequate funds
are to be provided for future significant capital projects.
COMMERCIALISATION AND DEVELOPMENT
In response to this financial environment, the University has
continued to seek diversified avenues of funding, particularly
focusing on entrepreneurial activities and development
opportunities.
A number of significant gifts were received by the University
in 2019. Among them was a bequest from the estate of the late
Dr John Arnaud Bell to establish a Chair in Oral Biology in
the Faculty of Dentistry. The Presbyterian Synod of Otago and
Southland, which has been supporting the University since
its foundation in 1869, gifted seed funding of $300,000 for a
new lectureship in Chaplaincy. Alumnus Dr Stanley Paris and
his wife Dr Catherine Patla pledged more than $1 million to
establish the Dr Stanley Paris Fellowships and Scholarships
to encourage research and advanced practice initiatives in
musculoskeletal and orthopaedic manual therapy at the School
of Physiotherapy. Former Otago law lecturer Mr Noel Carroll
made a significant contribution to the establishment of a new

Chair in Jurisprudence in the Faculty of Law, to be named in
honour of internationally-renowned scholar and Otago law
alumnus Professor Jeremy Waldron.
The Presbyterian Synod of Otago and Southland, Drs Paris
and Patla, and Mr Noel Carroll, together with Dr Graeme Hart
and his wife Robyn were welcomed into the University’s Court
of Benefactors. [The Hart family’s gift of $10 million for the
University’s new Auckland dental facility was reported in the
2018 Annual Report].
Forty commercial opportunities were presented to Otago
Innovation Ltd, the University’s commercialisation company in
2019 (2018: 34). A new spin-out company, DentalSlim Limited,
was formed early in the year in collaboration with UK partners.
A preliminary trial, using the device as a weight-loss aid, gave
sufficiently positive results to trigger partnering discussions.
A number of existing spin-out companies were successful
in raising further capital, including Chitogel, Photonic
Innovations, Ubiquitome and Upstream Medical Technologies.
The United States remained a focus for many of these
companies’ activities. Chitogel, which produces a woundhealing biological gel, now has repeat product sales into the
United States representing a significant milestone for the
company. Upstream has bolstered its board with two new
US directors and one additional Scientific Advisory Board
member. Licensing activities with pharmaceuticals and other
companies worldwide continue.
Each year Otago Innovation runs a Proof of Concept
competition for Otago researchers with a $60,000 grant
awarded to the winning application. The competition aims to
encourage researchers to think of the commercial applications
of their work. In 2019 the grant was won by a team from the
Department of Women’s and Children’s Health for a device that
could help decrease the global burden of unwanted pregnancy.
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ORGANISATIONAL INITIATIVES
Notwithstanding Otago’s substantial physical infrastructure,
staff are its most important resource. The University recognises
the importance of staff engagement in their work and that they
have an effective voice within the wider organisation.
In 2019 a significant programme was initiated to review the
University’s organisational culture. Led by the Vice-Chancellor
and senior leaders, “Shaping Our Culture, Together – He
Waka Kotuia” invited all staff to work together to shape the
ideas, values, customs and social behaviours to be embedded
in the day-to-day operation of the University. Staff and student
surveys were followed by a series of workshops at which the
survey results were outlined and draft values revealed to
underpin improvements – respect, integrity, curiosity and
community. The next stage of the programme will be to activate
the new working culture and values across the University.
Work arising from the institution-wide Support Services
Review (SSR) continued. The SSR was begun in 2015 to review
the efficiency and effectiveness of the University’s operational
and administrative functions. The “shift” phase of this was
largely completed by the beginning of 2019 and the Enabling
Excellence Programme – “lift” phase – was launched to provide
implementation support for the changes initiated by the SSR.
This is expected to be completed by the end of 2021.
STAFF DEVELOPMENT
Human Resources provided a total of 660 workshops/
courses for staff with 5,973 participant attendances. These
included 225 Learning and Development courses, 329 IT
training courses and 106 Academic Leadership Development
Programme courses attended by 603 staff. Te Reo language
courses continued to increase in number and popularity with
seven courses attended by 154 staff. The Women in Leadership

at Otago programme was attended by 21 participants; 58
managers attended the three-day Essential Management
programme; and other “bite-size” training opportunities were
well attended. Three workshops were provided for Shared
Services Division people leaders with up to 90 participants each
time. A further 441 staff accessed LinkedIn Learning online
professional development courses (formerly Lynda.com).
The Higher Education Development Centre (HEDC)
emphasises the importance of research-informed academic
development and in 2019 staff collaborated in 33 international
research projects in 22 countries internationally, 17 projects
nationally and 25 projects across Otago’s own campuses.
HEDC’s academic development programme, Introduction
to University Teaching and New Staff Conference, won a
distinction award in the Australasian Advancing Academic
Development project.
A highlight of the year was the biennial Professional Staff
Conference, “Honouring the Past, Embracing the Future”,
a theme inspired by the University’s 150th celebrations.
There were 243 participants from five campuses – Auckland,
Wellington, Christchurch, Dunedin and Invercargill –
providing an opportunity for them to come together, meet and
share best practice.
Just as awards for research and teaching excellence are presented
each year, the University also recognises the outstanding
contributions of professional staff. The 2019 Award for
Exceptional Performance by Professional Staff was presented
to Mr Brian Donnelly, senior advisor for superannuation,
retirement and staff benefits in the Human Resources
Promotions and Remuneration Team. Health and Safety Awards
were presented to Ms Rachel Kinnaird (Anatomy), Ms Rachael
Holloway (Physiology) and Campus Watch.
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SERVICE PERFORMANCE REPORT
The University of Otago remains steadfast in pursuit of its vision
to be a research-led University with an international reputation for
excellence. The University’s mission is to create, advance, preserve,
promote and apply knowledge, critical thinking and intellectual
independence to enhance the understanding, development and wellbeing of individuals, society and the environment. It seeks to achieve
these goals by building on foundations of broad research and teaching
capabilities, unique campus learning environments, its nationwide
presence and mana, and international links.
The following section outlines the University’s Service Performance
against internal targets and regulatory requirements.
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PERFORMANCE AGAINST STRATEGIC PLAN
The University has identified seven strategic imperatives to achieving its vision and delivering on its mission.
On an annual basis, the University Council sets the Statement of Service Objectives, which contains the Key
Performance Indicators (KPIs) for each Strategic Imperative. This is the mechanism used by the University to
measure and report its own performance against its Vision and Mission. [Refer Notes]

STRATEGIC IMPERATIVE ONE: EXCELLENCE IN RESEARCH
The University of Otago is one of New Zealand’s largest and most broadly capable research organisations. Our standing as a leading
research university has been confirmed in recent years by the ongoing success of our staff in competitive research funding rounds,
and by independent national and international assessments. Our individual researchers and research teams provide a strong base
from which to further develop our research capability through to 2020 and beyond.
#

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

2017 Actual

2018 Actual

1.1

Increasing the number of quality-assured research
outputs as measured by a three-year rolling average.1

3-year average
5,331

3-year average
> previous year
5,439		

3-year average
5,522

1.2

Increasing research funding from outside sources as
measured by a three-year rolling average.

3-year average
$112.3 million

3-year average
> previous year
$122.5 million		

3-year average
$131.4 million

1.3

Increasing the proportion of postgraduate research
EFTS within University EFTS.2

8.9%

9.0%

> previous year

9.2%

1.4

Increasing the number of research degree completions 3-year average
as measured by a three-year rolling average.
550

3-year average
553

> previous year

3-year average
563

1.5

At least 90% of research degree respondents to
the Graduate Opinion Survey reporting overall
satisfaction with the quality of supervision.

92.5%

≥ 90.0%

91.1%

1.6

Rank as one of the top two universities in the
First in Marsden First in HRC
Top two in both First in HRC and
annual Marsden and Health Research Council
and second in
and second
funding rounds first in Marsden
(HRC) funding rounds, as measured by the
HRC
in Marsden
value of grants awarded.		
		

1.7

Rank as one of New Zealand’s top two universities
Ranked first
Ranked first
in the FC component of the Nature Index.3 			

92.0%

2019 Target

Ranked in the
top two

2019 Actual

Ranked first

The University of Otago continued to demonstrate excellence in research, with strong performances against all key performance
indicator targets. Research outputs grew by 1.5% for 2019 to an all-time record level of 5,522 outputs, and Otago was the top ranked
New Zealand University in the prestigious Nature FC Index. Otago is well positioned to further increase research outputs, with
growth in funding from external bodies rising to a record $131.4 million in 2019, as well as being awarded the largest amount
of research funding in the 2019 funding rounds from both the Royal Society of New Zealand’s Marsden Fund and the Health
Research Council of New Zealand.

1 Due to the time required to collate and vet research output data, the outputs reported for this measure are a year in arrears (i.e. outputs reported against 2019 are those
published in 2018, etc.). The definition of research outputs for this measure is consistent with that used for PBRF purposes. Current year figures are provisional and prior
year figures are updated to reflect the latest quality assured publication results.
2 University EFTS, as referred to for this indicator and elsewhere in the Statement of Objectives, exclude those associated with the University’s Foundation Studies
subsidiary except where specifically stated.
3 The Nature Index FC (fractional count) measures collaboration in the production of excellent research. Due to the time at which this data becomes available, Nature Index
data is reported a year in arrears.
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STRATEGIC IMPERATIVE TWO: EXCELLENCE IN TEACHING
The academic performance of our students and the teaching awards secured by our staff confirm that Otago is at the forefront
of New Zealand universities in teaching, and it is highly regarded internationally. We have focused on raising the calibre of
our commencing student cohort, increasing expectations in respect of student academic performance, and recruiting a higher
proportion of postgraduate students. We have also sustained a strong research-teaching link and promoted the evolution of
teaching, including in response to the opportunities made possible by new technologies.
#

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

2017 Actual

2018 Actual

2019 Target

2019 Actual

2.1

Increasing the proportion of postgraduate EFTS
within University EFTS.

18.0%

18.3%

> previous year

18.7%

2.2

Increasing the paper pass rate for first-year
undergraduate students.

85.8%

85.5%

> previous year

85.5%

2.3

Maintaining an average pass rate for papers within
2% of the average for the previous three years.

91.2% (3-year
average 90.2%)

91.5% (3-year
average 90.8%)

+/- 2.0% of
rolling average

91.5% (3-year
average 91.1%)

2.4

Increasing the number of students successfully
3,235 (UG)
3,330 (UG)
> previous year
completing qualifications at both undergraduate
2,007 (PG)
1,975 (PG)		
and postgraduate levels.				

3,391 (UG)
1,930 (PG)

2.5

At least 90% of respondents to the Student and
Graduate Opinion Surveys4 providing a positive
assessment of the quality of teaching.

86.6%

2.6

At least 90% of respondents to the Graduate Opinion Survey5 reporting some, moderate or extensive development of the 		
following attributes: 				

2.7

84.9%

85.9%

≥ 90.0%

A willingness to learn;

96.2%

96.2%

≥ 90.0%

95.6%

Teamwork skills;

85.4%

85.5%

≥ 90.0%

84.8%

Communication skills;

92.5%

92.4%

≥ 90.0%

92.7%

The skills to plan my own work;

95.1%

95.0%

≥ 90.0%

95.5%

The ability to solve problems;

94.7%

96.0%

≥ 90.0%

95.5%

Independent judgement;

96.0%

95.3%

≥ 90.0%

95.2%

Academic rigour;

94.4%

94.6%

≥ 90.0%

94.0%

A multidisciplinary perspective;

89.9%

90.7%

≥ 90.0%

90.5%

Analytical skills;

96.6%

96.3%

≥ 90.0%

95.4%

Flexibility and adaptability;

93.5%

92.5%

≥ 90.0%

93.0%

An awareness of ethical issues;

91.6%

91.1%

≥ 90.0%

91.3%

A global perspective;

87.2%

86.1%

≥ 90.0%

86.1%

Cultural understanding;

83.5%

84.1%

≥ 90.0%

85.1%

Environmental literacy;

78.7%

79.2%

≥ 90.0%

80.2%

Research skills;

95.5%

94.4%

≥ 90.0%

95.0%

Information literacy.

96.7%

95.3%

≥ 90.0%

95.5%

At least 90% of respondents to the Graduate
Opinion Survey reporting progression to
employment or further study following completion
of their qualification, as measured by a three-year
rolling average.

94.7%

94.8%

≥ 90.0%

94.9%

4 Please refer to footnotes 5 and 7 below for discussion of these surveys and their response rates.
5 The annual Graduate Opinion Survey invites feedback from graduates on their experiences at Otago, particularly in terms of their learning experiences, 18 to 24 months
after graduation. In 2019, 4,989 students were invited to complete the survey and there were 2,101 respondents (a 42.1% response rate); (2018: 5,241 surveyed; 2,658
respondents; 51.3% response rate.)
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In 2019, the University of Otago continued to provide an excellent teaching experience, with the 86.6% of students reporting
a positive assessment of the University’s teaching quality the highest in recent years, and pass rates staying high and relatively
stable. Whilst some student survey metrics did not achieve their sometimes aspirational 90% targets, the 2019 results rates remain
highly favourable across all KPIs, including the 90% target being met or exceeded for 13 of our 17 core graduate attributes, and
the highest rating in recent years secured for two more (cultural understanding and environmental literacy). Graduate outcomes
remain strong, with 94.9% of graduates progressing to employment or further study upon completion of their degree (94.8%: 2018).
While postgraduate completions fell slightly to 1,930 in 2019, postgraduate completions are likely to improve in future years as the
number of postgraduate students increases.
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STRATEGIC IMPERATIVE THREE: OUTSTANDING STUDENT EXPERIENCES
The Otago experience, which encompasses the social, cultural and sporting aspects of student life as well as the pursuit of academic
excellence, is one of the defining features of the University. It has its roots in the distinctive residential student lifestyle that the
majority of Otago students enjoy.
Most of our commencing students leave home for the first time to attend Otago, and the University has a duty to provide
outstanding pastoral support. Typically, the core of that support is provided through our residential colleges in a student’s first year.
The nature of that support changes, but is no less important during the transition to independent living that occurs when students
begin flatting in close proximity to our main Dunedin campus or when they are based at one of our specialist health sciences
campuses in Christchurch and Wellington, or while located elsewhere.
A common feature of the Otago experience, wherever it occurs, is a nationally unique and internationally rare opportunity for personal
development through student experiences beyond academic study. This enriched student experience, in turn, leads to graduates who are
distinguished not only by their academic achievement but also by their intellectual and personal independence and maturity.
#

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

3.1

2018 Actual

2019 Target

2019 Actual

At least 90% of undergraduate degree-level
95.3%
commencing students admitted with NCEA Level 3
or an equivalent qualification.		

95.5%

≥ 90.0%

95.7%

3.2

At least 90% of residential college respondents to the 97.7%
annual College and First-Year Survey6 providing a
positive assessment of their colleges.		

97.9%

≥ 90.0%

97.4%

3.3

At least 90% of respondents to the annual Student
Opinion Survey7 providing a positive assessment of:

3.4

2017 Actual

Administrative services and support services;

98.1%

98.5%

≥ 90.0%

97.2%

The Student Learning Centre;

98.5%

99.2%

≥ 90.0%

98.4%

The helpfulness of staff;

91.8%

97.1%

≥ 90.0%

95.4%

Student health and counselling services;

85.6%

91.6%

≥ 90.0%

91.8%

The University’s careers advisory service;

92.2%

91.5%

≥ 90.0%

98.1%

Support from the Otago University Students’
95.7%
Association.		

97.4%

≥ 90.0%

96.6%

Enrolling a diversified international student population8 constituting up to:				
15% of total University EFTS;

12.1%

12.5%

≤ 15.0%

12.8%

25% of the international cohort from one country.
21.1%
20.4%
				

≤ 25.0%

20.4%		

Performance against these KPIs, with 100% of targets met, demonstrates the University’s commitment to providing an outstanding
student experience. Amongst the performance highlights, 2019 is the third year in a row that over 97% of college residents provided
a positive assessment of their colleges. Student assessment of support services remains overwhelmingly positive, with all student
survey indicators in KPI 3.3 exceeding 90% in 2019, and most by a wide margin. While it is unconventional to include a KPI for
a students’ association in a statement of service performance, we do so in recognition of OUSA’s vital contribution to student
experience. Changes made to service management in Student Health are showing a positive impact, as student satisfaction with
these services increased to 91.6% in 2018, and 91.8% in 2019. Otago attracts a high calibre of students with 95.7% of undergraduate
commencing students holding NCEA Level 3 or equivalent in 2019. International EFTS are growing steadily whilst maintaining a
diversified profile, with the USA representing the largest source country with 20.4% of International EFTS in 2019. In additional to
the social and cultural benefits arising from a having broad student population, diversification of international source countries is
important to mitigate financial risks to tuition income that may result from unforeseen global market shocks.
6 The annual College and First-Year Survey (formerly known as the College Resident Survey) elicits comprehensive feedback from students on their college residential and firstyear experience. Each year, all college residents as well as first-year students not living in a college are invited to participate. In 2019, 4,746 students were invited to participate
in the survey and 2,712 responded (a 57.1% response rate); (2018: 3,910 surveyed; 2,364 respondents; 60.5% response rate). Prior to 2018, KPI 3.2 and the last item of KPI 4.1
were based on a similar item included in the Support Services component of the Student Opinion Survey (see footnote 7). As indicator 3.2 relates solely to college residents,
students surveyed from UniFlats or non-University accommodation are excluded from the calculation for this indicator.
7 The annual Student Opinion Survey elicits comprehensive feedback from students on both the academic and wide pastoral support aspects of their study at Otago. Each year,
students in approximately a quarter of the University’s programmes are invited to participate (so that all departments and programmes are covered in a four-year cycle). In 2019,
4,177 students were invited to complete the Academic Experience component of the survey and there were 2,148 respondents (a 51.4% response rate); (2018: 5,422 surveyed;
2,889 respondents; 53.3% response rate. 2017: 6,714 surveyed; 3,767 respondents; 56.1% response rate). 4,000 students were invited to complete the Support Services
component of the survey. There were 1,628 respondents (a 40.7% response rate); (2018: 4,000 surveyed; 1,879 respondents; 47.0% response rate). In 2017, the Support Services
component of the Student Opinion Survey was extensively re-designed to better capture how students experience administrative and support services. As a result, some of the
items used to calculate the key performance indicators are worded or structured differently from previous years.
8 Including both full-fee international students and those granted domestic student status for fees and funding purposes.
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STRATEGIC IMPERATIVE FOUR: OUTSTANDING CAMPUS ENVIRONMENTS
Otago is nationally renowned and internationally recognised for its exceptional campus environments, centred on Dunedin and
also encompassing its specialist facilities in Invercargill, Christchurch, Wellington and Auckland.
As a primarily residential destination university, Otago has a particular need to create and maintain facilities – including grounds,
buildings, equipment and information technology infrastructure that are world-class at all our sites. New facility requirements that
have emerged in recent years include student study spaces centred around informal social interaction, embedding sustainability
in campus design and operation, new facilities to enhance health and well-being, and a heightened awareness of the importance of
adequate seismic strengthening. A common feature of all our campus environments is their location within well-established urban
environments. This location, in conjunction with the high concentration of heritage buildings on and around the Dunedin campus,
has a major influence on campus development.
#

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

2017 Actual

2018 Actual

2019 Target

2019 Actual

4.1

At least 90% of respondents to the annual Student Opinion Survey providing a positive assessment of:			
The general campus environment;

96.8%

98.2%

≥ 90.0%

97.7%

Personal safety on campus;

98.2%

98.7%

≥ 90.0%

97.6%

University libraries;

98.6%

98.7%

≥ 90.0%

99.3%

University information technology and teaching
facilities;

92.3%

95.6%

≥ 90.0%

96.3%

The quality of sport and recreational facilities;

97.0%

95.4%

≥ 90.0%

94.5%

University Union, including food and beverage
service;

83.0%

77.9%

≥ 90.0%

83.0%

Living accommodation provided by the University.9

97.8%

98.0%

≥ 90.0%

97.5%

4.2

Providing learning assistance and/or access to special 731
equipment for at least 600 students with a disability
affecting study.

883

≥ 600

813

4.3

Providing annual funding for capital expenditure
no less than the sum of depreciation and the
adjusted surplus (i.e. the surplus adjusted for
carry forwards, extraordinary items and capital
injections to Group companies).

Funding ≥
depreciation
+ adjusted
surplus

Funding ≥
depreciation
+ adjusted
surplus

Funding ≥
depreciation
+ adjusted
surplus

Funding ≥
depreciation
+ adjusted
surplus

		
The University of Otago demonstrated its ongoing success in providing an outstanding campus environment by achieving or
exceeding its targeted level of performance against eight of its nine campus environments KPIs. Very high levels of student
satisfaction were maintained, being over 90% for all measures apart from food and beverage services. Even here, an 83% rating is
considered solid, as this is an area of provision where it can be difficult to please everyone. The University provided support services
for a high volume of students with a disability (813: 2019), well above the target of 600 students. Achieving the targeted ongoing
provision of funding for capital expenditure detailed in KPI 4.3 ensures that the University can continue to invest in providing an
outstanding campus environment.

9 Source: College and First Year Survey
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STRATEGIC IMPERATIVE FIVE: COMMITMENT AS A LOCAL, NATIONAL AND 		
GLOBAL CITIZEN
New Zealand is in the midst of major demographic, social and economic changes which, over the course of the next few decades, will
significantly alter the country. Key elements underlying these changes include the growing size and voice of Māori, the rapid expansion
of our Asian population, the increasing size and aspirations of the Pacific community, and an ageing population. These domestic
changes interact with the international realities of greater global connectivity, the transformative rise of Asia and the Pacific Rim in the
world, the challenging legacies of the global economic crisis, and the implications of climate and wider environmental change.
Otago has already made a purposeful response to the challenges posed by changing times. Our notable successes in Māori student
transition and our achievement in responding to opportunities to access funding for industry-linked research are two examples of
the way in which we are leading the way nationally. We are also well positioned to contribute globally, through the international
profile of our academic staff and the extraordinary dispersion of our graduates around the world.
#

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

2017 Actual

5.1

Raising Māori student participation and achievement by:				

2019 Target

2019 Actual

Increasing the number of Māori students enrolled
1,933 students, 2,097 students
> previous year
and Māori EFTS as a percentage of total domestic
11.0% of EFTS (11.8% of EFTS)		
student EFTS;			

2,187 students
(12.4% of EFTS)

Increasing the paper pass rate for first-year
undergraduate Māori students;

81.5%

77.5%

79.5%

Increasing the number of Māori students
completing qualifications at both undergraduate
and postgraduate levels;

256 (UG)
125 (PG)

310 (UG)
> previous year
141 (PG) 		

327 (UG)
101 (PG)

9.0%

7.7%

Increasing the proportion of Māori postgraduate
7.9%
EFTS within postgraduate domestic University EFTS.
5.2

2018 Actual

> previous year

> previous year

Raising Pacific student participation and achievement by: 				
Increasing the number of Pacific students enrolled
931 students,
994 students
> previous year
and domestic Pacific EFTS as a percentage of total
4.9% of EFTS
(5.2% of EFTS)		
domestic student EFTS;			

1,058 students
(5.4% of EFTS)

Increasing the paper pass rate for first-year
undergraduate Pacific students;

68.5%

67.1%

66.2%

Increasing the number of Pacific students
completing qualifications at both undergraduate
and postgraduate levels;

115 (UG)
67 (PG)

129 (UG)
> previous year
59 (PG)		

126 (UG)
63 (PG)

3.6%

3.3%

Increasing the proportion of Pacific postgraduate
3.0%
EFTS within postgraduate domestic University EFTS.

> previous year

> previous year

5.3

Maintaining or increasing the number of research
3-year average
3-year average
≥ previous year 3-year average
projects being undertaken in consultation with Māori 658
682		
713
as measured by a three-year rolling average.10				

5.4

At least 80% of University academic staff involved in
community service activities.

79.5%

88.4%

≥ 80.0%

90.2%

5.5

Holding at least 500 open lectures, public seminars,
and adult and community education courses
per annum.

747

742

≥ 500

595

5.6

Providing at least 100 performing arts activities
open to the public per annum.

112

102

≥ 100

123

5.7

Maintaining the University’s status as a Fair Trade
university.

Status
maintained

Status
maintained

Status
maintained

Status
maintained

5.8

An increasing proportion of respondents to the
Graduate Opinion Survey indicating that they
have undertaken volunteer work while studying
at the University.

50.6%

52.5%

> previous year

52.1%

10 This KPI captures the number of research projects appropriately engaging with consultation procedures outlined in the University’s Research Consultation with Maori Policy.
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This is perhaps the most aspirational of the University’s strategic imperatives, and this is reflected in our reaching the targeted
level of performance for 13 of 19 KPIs. In meeting our key targets for Māori and Pacific enrolments, the University achieved the
highest ever enrolment levels for Māori and Pacific, both in absolute terms and as a proportion of our roll. Lifting the academic
performance of Māori and Pacific students while at the same time increasing their number continues to be a challenge. Māori
postgraduate completion rates declined as a result of more students taking longer master’s level programmes and fewer students
taking shorter postgraduate certificate or postgraduate diploma level programmes. The wider service role continues to thrive, with
the targeted level of academic staff involvement in service activities easily exceeded, as were the targets for the staging of public
events. In the latter case, the marker increase in public performing arts activity was associated in part with events related to the
University’s 150th celebrations.

70

UNIVERSITY OF OTAGO ANNUAL REPORT 2019

STRATEGIC IMPERATIVE SIX: STRONG EXTERNAL ENGAGEMENT
The location of Otago’s main campus in Dunedin confers outstanding advantages, but it also geographically separates much of the
University from the major centres of population and political and economic decision-making. This location means that Otago must
work especially hard to engage effectively with national bodies, much in the same way that New Zealand must work especially hard
internationally.
#

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

2017 Actual

2018 Actual

2019 Target

2019 Actual

6.1

Hosting at least 650 academic visitors to the
University per annum.

889

685

≥ 650

522

6.2

At least 25% of academic staff serving on
government advisory boards and committees.

19.2%

27.4%

≥ 25.0%

23.0%

6.3

At least 50% of academic staff providing services
to public sector departments, statutory authorities,
agencies, boards, committees or inquiries, or to
non-governmental organisations.

68.5%

70.5%

≥ 50.0%

59.8%

6.4

At least 50% of academic staff holding posts in an
organisation or association relevant to their area
of professional expertise.

72.6%

70.5%

≥ 50.0%

65.6%

6.5

Increasing the number of students studying abroad
on outbound student exchange.

193

194

> previous year

229

Concerted efforts to increase outbound student mobility saw the number of Otago students participating in an international
student exchange increase by 18.0% to an all-time high of 229 in 2019. The number of academic visitors reported declined from
685 in 2018 to 522 in 2019. This decline is being examined further and initial indications suggest that the result was due to an
administrative oversight in recording visitor numbers rather than any real decline in visitors. KPIs 6.2, 6.3 and 6.4 are derived from
a random survey of academic staff – whilst the results from the 2019 survey were lower than previous years, they remain above or
close to the targets, indicating high levels of external engagement.
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STRATEGIC IMPERATIVE SEVEN: SUSTAINING CAPABILITY
In order to sustain capability universities must maintain a long-term view even when challenged by short- or medium-term
instability. Particularly when funded predominantly from public sources, they must also be mindful of the need to manage risk
effectively and use resources efficiently. At the same time, universities must evolve to meet the challenges of a changing world, and
continually improve the environmental sustainability of their operations.
#

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

2017 Actual

7.1

Achieving or exceeding the following University and
University Group EFTS enrolment targets.11

18,198 & 18,457 18,572 & 18,840 18,830 & 19,091 18,689 & 18,915

7.2

Achieving a University Group operating surplus of at 4.8%
3.9%
least 3% of revenue (excluding extraordinary items).			

≥ 3.0% of
revenue

6.1%

7.3

Maintaining a liquid ratio of no worse than 1:1.

2.1:1

1.7:1

≥ 1:1

1.6:1

7.4

Ensuring that net interest paid is no greater than
one-third of the operating surplus.

0.6%

0.0%

≤ 33.3%

0.3%

7.5

Increasing the consulting, commercial and intellectual $78.3 million
property income of the University Group by at least
(97.8%)
5% per annum as measured by a three-year rolling
average.

$78.7 million
(100.5%)

≥ 105.0%
of 2018

$78.6 million
(99.9%)

7.6

Reducing energy use per m2 of floor space as
measured by a three-year rolling average.12

3-year average
221.4 kWh/m2

3-year average
< previous year
220.5 kWh/m2		

3-year average
222.5 kWh/m2

113.8 kg per
person (EFTS
and FTE)

121.1 kg per
< previous year
person (EFTS		
and FTE)		

78.9 kg per
person (EFTS
and FTE)

7.7

Reducing the amount of waste sent to landfill
per capita.13
		
7.8

2018 Actual

Reducing greenhouse gas emissions generated
24,644 t C02-e 19,344 t C02-e
from University activities.14		

2019 Target

< previous year

2019 Actual

15,999 t C02-e

Whilst the 2019 results were short of the target, the number of Equivalent Full-Time Students in 2019 exceeded 2018 results,
and was generated by growth in both domestic and international enrolments. All three KPI targets relating to core financial
performance were easily met. Income from consulting, commercial and intellectual property has remained quite static in recent
years, and the University continues to pursue efforts to increase income from these sources to aid in the diversification of revenue
streams. Whilst energy usage per building floor area remained steady, waste sent to landfill and greenhouse gas emissions
decreased spectacularly, by 42.2% and 17.3% respectively. These gains were achieved through initiatives specifically targeted at
improving the University’s environmental sustainability.

11 University Group EFTS include those generated by the Foundation Year Programme operated by the University’s wholly-owned Foundation Studies subsidiary.
12 Floor space measured by gross area (Dunedin campus only, excluding non-University-owned residential colleges). Performance is measured in kilowatt hours per square
metre, which is a standard unit for measuring energy use.
13 Waste kilograms per person sent to landfill for all campuses (excluding non-University-owned colleges). Includes some estimates where data is not available and the
assumption that non-Dunedin campuses have stayed at the 2018 campus average.
14 University activities here refers to building energy emissions for all campuses (excluding non-University-owned residential colleges). Performance is measured in tonnes
of CO2-e, or carbon dioxide equivalent, which is a standard unit for measuring carbon footprints.
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EXTERNAL PERFORMANCE REPORTING
The previous section reported on performance against the University of Otago’s Strategic Plan. The
following sections contains further performance reporting as required by various external instruments.

EQUAL OPPORTUNITIES REPORT
Equity in educational opportunity and employment are core values
of the University, supported by the Māori and Pacific Strategic
Frameworks.
Strong relationships with iwi and Māori providers are integral
to the success of Māori at Otago, and the high value placed on
these relationships is exemplified by the University’s cornerstone
memorandum of understanding with Te Rūnanga o Ngāi Tahu, and
its formal agreements and activities with other iwi and iwi groups.
The Māori Strategic Framework 2022 was launched in 2017,
outlining the University’s commitment to Māori advancement
through a set of goals and strategies that seek to increase Māori
student and staff participation and success.

The Office of Māori Development has overall leadership in
implementing initiatives that foster the success of Māori
at Otago. This role includes working closely with other key
groups such as the Associate Deans Māori network, Te Huka
Mātauraka (the Māori Centre), Te Poutama Māori (the Otago
Māori Academic Staff Collective) and the Māori Health
Development Workforce Unit.
The Office of Māori Development is also responsible for
allocating the Māori component of Tertiary Education
Commission equity funding, to support initiatives contributing
to the recruitment, retention and success of Māori students.

IWI TO WHICH STUDENTS AFFILIATED

Affiliation

first

Ngāi Tahu / Kāi Tahu

428

Ngāpuhi
Ngāti Porou
Tainui, iwi not named

2019

all

first

512

426

278

407

145

264

91

180

2018

2017

all

first

462

397

2016

all

first

all

494

391

264

375

237

336

217

143

257

142

245

143

95

177

80

141

84

145

466

2015
first
all
382

442

297

211

280

225

139

218

69

124

Ngāti Maniapoto

75

130

63

117

52

99

54

100

50

84

Ngāti Tūwharetoa (ki Taupō)

60

120

54

114

51

103

51

106

50

90

Ngāti Kahungunu ki Te Wairoa

56

102

48

90

54

93

44

76

45

76

Te Arawa, iwi not named

45

88

49

88

42

77

28

55

30

56

Ngāti Kahungunu, region unspecified

44

71

40

71

39

61

36

55

35

52

Tūhoe

43

95

36

90

31

83

28

72

28

64

Te Atiawa (Taranaki)

41

61

37

57

32

48

32

59

34

59

Ngāti Kahungunu ki Heretaunga

39

54

40

52

43

54

30

38

31

44

Te Rarawa

39

72

31

65

32

61

30

54

27

55

Ngāti Raukawa, region not known

34

58

39

60

30

45

24

35

22

33

Taranaki

34

52

33

46

29

45

25

42

26

40

Te Ati Haunui-a-Pāpārangi

34

54

30

53

28

43

26

37

18

26

Ngāti Awa

33

57

37

56

38

61

36

52

35

52

Ngāti Kahungunu ki Wairarapa

32

49

34

49

31

48

30

48

27

38

Ngāi Te Rangi

28

50

19

38

26

39

20

33

17

29

Ngāti Whātua (not Ōrākei or Kaipara)

26

49

31

57

26

47

23

38

20

37

Waikato

26

43

23

41

19

32

20

32

15

27

Whakatōhea

25

48

28

47

18

32

18

28

21

33

Ngāti Raukawa (Horowhenua/Manawatū)

25

39

19

32

20

30

24

39

25

38

Ngāti Ruanui
Other
Don’t Know
Total

20

37

18

38

19

37

24

44

15

31

439

1058

415

959

388

894

352

829

334

791

47

55

45

51

35

42

48

55

53

58

2,187

n/a

2,097 n/a

1,933 n/a

1,844 n/a

1,759 n/a
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EQUAL EDUCATIONAL OPPORTUNITIES
The University supports the educational aspirations and progress
of all students, and recognises the importance of identifying and
eliminating barriers to entry and successful study. Key elements of
the University’s strategy in this area are support and recruitment
initiatives for students from groups with recognised educational
inequities, particularly Māori and Pacific students, and students
with disabilities.
The University’s package of targeted scholarships and awards
continued in 2019, with 220 students commencing study on Māori
and Pacific Island Entrance Scholarships (2018: 201) and many
more Māori and Pacific students securing other Otago entrance
scholarships.
Following the University’s long-standing push to enable gender
diverse to be recognised as a valid gender option in New Zealand’s
tertiary education statistics, this change took effect from 2019.
MĀORI
As noted in KPI 5.1 earlier in this report, the number of
equivalent full-time Māori students enrolled at Otago increased
from 2,097 in 2018 to 2,187 in 2019. As a proportion of the
University’s total domestic student EFTS, Māori student EFTS
increased to an all-time high of 12.4% (2018: 11.8%).
There were 190 Māori students in Health Sciences First Year, 371
studying in undergraduate health professional degrees and 104 in
Health Sciences postgraduate study. Māori students now comprise
12.4% of students in health professional programmes, up from 9.0%
in 2015.
In 2019, the course pass rate for Māori across all years of University
was 87.1% (2018: 87.7%). Undergraduate qualification completions
increased to 327 students (up 5.5% from 2018), while postgraduate
qualification completions decreased to 101 students (down 28.4%
from 2018).
Te Huka Mātauraka, the Māori Centre, experienced a 25% increase
in the number of students accessing its academic, cultural and
counselling services. Alongside general academic and cultural
support, key initiatives included: the Turaka Hou academic
orientation programme for first-year Māori students; Kaituitui
Mātauraka, the centre’s academic tutorial programme; the
SeeTheSolutions online tutorial programme; and the Kā Rikarika
ā Tāne programme, with senior student volunteers mentoring firstyear students. Te Heika Pounamu ceremonies increased attendance
in 2019, bringing together Māori graduands, whānau and staff in
celebration of Māori academic achievement at the University.
Each of the University’s four academic divisions also provided
tailored support for Māori students in 2019.
Te Kura Pakihi (Otago Business School) initiatives included a
second phase of a Māori student entrepreneurship project with
Māori-owned and -operated business hub Innov8 HQ. There was
additional support provided for financial numeracy, along with
a week-long programme to explore the Māori economy through
interacting with Māori business owners in Dunedin. Three students
were awarded Ngāi Tahu Matakahi scholarships, with two others
awarded summer scholarships to work on Māori research projects.
Students also had networking opportunities to attend the annual
Māori accountants’ hui and a Māori intellectual property workshop,
and to meet with representatives from NZTE and MFAT.

In 2019 Te Wāhanga Matua Mātau Hauora (Division of Health
Sciences) continued to run Māori student support programmes
spanning recruitment, foundation, first-year transition, academic
success and completion, with participation by over 800 Māori
students. These included the Te Ara Hauora programme, focused
on pathways for Māori secondary students into Health Sciences
(including REACH – a residential programme for Year-13 students);
Tū Kahika, a culturally responsive foundation studies programme;
the Te Whakapuāwai Māori Health Sciences First Year (HSFY)
success programme, reaching over 200 Māori students in HSFY; and
the Tū Tauira Hauora programme for health professional and health
sciences undergraduates. Retention and completion rates for Māori
students in the Tū Tauira Hauora programme were over 95%.
Te Kete Aronui (Division of Humanities) student support included
the Tauira Māori Transition Programme for first-year Māori
students, rebranded as Whakatō Tipu. This programme was led
by the two newly appointed Humanities Kaiāwhina Māori, who
continued to monitor the academic engagement and achievement
of 650-750 Māori students enrolled in Humanities programmes.
Hui and workshops organised by the pair specifically aimed at
more successful outcomes for tauira Māori. The Kaiāwhina-ā-kura
network was also re-established, which consists of the Kaiāwhina
Māori roles amongst the 21 academic and/or support staff members
appointed to these voluntary service roles within academic units
across Humanities. Two hui were held to clarify the roles and
redefine the job descriptions so these positions can better provide
support to tauira Māori, and eliminate duplication of services
between the roles and those of the two Humanities Kaiāwhina
Māori positions.
Te Rohe a Ahikāroa (Division of Sciences): Divisional Kaiārahi and
Kaiāwhina supported first-year tauira Māori through provision
of hui and study workshops. Te Pae Kōtuku (leadership skills
and cultural engagement mentoring programme for students)
lead by divisional Kaiārahi with support from academic mentors
ran for a successful second year. Four hui including a wānanga at
Araiteuru Marae were held for departmental kaiāwhina, focusing on
implementation of the Māori Strategic Framework, te reo Māori and
Waiata sessions. Two Science Wānanga were delivered at Onetahua
Marae (Pohara, Golden Bay) and Hauiti Marae (Uawa – Tolaga Bay).
Thirty tauira Māori were awarded summer studentships (2019/2020)
via Te Ngaru Paewhenua (Division of Sciences) and Riddet Institute.
Te Koronga hosted their annual Indigenous Science Research
Symposium and held their pūkōrero series.
PACIFIC PEOPLES
Another strong intake of first-year Pacific enrolments pushed total
Pacific enrolments at Otago to an all-time high of 1,058 students
(2018: 994). Proportionally, Pacific students increased to another
all-time high, at 5.4% of total domestic student EFTS (2018: 5.2%).
There were 130 Pacific students in Health Sciences First Year, 182
students in undergraduate health professional degrees and 81 in
Health Sciences postgraduate study. Pacific students now comprise
6.1% of students in health professional programmes, up from 3.7%
in 2015.
189 Pacific students from across the University successfully
completed qualifications in 2019, a small increase on 2018 (188).
Undergraduate completions decreased slightly (from 129 in 2018
to 126 in 2019) while postgraduate completions increased slightly
(from 59 in 2018 to 63 in 2019).
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In 2019, the course pass rate for Pacific students across all years
of University was 78.3% (2018: 79.5%). Considerable work must
still be done to improve this result and this is a priority for the
University.

also ran a local secondary schools’ Year 9 and 10 Pacific
outreach programme called PIPE (Pacific Incubate Programme
Entrepreneurship).

The Pacific Islands Centre (PIC) continued an extensive
programme of academic and pastoral support services in 2019,
increasing its provision of support across most activities. Key
initiatives in 2019 included continuation and growth of academic
support with the provision of tutorials and the Taimane
Academic Mentoring Programme; ongoing annual recruitment
programmes; the Pacific on Campus Experience Programme;
and the local schools Dare to Succeed mentoring programme. In
2019 the Dare to Succeed Programme saw the inclusion of more
Southern and Central Otago schools.
The Pacific Islands Centre was assisted by the collaborative
work of the Le Moana Action Group and the Pacific Leadership
Group (PLG) of Pacific support staff on campus. The Pacific
Postgraduate Reference Group continued to host monthly
seminars, culminating in the annual Pacific Voices Symposium.
The Fofoa accommodation scheme was offered again in 2019,
providing supported flatting accommodation for Pacific
students on the Dunedin campus with a wrap-around support
programme that includes the Supervised Study Nights offered
four nights a week during semesters.
The POPO (Pacific Orientation Programme at Otago)
Foundation Programme, which operates through the University’s
Foundation Studies subsidiary, ran for its eighth year, providing
a pathway for students who need additional academic support
prior to entering University.
Engagement with the University’s 150th celebrations involved
many levels of contact with students, staff and invited past
graduates and community leaders over the course of the year.
Each of the University’s four academic divisions also provided
tailored support for Pacific students in 2019.
The Division of Commerce continued to run their First-Year
Transition Programme, with targeted support for first-year
Commerce Pacific students. Tailored numeracy support also
continued, producing positive results in improving Pacific
students’ self-confidence and results in papers with high levels of
numeracy content. In November 2019 the Associate Dean Pacific
secured Pacific Equity Funding to employ a new part-time Pacific
student support facilitator to help run the first- and second-year
Transition Programme in 2020. The Division of Commerce

The Division of Health Sciences appointed an Associate
Dean (Pacific) in Pharmacy, bringing the total to seven
Associate Deans (Pacific) within the division. These and other
Health Sciences Pacific leaders provided strategic leadership,
guidance, oversight and support for Pacific and Pacific-related
developments, aspirations and activities through the Takiala
Pacific Leadership Network. The Pacific Islands Research
and Student Support Unit provided a suite of comprehensive
programmes to support students undertaking Health Sciences
First Year, as well as senior students in health professional and
allied health programmes. A celebration this year was the launch
of the book Te Folauga: The Journey at Parliament. This book tells
stories of the many Pacific successes within the division over the
past 20 years.
In the Division of Humanities, school-based orientation fonos
were jointly organised for Pacific and Māori students, to support
students in developing a sense of collegiality with peers in their
respective schools. The Division of Humanities adopted the
Pathways to Humanities programme for Dunedin-based Pacific
high-school students. The division continues to fully support the
activities co-ordinated by the Pacific Islands Centre, including
the Pacific on Campus Experience, Dare to Succeed programme
and the new Teiteivaki initiative for intermediate school students.
The Division of Sciences created a new role tasked with coordinating operations of the Pacific support and strategy
team, and supporting the Lalanga Network of Pacific Island
Departmental Liaisons in providing culturally appropriate
academic support while working collaboratively with Pacific
support staff across the University. The division chaired its first
Le Moana meeting with all Pacific support staff and worked
collaboratively alongside PIC to deliver “maths magic” sessions
for the Teiteivake Camp. The Pacific Outreach Programme for
Sciences (POPS) piloted the Pacific Sciences Futures programme,
targeting Years 9-10 students with aspirations towards STEMrelated career paths. POPS also supported the recruitment of
students and organisation of the Whanau Evening for the Marine
Sciences Department Mapu Kimi-Ara Pasifika Programme.
Phase One of the Pacific Science Pathways Programme was
completed, which involved extensive engagement with local
communities to deliver the Pacific Science Pathways Toolkit (a
resource that includes a 100-page booklet, Careers NZ resources,
and a Pacific Science Pathways display Tapa).

SERVICES PROVIDED BY THE PACIFIC ISLANDS CENTRE
2019

2018

2017

2016

2015

1,840

1,680

2,800

2,502

1,094

Students receiving course advice

1,316

1,425

1,320

1,240

4,100

Registered with the centre

1,091

906

870

859

792

Community meetings/consultation

320

245

185

245

148

Student gatherings

250

121

120

165

181

Extra tutorials

Student consultations

149

130

101

82

88

Community functions attended

54

45

24

45

83

Career advisory services seminar

17

25

16

17

9

8

9

8

9

11

Pacific postgraduate seminars
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Disability Information and Support staff attended various
conferences and hosted workshops in 2019 (including New
Zealand Sign Language courses), and participated in a number
of teaching initiatives and disability awareness-raising events,
including the Disability Information and Support Appreciation
Awards ceremony. Disability Information and Support staff
were also involved in the selection processes for the N.G.
Stewart Scholarship and the Donna-Rose McKay Disability
Support Scholarship.

DISABILITIES SUPPORT
The University takes a proactive approach to the recruitment
and support of students with disabilities. The Disability
Information and Support service takes a lead role in this area,
working in conjunction with both academic and administrative
departments.
In 2019, the University enrolled 1,714 students who identified
as having a disability affecting study (2018: 1,600). Support in
the form of learning assistance and/or specialised equipment
requiring a specific financial commitment was provided to 813
students with disabilities in 2019 (2018: 883). 1,742 instances of
support were provided in the form of note-taking, assistance
with examinations, tutoring, and transcription or typing (2018:
1,753), along with many hours of individual consultations
provided by a team of trained advisors.

The Disability Information and Support team received positive
feedback from the 2019 Student Opinion Survey, indicating that
more than 93% of respondents were either “extremely satisfied”
or “satisfied” with the service. The team strives to provide an
outstanding experience for students and are proud to be leaders
in the field of disability support in tertiary education.

LEARNING ASSISTANCE SUPPORT FOR STUDENTS WITH DISABILITIES
2019

2018

2017

2016

2015

Note-taking

796

745

622

550

506

Examination arrangements

569

603

878

606

486

Tutoring

374

405

354

274

341

Other

204

286

214

274

238

Assistant

2

0

1

2

3

Scanning

1

0

0

0

0

Transcription/typing

0

0

0

1

3

Reader

0

0

0

1

1

EQUITY AND DIVERSITY IN EMPLOYMENT
The University was re-accredited as a Rainbow Tick employer
in 2019. Rainbow Tick is a continual improvement certification
designed to help an organisation ensure it is a safe and
welcoming workplace for LGBTTIQ+ employees.
In 2019 Rainbow Brown Bag lunches were launched, with
the aim of creating a social space for staff within the rainbow
community and any supporters who wish to join. The Equity
Advisory Committee continued to provide leadership and
oversight of the implementation of the Equity and Diversity
Strategic Framework. The fourth Staff Equity Demographics
Data Report was released to assist with evidence-based
decision-making and is available to all University staff.
LEARNING AND DEVELOPMENT
Diversity topics were included in the three signature
programmes for leaders and managers: Academic Leadership
Development, Essential Management, and Supervisory Skills.
The topic of diversity and inclusivity was promoted through
a range of workshops, including Equity at Otago; Creating
an Inclusive Environment: Disability Awareness; Customer
Diversity; Rainbow Tick Diversity and Inclusivity Training;
Mental Health: Face to Face with Student Issues; Pacific
Awareness; Te Reo Māori: He Timatanga; and Te Reo Māori:
Te Waharoa. The Higher Education Development Centre
also offered workshops on Māori Culture, and the Policy for
Research Consultation with Māori.

Women in Leadership at Otago provided the opportunity to
develop leadership skills for women in both academic and
professional staff.
OTAGO UNIVERSITY CHILDCARE ASSOCIATION
Support for childcare continued to be provided through the
Otago University Childcare Association, with the University
providing a grant to support the association’s early childhood
education facilities. Together the five centres provide education
and care for approximately 190 children, of which 90% are
children of University staff or students.
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STUDENT SERVICES FEE REPORT
This report has been prepared in accordance with clause 6
of the Ministerial Direction on Compulsory Student Services
Fees 2014.

The highest proportion of the fee is spent on health services,
and sport, recreation and cultural activities. This is consistent
with student feedback on priorities.

This clause requires the University to publish a description of
the services funded out of the compulsory student services fee,
an income and expenditure statement for each type of student
service, the fee charged, and the accounting requirements in its
Annual Report each year.

The University publishes detailed information on the fees
charged, services provided, and opportunities for students to
have input and provide feedback on its website. Student forums
and a student services fee survey were carried out in 2019 to get
student feedback on the use of services and priorities for the fee.
Levels of satisfaction with the services provided is measured in
a variety of ways, including as a component of the University’s
Annual Student Satisfaction Survey and OUSA’s Annual Student
Survey.

SUMMARY
The University provides student services and also contracts with
third parties to provide services. The Otago University Students’
Association (OUSA) is the principal third-party provider and a
comprehensive service level agreement is negotiated each year.

STUDENT SERVICES DELIVERED BY THE UNIVERSITY
Sports, recreation and cultural activities

Health services

Career information, advice and guidance;
employment information
Financial support and advice

Recreation and fitness programmes
Social sport
UNIPOL gym
Outdoor trips and activities
Unlimited internet use on campus for students’ personal use (internet use for
academic purposes is covered by tuition fees)
Subsidised general practice health care
Specialist mental health support and counselling
Sexual safety, sexual assault support and prevention
Careers advice, guidance, planning, workshops and providing employment
information to assist students transitioning from University to the workplace
Opportunities for volunteering
Student Emergency Fund

STUDENT SERVICES DELIVERED BY OUSA
Advocacy and legal advice; counselling; services;
careers (OUSA Support Centre)

Sport, recreation and cultural activities

Education Quality Support Network (through the co-ordination of the
system of senate, division, department and class representatives)
Student Support Centre programmes
Financial support and advice
Advocacy
Pastoral care
Careers guidance through volunteering in conjunction with the University
Student Job Search
USNZ level sports and games tournaments
Blues and Golds sports and cultural awards
Healthy Lifestyles programme
Orientation
Capping Week and Capping Show
Battle of the Bands
Market days
Re-Orientation
International food festival
Music gigs
Future DJ
Art week
Volunteers
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Student communication activities

Critic magazine
Radio One 91FM
Onefest
Orientation magazine
Facebook presence
Web presence

STUDENT SERVICES DELIVERED BY THE OTAGO TERTIARY CHAPLAINCY TRUST BOARD
Counselling services; advocacy

Interfaith chaplaincy services and pastoral care

Compulsory
Expenses
Student Services			
Fee Revenue
$000s
$000s

Category
Advocacy and legal advice
Careers information advice and guidance
Childcare
Counselling
Financial Assistance
Media

Surplus
(Deficit)
$000s

1,016

1,057

-42

698

622

76

0

0

0

97

116

-19

6

6

0

230

230

0

Sports and Recreation Facilities

4,934

5,497

-563

Student Health

4,617

5,928

-1,311

0

0

0

11,599

13,457

-1,858

Other (Foundation Studies income allocated)
Total

						

Income and expenditure associated with the provision of these services are separately accounted for in the University’s
accounting system.			
The compulsory student services fee levy charged per Equivalent Full Time Student is shown below. The amounts include GST.
Dunedin		

$813.74 		

Christchurch

$186.33 		

Wellington

$162.27 		

Invercargill

$134.00
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GROUP ENTITIES REPORT
This report has been prepared to provide, within the overall
Annual Report, further information on the activities and
performance of the most significant entities that comprise part
of the University Group, but sit outside the University parent.
A full list of Group subsidiary entities and associates appears in
the Statement of Accounting Policies on page 91 of this Annual
Report.
The following have been identified as the most significant
of these entities for reporting purposes, and are covered
individually below:
•

The University of Otago Foundation Trust

•

University of Otago Foundation Studies Limited

•

Otago Innovation Limited

THE UNIVERSITY OF OTAGO FOUNDATION TRUST
OVERVIEW
The University of Otago Foundation Trust (the Trust) was
established in 2002. It is a registered charitable trust that
receives and administers donations, bequests and sponsorship
monies for the University and academic priorities.
The Trust is an umbrella trust consisting of over 400 individual
trust funds, each with specific terms and conditions which
outline the purpose for which the funds can be distributed to
the University.
The investments are managed by the Board of Trustees, which
is appointed by Council. The board holds regular meetings to
evaluate the investment performance of the fund and to ensure
that the investment objectives are being met. The risks and
exposure to individual investments and sectors are regularly
monitored and reviewed. The board receives advice from a
board-appointed independent external investment advisor who
reviews and endorses investment decisions and offers advice on
purchases and sales for the portfolio.
All monies received by the Trust are combined for investment
purposes, enabling investment risk to be managed through
a diversified portfolio. Investments are spread in a balanced
portfolio which includes shares, property, bonds and cash.
A detailed investment policy provides guidelines on asset
allocation and social responsibility issues and is regularly
reviewed by the board.
A detailed investment policy provides guidelines on asset
allocation and social responsibility issues and is regularly
reviewed by the board.
The investment objectives of the Trust are to ensure that, where
appropriate, capital is preserved and increased by an amount at
least equal to the rate of inflation, and that an income return of
4.5% is achieved.
As at 31 December 2019 total investments were $243.0 million
($208.8: 2018). Over the last 10 years the trusts have delivered
an average return on investment of 8.5% per annum.

2019 ACHIEVEMENTS
The Trusts reported a net surplus of $36.4 million for the year
to 31 December 2019. This compares with a budgeted surplus
of $11.0 million and 2018 actual deficit of $4.9 million. The
favourable variance was primarily driven by unrealised gains
on share investments due to market conditions.
The net return on investment for the year was 19.7% compared
with a budgeted return of 7.9% and a return of 0.3% in 2018.
Distributions to the University were $10.3 million compared with
a budget of $10.5 million and actual of $10.6 million in 2018.

UNIVERSITY OF OTAGO FOUNDATION
STUDIES LIMITED
OVERVIEW
Incorporated in 1996, University of Otago Foundation Studies
Limited (FSL) provides transition pathways to degree-level
study at the University of Otago.
FSL comprises two distinct functional areas: Foundation
Year and the Language Centre. The Foundation Year
prepares students for degree-level study at the University.
While originally conceived as a programme primarily
for international students, Foundation Year has become
increasingly important as a transition pathway for New
Zealand students as well. It includes the Tu Kahika Programme
for Māori students wishing to prepare for study in the health
sciences and its Pacific equivalent, the Pacific Foundation
Programme. The Language Centre provides English language
tuition to both groups and individuals, almost exclusively from
overseas of recent resident status. In many cases, that tuition
develops students’ English language ability so they can proceed
to study at Foundation Year and at the University.
2019 ACHIEVEMENTS
In 2019, the Foundation Year provided academic tuition to 226
Equivalent Full Time Students (EFTS), down from 268 EFTS
in 2018. This decline was due to a decrease in international
enrolments, whilst domestic enrolments increased slightly.
In 2019, the Language Centre provided English language
tuition to 133 EFTS. This was an increase of 16 EFTS (up 13.7%)
on the previous year.
FSL generated an overall operating surplus of $0.2 million
in 2019, which was lower than the operating surplus of $0.8
million in 2018. This reduction was a result of decreased
student numbers across both Foundation Year and the
Language Centre.
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OTAGO INNOVATION LIMITED
OVERVIEW
Otago Innovation Limited (Otago Innovation) was established
in 2002. It is a wholly-owned subsidiary of the University that
has responsibility for the commercialisation of intellectual
property arising from research within the University. Much of
Otago Innovation’s commercialisation activity is centred upon
medical research and biotechnology innovation. However, an
increasing number of ideas are emerging from basic sciences
such as chemistry and physics.
Otago Innovation provides business partners, industry and
investors with information about current University of Otago
projects, their practical applications, their patent status and
market potential. Otago Innovation’s commercialisation
managers assist with the preparation and implementation of
business and marketing plans, assist the commercialisation
process, and ensure key proof of concept targets are managed
and met.
Otago Innovation also runs an annual Otago Innovation Proof
of Concept Grant competition with a $60,000 research grant
awarded to the winning University of Otago application. The
competition is designed to encourage researchers to think
about the possible commercial applications of their research,
including what an end product or service might look like and
who would buy it. A second competition – the Translational
Research Grant [$50,000] – is open to Division of Health
Sciences staff and achieves a similar purpose.
2019 ACHIEVEMENTS
Forty commercial opportunities were presented to Otago
Innovation in 2019 (2018: 34). Spin-out companies successful in
raising capital during the year included Chitogel Limited and
Ubiquitome Limited. A number of licences were agreed with
pharmaceutical and other companies worldwide, though often
under conditions of confidentiality.
The Otago Innovation Group operating result was a deficit of
$2.2 million ($0.9 million: 2018). The main reasons for this
unfavourable result was the recognition of the liability relating
to investments which is owed the University of Otago and to
researchers. Other contributors to the deficit were lower than
budgeted PreSeed revenue from the Ministry of Business,
Innovation and Employment, and a net deficit from Disease
Research Laboratory (DRL).
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ESTIMATED EXPENDITURE BY OUTPUT CATEGORY
As required under the Education Act 1989, the University of Otago exhibits strong interdependence
between research and teaching, and the utilisation of these activities to serve its communities.
For a university, particularly a research-intensive university such as Otago, it is problematic to link a
single year of financial statements to the long-term output categories of research and teaching.
In addition, there may be several years between when money is expended and the outputs are realised.
For example, there may be several years between the time research funds are utilised to conduct research
and the time that the outputs of that research are realised through a peer-reviewed academic publication;
monies spent teaching a student in 2019 will not result in a fully qualified graduate for several years. For
this reason, reporting against the University’s strategic plan includes several lead and lag indicators of
performance towards achieving these outputs.
Acknowledging these interdependencies, the University of Otago has utilised several high-level
assumptions to estimate the proportion of its 2019 expenditure that is attributable to research and
teaching. These estimates are based on the rolling three-year results of the NZBT+ benchmarking
analysis of all New Zealand universities conducted by Tribal Group15 on behalf of the Tertiary Education
Commission.

$800,000
University Operating Expenditure
($'000)

80
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Research

$400,000
$300,000
$200,000
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$100,000
$0
2018

2019

In addition to core outputs of research and teaching, the University also conducts a substantial amount of
external engagement with its communities. These service activities are assumed to be included within the
interdependent teaching and research activities of the University.

15 Tribal Group is an international provider of educational support services
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NOTES TO SERVICE PERFORMANCE REPORTING
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
1. Reporting Service Performance Information
1.1 The New Zealand Accounting Standards Board (XRB) has issued a Standard for Service Performance Reporting:
Public Benefit Entity Financial Reporting Standard 48 Service Performance Reporting (PBE FRS 48) issued November 2017,
amendments 31 January 2019.
1.2 The PBE FRS 48 Standard requires public benefit entities to apply the requirements to annual financial reports beginning
on or after 1 January 2021. Otago is early adopting this Standard for the year-end 31 December 2019 Annual Report.
1.3 Otago has produced a Methodology document outlining the approach to reporting Service Performance Information
in-line with the PBE FRS 48 Standard. This document is available on our website.
1.4 The University has reported service performance information in prior Annual Reports, however changes are required to
meet the new XRB Standard outlining reporting requirements. The underlying performance indicators are unchanged 		
from prior year and the adoption of the new standard has no material effect on service performance reporting.
1.5 As acknowledged in the PBE FRS 48 Standard, the following attributes apply to the current Service Performance 		
Reporting environment:
		

a) Service performance reporting is an area of reporting that continues to evolve;

		 b) Entities may be subject to a range of service performance reporting requirements, including legislative requirements
		 and may use a variety of performance frameworks; and
		

c) It provides flexibility for entities to determine how best to ‘tell their story’ in an appropriate and meaningful way.

2. University Requirements for Service Performance Reporting
The University has set the following requirements for its Service Performance Reporting:
2.1 Provide users with:
		 a) Sufficient contextual information to understand what the University intends to achieve in broad terms over the 		
		 medium-to long-term and how it goes about this; and
		 b) Information about what the University has done during the reporting period in working towards its broader aims 		
		 and objectives. [FRS 48 para 15]
2.2 Present its Service Performance Information and its financial statements together in the Annual Report. [FRS 48 para 6]
2.3 Present Service Performance Information for the same entity and same reporting period as the financial statements.
[FRS 48 para 11]
2.4 Apply the following qualitative characteristics in the context as described in the Public Benefit Entities’ (PBE) 			
Conceptual Framework: Relevance, Faithful Representation, Understandability, Timeliness, Comparability and 		
Verifiability. [FRS 48 para 7]
2.5 Disclose judgements that have the most significant effect on the selection, measurement, aggregation and presentation of
service performance information. [FRS 48 para 44]
2.6 Provide comparative information. [FRS 48 para 37]
3. Scope of Service Performance Reporting
3.1 The University’s Service Performance Information is contained within several sections of the Service Performance Report, 		
notably the section Performance Against Strategic Plan, as well as the additional reports required for external instruments:
Equal Opportunities Report, Student Services Fee Report, Group Entities Report, and Estimated Expenditure by Output 		
Category.
3.2 PBE FRS 48 states that in reporting about the entity’s objectives and how it intends to achieve them, the information 		
should be drawn from the founding documents, governance documents and accountability documents. As such, Otago 		
has drawn this information from the University’s lead strategic document, Strategic Direction to 2020. This articulates 		
the University Vision, Mission, Values and Strategic Imperatives.
3.3 PBE FRS 48 states judgement is required in deciding how much information to provide about the current reporting 		
period and also how much information to provide about progress towards the long-term objectives. Otago has balanced 		
the information available with the need to report in an understandable and concise manner for the users.
3.4 As acknowledged within PBE FRS 48 and as applicable to Otago, entities are subject to a range of reporting requirements
from different standard bodies. As such the presentation of Service Performance Information by Otago allows for the 		
different reporting requirements.
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4. Selecting and aggregating Service Performance Information
4.1 The level of aggregation used by Otago has been based on:
		

a) Reporting against the Strategic Imperatives.

			 •
			
			
		

b) Reporting Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) for Strategic Imperatives.

			 •
			
			
			
		

This allows Otago to report to stakeholders using strategic objectives that have been developed in consultation 		
with those stakeholders including the wider community. It also provides a framework for units of the University
to use in their own strategic and operational planning.
The University Council sets annually, within the Statement of Service Objectives, the Key Performance Indicators
(KPIs) for each Strategic Imperative. The KPIs relating to each Strategic Imperative are reported against in the 		
Service Performance Information. In previous annual reports, performance against these KPIs was titled the 		
Statement of Service Performance.

c) Reporting by whole-of-University Parent/Group Entity.

			 •
			
			

Due to the cross-functional and inter-related nature of University activities, the most appropriate form of 		
aggregation is at the University level, with a separate report for the most significant entities that comprise the 		
University Group that sit outside the University Parent.

4.2 As acknowledged for entities in the PBE Conceptual Framework, the pervasive constraints on reporting Service 		
Performance Information are materiality, cost-benefit and balance between timeliness, understandability and relevance
of information for the end users.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW 2019
The University Group, which includes the University of Otago,
University of Otago Holdings Limited and the University of
Otago Foundation Trust, achieved an operating surplus of
$42.9 million for the year, $9.1 million (26.9%) higher than
the budget.
This surplus was $15.9 million higher than last year’s Group
surplus of $27.0 million largely due to very high investment
returns for the University of Otago Foundation Trust as
financial markets recovered from the low point at the end
of 2018 and grew strongly throughout 2019. Unfortunately
market returns have fallen significantly during 2020 due to the
anticipated impacts of COVID-19 on markets worldwide.
This surplus represented a return of 5.5% on revenue of $779.1
million and 2.0% on equity of $2.1 billion. These results
were above the Tertiary Education Commission’s minimum
guidelines of 3.0% and 1.2% respectively.
The University Parent’s operating surplus for the year was $8.4
million which was $13.6 million (61.8%) lower than budget.
There were two main contributors to this adverse performance
against budget. A $7.1 million actuarial adjustment was made
to employee liabilities, largely retirement gratuities, due to the
lowering of long-term interest rates. This adjustment is a noncash item, as these payments will occur many years into the
future. In addition, an accrual of $4.5 million was made to reflect
liabilities arising from compliance with the Holiday Pay Act.
Capital expenditure for the Group was $137.9 million which
was $27.1 million (16.4%) lower than 2018, as some major
projects faced delays due to adverse ground conditions and
dealing with asbestos remediation.
The University of Otago Foundation Trust recorded an
operating surplus of $36.4 million for the year, against a
budgeted surplus of $11.0 million, due to very strong investment
returns. The net return on investment for the year was 19.7%
and the average net return over the last 10 years was 8.5%.
Operating cash flow for the Group for the year was a net inflow
of $88.4 million which was 15.5 million lower than 2018. This
was largely due to trade creditors balances reducing by $16
million year on year.
The Group continued to invest heavily in fixed assets (mainly
buildings). Cash outflows for fixed assets of $137.1 million were
$7.6 million lower than 2018.

The University continues to fund capital expenditure from
operating cash flow, surplus and cash reserves, but is forecasting
to commence borrowing for the first time late in 2020.
Total assets for the Group were $2.4 billion for the year, an
increase of $127.5 million over 2018 mainly due to an increase
in fixed assets. Land and buildings were revalued at the end of
2019 resulting in an increase of $65.7 million (3.5%).
The impact of COVID-19 has been hugely disruptive across
all areas of University parent and Group operations, and will
have a significant financial impact in 2020 and, potentially,
beyond. However, to estimate the extent of that impact with
any confidence is not possible at this time.
SHARON VAN TURNHOUT
Chief Financial Officer
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STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITY
2019 Financial Statements 								
1. The Council and management of the University of Otago and Group accept responsibility for the preparation of the
annual financial statements and the Service Performance Report and the judgements used in them;
											
2. The Council and management of the University of Otago accept responsibility for establishing and maintaining a
system of internal control designed to provide reasonable assurance as to the integrity and reliability of the financial
reporting; and
												
3. In the opinion of the Council and management of the University of Otago, the annual financial statements and the
Service Performance Report for the year ended 31 December 2019 fairly reflect the financial position and operations
of the University of Otago and Group.
												
												

					
Dr R.J. SOMERVILLE QC
Chancellor
21 April 2020

PROFESSOR H. HAYNE
Vice-Chancellor

21 April 2020
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE REVENUE AND EXPENSE
For the year ended 31 December 2019
Consolidated
University Restated
		Actual
Budget
Actual
Actual
Budget
Actual
		2019
2019
2018
2019
2019
2018
Note
$’000
$’000
$’000
$’000
$’000
$’000
REVENUE							
4,5

248,727

250,703

243,554

247,499

249,475

242,261

Tuition fees

4

170,043

172,595

165,352

165,509

167,072

159,993

Trust donations

4

6,804

6,500

6,242

-

-

-

4,7

46,331

18,841

7,323

3,928

2,305

5,998

Externally-funded research

4

137,939

139,855

133,985

137,673

139,132

133,655

Performance-Based Research Funding

4

62,234

63,574

63,410

62,234

63,574

63,410

Distributions from trust funds 		

-

-

-

10,333

10,452

10,615

4

80,697

79,035

77,870

81,549

80,370

80,080

Sale of intellectual property 		

584

539

660

1,950

144

161

Other revenue 		

25,769

24,422

28,742

25,800

24,408

40,351

4

779,128

756,064

727,138

736,475

736,932

736,524

Government grants

Investment revenue

Consulting and commercial revenue

Total revenue

EXPENDITURE							
Salaries – academic 		

221,905

223,980

219,025

219,873

221,836

216,842

Salaries – professional 		

174,234

162,296

165,959

171,189

159,246

162,844

Staff-related costs 		

32,957

24,980

25,156

32,832

24,774

24,976

Consumables and general 		

140,430

147,859

135,380

137,776

146,298

135,058

Depreciation and amortisation expense 6,12,13

70,419

70,550

66,162

70,243

70,300

65,980

Occupancy costs

45,098

44,105

42,276

45,043

43,999

42,252

Scholarships 		

50,415

48,393

45,616

50,415

48,393

45,616

7

134

86

(8)

211

86

211

Other expenses 		

630

-

607

494

-

454

Total operating expenditure		

736,222

722,249

700,173

728,076

714,932

694,233

Surplus/(deficit) 		

42,906

33,815

26,965

8,399

22,000

42,291

Gain on revaluation of land and buildings		

65,715

-

1,465

65,715

-

-

Total comprehensive revenue and expense		
108,621
33,815
28,430
74,114
22,000
						

42,291

Finance costs

108,621

33,815

28,430

74,114

22,000

42,291

Non-controlling interest		

-

-

-

-

-

-

		

108,621

33,815

28,430

74,114

22,000

42,291

University of Otago Group

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
As at 31 December 2019
Consolidated
University
		Actual
Budget
Actual
Actual
Budget
		2019
2019
2018
2019
2019
Note
$’000
$’000
$’000
$’000
$’000
ASSETS						

Restated
Actual
2018
$’000

Current assets								
Cash and cash equivalents
8
23,246
15,320
47,336
17,555
5,000
34,987
Trade and other receivables
and prepayments

9

52,680

40,725

45,622

58,371

33,940

45,103

Other financial assets

10

44,854

12,500

66,366

19,497

1

49,951

Inventories 		

1,043

1,169

1,175

1,044

1,169

1,172

Total current assets 		

121,823

69,714

160,499

96,467

40,110

131,213

Non-current assets								
Investments in associates
and joint ventures
22
4,395
4,338
4,338
Investments in subsidiaries

11

-

-

-

7,786

7,786

7,786

Other financial assets

11

224,372

224,898

191,007

29,993

34,580

30,673

Property, plant and equipment

12

2,016,251

2,073,312

1,882,960

2,014,184

1,956,426

1,880,334

Intangible assets

13

25,719

14,052

26,247

25,680

14,052

26,184

Total non-current assets		

2,270,737

2,316,600

2,104,552

2,077,643

2,012,844

1,944,977

Total assets 		

2,392,560

2,386,314

2,265,051

2,174,110

2,052,954

2,076,190

LIABILITIES							
Current liabilities								
Trade and other payables and accruals
14
48,463
68,517
64,053
55,577
67,923
66,430
Employee entitlements

15

59,108

54,258

56,542

58,776

54,081

56,143

Deferred revenue

16

80,685

57,068

58,763

78,499

55,195

56,758

Other current liabilities 		

364

-

-

364

-

-

Total current liabilities 		

188,620

179,843

179,358

193,216

177,199

179,331

17

53,481

45,103

44,891

53,481

45,103

44,891

Loans 		

1,108

72,418

973

-

71,570

-

Total non-current liabilities		

54,589

117,521

45,864

53,481

116,673

44,891

Total liabilities 		

243,209

297,364

225,222

246,697

293,872

224,222

Net assets 		

2,149,351

2,088,950

2,039,829

1,927,413

1,759,082

1,851,968

Non-current liabilities
Employee entitlements

EQUITY							
Accumulated funds

18

1,099,494

1,063,065

1,055,613

877,508

749,038

867,778

Other reserves

18

1,049,905

1,025,885

984,190

1,049,905

1,010,044

984,190

Total equity attributable to the University 		

2,149,399

2,088,950

2,039,803

1,927,413

1,759,082

1,851,968

(48)

-

26

-

-

-

2,149,351

2,088,950

2,039,829

1,927,413

1,759,082

1,851,968

Minority interest
Total equity 		

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the year ended 31 December 2019

		Actual
		2019
Note
$’000

Consolidated
Budget
2019
$’000

Balance at 1 January		
2,039,829 2,055,135

University
Budget
2019
$’000

Restated
Actual
2018
$’000

Actual
2018
$’000

Actual
2019
$’000

2,012,597

1,851,968

1,737,082

1,697,365

Total comprehensive revenue and
expenses previously reported 		

108,621

33,815

28,430

74,114

22,000

42,291

Hocken collection 		

-

-

-

-

-

113,535

Equity adjustments 		

922

-

-

1,331

-

-

Capital injection from non-controlling interest

(21)

-

26

-

-

-

Revaluation adjustment 		

-

-

(1,224)

-

-

(1,223)

Balance at 31 December 		

2,149,351

2,088,950

2,039,829

1,927,413

1,759,082

1,851,968

University of Otago Group

108,621

33,815

28,430

74,114

22,000

42,291

Total comprehensive revenue and expenses		

108,621

33,815

28,430

74,114

22,000

42,291

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the year ended 31 December 2019
ACCOUNTING POLICY
Included in the Statement of Cash Flows is the year-end balance – bank and deposits which consists of cash on hand, bank
account balances plus call deposits or call loans that form part of the day-to-day cash management of the University.
The cash flows are classified into three sources:
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Includes cash received from all income sources of the University and cash payments made for the supply of goods and services.
Agency transactions are recognised as receipts and payments in the statements of cash flows given that they flow through the
University’s main bank account.
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
The sources and uses of cash in this category include the sale and purchase of long-term investments and purchases of land and
buildings and other operational property, plant and equipment. Cash received from the sale of surplus and used assets is also
recorded under this heading. Infrastructural assets include new assets and major work undertaken that improves the value of
the asset from the depreciated replacement cost recorded in the Statement of Financial Position.
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Under this category the cash received from new loans raised and the repayment of maturing debt is recorded. Short-term
borrowings are loans with a fixed term of less than one year i.e. not repayable at call.

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the year ended 31 December 2019

		Actual
		2019
Note
$’000

Consolidated
Budget
2019
$’000

Actual
2018
$’000

Actual
2019
$’000

University
Budget
2019
$’000

Actual
2018
$’000

Cash Flows from Operating Activities							
Subsidies and grants received		
314,691
314,277
304,994
313,463
313,049
303,701
Fees and charges received 		

188,261

187,279

177,858

189,602

180,622

172,455

Interest received 		

9,786

12,557

15,912

4,533

2,705

6,562

Receipts from other revenue		

243,288

254,731

232,213

237,955

242,538

235,856

		

756,026

768,844

730,977

745,553

738,914

718,574

Payments to suppliers and employees		

667,644

653,129

627,089

656,480

640,455

615,386

25

88,382

115,715

103,888

89,073

98,459

103,188

Net cash flow from operating activities

Cash Flows from Investing Activities								
Receipts from sale of property, plant,
and equipment		
119
624
102
618
64,559

557

95,440

30,891

557

59,543

64,678

557

96,064

30,993

557

60,161

12,13 137,087

227,717

144,677

137,498

227,897

144,476

Acquisition of investments		

40,056

20,123

33,327

-

-

-

Net cash flow from investing activities		

(112,465)

(247,283)

(81,940)

(106,505)

(227,340)

(84,315)

Receipts from sale of investments		

Purchase of property, plant and equipment

Cash Flows from Financing Activities							
Proceeds from borrowings 		
69,253
71,570
Repayment of borrowings		

(7)

-

-

-

-

-

Net cash flow from financing activities		

(7)

69,253

-

-

71,570

-

Net (decrease)/increase in cash, cash
equivalents and bank overdrafts 		

(24,090)

(62,315)

21,948

(17,432)

(57,311)

18,873

Cash, cash equivalents, and bank overdrafts
at the beginning of the year		

47,336

77,635

25,388

34,987

62,311

16,114

23,246

15,320

47,336

17,555

5,000

34,987

Cash, cash equivalents and bank
overdrafts at the end of the year

8

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2019

1. STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES
1.1 REPORTING ENTITY
The financial statements of the University of Otago and Group and its subsidiaries for the year ended 31 December 2019 were
authorised for issue by Council on 21 April 2020.
The University of Otago was founded in 1869 by an Ordinance of the Otago Provincial Council and is New Zealand’s
oldest University. In 1874 the University of Otago became an affiliated college of the University of New Zealand, which was
established by statute in 1870. However, in 1961 the University of New Zealand was disestablished and the University of Otago
acquired its present legal status and was granted the power to confer degrees by the University of Otago Amendment Act 1961.
The University is a Tertiary Education Institution governed by the Crown Entities Act 2004 and the Education Act 1989.
The financial statements presented here are for the reporting entity, University of Otago (Parent) and the Group, consisting of
subsidiary and associate companies, joint ventures and controlled trusts.
The Group subsidiary and associate companies and joint ventures are:
•

University of Otago Holdings Limited. Holding company. 100% owned by the University.

•

Otago Innovation Limited. Company to hold and develop the commercial interests of the University. 100% owned by
University of Otago Holdings Limited.

•

University of Otago Foundation Studies Limited. Operates the Foundation Year programme and an English language
school. 100% owned by University of Otago Holdings Limited.

•

University Union Limited. Owner of the University Union building. 50% owned by University of Otago Holdings Limited.

•

BPAC NZ Limited. This company works with the Division of Health Sciences to provide best-practice advocacy services to
primary, secondary and tertiary health providers in the area of medication prescribing. 17% owned by University of Otago
Holdings Limited.

•

Upstart Incubation Trustee Company Limited. Non-operational – has no assets or liabilities. 33% owned by University of
Otago Holdings Limited.

•

Disease Research Limited. Diagnostics of health and disease in ruminants, located at Invermay. 100% owned by Otago
Innovation Limited.

•

Otakou Health Limited. 33% owned by University of Otago Holdings Limited. Owner of community health facility.

•

Silventum Limited. Commercialising dental material incorporating nano silver. 59% owned by Otago Innovation Limited.

•

Insitugen Limited. A non-operating shelf company. 100% owned by University of Otago Holdings Limited to build on
exposure and start developing brand awareness around commercial applications of the androgen assays.

The controlled trusts include the University of Otago Foundation Trust, the Otago University Trust (UK) and the Hocken
Collection, established for the benefit of the University of Otago. The University is the beneficiary of all the trusts and appoints
the trustees for all the trusts, apart from the Otago University Trust (UK).
The primary objective of the University and Group is to provide goods and services for the community for social benefit rather
than make a financial return. Accordingly, the University has designated itself and the Group as public benefit entities for the
purposes of financial reporting.
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Crown Entities Act 2004 and Section
203 of the Education Act 1989, which include the requirement to comply with generally accepted accounting practice (GAAP)
in New Zealand.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED
For the year ended 31 December 2019

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are set out below.
These policies have been consistently applied to the opening balance sheet and reporting period to 31 December 2019, unless
otherwise stated.
2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION
The financial statements have been prepared on the going-concern basis, and the accounting policies have been applied
consistently throughout the period unless otherwise stated.
Measurement base
The accounting principles followed by the Group are those recognised as appropriate for the measurement and reporting of
financial performance and financial position on a historical cost basis, with the exception that certain property, plant and
equipment have been revalued and some other financial assets have been shown at fair value.
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Tier 1 Public Benefit Entity (PBE) accounting standards. These
financial statements comply with PBE accounting standards.
Functional and presentation currency
The financial statements are presented in New Zealand dollars and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand dollars
($’000). The functional currency of the University and its subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures is New Zealand dollars.
Transactions and balances in foreign currencies are converted at the New Zealand rate of exchange ruling at the date of the
transaction and balance date respectively. Foreign exchange gains and losses have been recognised in the surplus or deficit.
Budget figures
The budget figures have been prepared in accordance with NZ GAAP and are consistent with the accounting policies adopted
by the University for the preparation of the financial statements. The budget was approved by Council on 13 November 2018.
Reclassification of prior year balances
Where the presentation of balances has been changed in the current year, prior year balances have also been reclassified for
consistency.
Standards, amendments, and interpretations issued that are not yet effective and have not been
early adopted
PBE IPSAS 41 Financial Instruments replaces PBE IPSAS 29 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement and PBE
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments and is effective for financial years beginning on or after 1 January 2022, with earlier adoption
permitted. The main changes compared to PBE IPSAS 29 that are relevant to the University and Group are:
•
•

New financial asset classification requirements for determining whether an asset is measured at fair value or amortised cost;
A new impairment model for financial assets based on expected losses, which might result in the earlier recognition of
impairment losses.

The University and Group intends to adopt PBE IPSAS 41 for the 31 December 2022 financial year. The University and Group
has not yet assessed in detail the impact of the new standard.
An amendment to PBE IPSAS 2 Statement of Cash Flows requires entities to provide disclosures that enable users of financial
statements to evaluate changes in liabilities arising from financing activities, including both changes arising from cash flows
and non-cash changes. This amendment is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021, with early
application permitted. The University and Group does not intend to early adopt the amendment.
Other amendments
Public Benefit Entities are required to apply the requirements of the PBE FRS 48 Standard to annual reports beginning on or
after 1 January 2021. The University and Group is early adopting this Standard for the year ended 31 December 2019 Annual
Report. The underlying performance indicators are unchanged from prior year and the adoption of the new standard has no
material effect on service performance reporting.
While there are other amendments issued and not yet effective, the University and Group does not consider these to be
relevant and therefore no information has been disclosed about these amendments.
Critical accounting estimates and assumptions
In preparing these financial statements, estimates and assumptions have been made concerning the future. These estimates
and assumptions may differ from the subsequent actual results. Estimates and assumptions are continually evaluated and are
based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations or future events that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below.
Property revaluations
Note 12 provides information about the estimates and assumptions exercised in the measurement of revalued land, buildings
and infrastructure.
Retirement gratuities
Note 17 provides information about the estimates and assumptions exercised in the measurement of retirement gratuities.
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2.2 BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION
The consolidated financial statements are prepared adding together like items of assets, liabilities, equity, revenue and
expenses on a line-by-line basis. All significant intragroup balances, transactions, revenue and expenses are eliminated on
consolidation.
The accounting standard PBE IPSAS 35 Consolidated Financial Statements came into effect for periods beginning on or after
1 January 2019 and was adopted for the first time by the University and Group in the 2019 financial statements. Additionally,
the University has reassessed its accounting for the Hocken Collection Trust (an unincorporated registered charity known as
the Hocken Collection). Previously, the University’s judgement was that the Hocken Collection was a separate entity controlled
by the University and recorded only in the group financial statements. On transition to PBE IPSAS 35, the University
reconsidered the status of the Hocken Collection and concluded that the Hocken Collection is now considered not to be a
separate legal entity as it is the sole trustee of the unincorporated trust. The judgement now is that the appropriate accounting
policy is to account for the Hocken Collection as an asset held directly by the University, albeit with restrictions and under
the trust. Note 28 provides information on the effect of restating the comparative year University financial statements for the
change in accounting for the Hocken Collection.
The financial statements include the operations of the University of Otago, its subsidiary and associate companies and its
controlled trusts. The subsidiary companies and trusts have been included in the consolidated accounts by line aggregation
of assets, liabilities, revenues, expenses and cash flows. Associate companies have been consolidated on an equity accounting
basis, which shows the share of the surpluses and/or deficits in the University and Group Statement of Comprehensive Revenue
and Expenditure and the share of post-acquisition increases and/or decreases in net assets in the University and Group
Statement of Financial Position.
Subsidiaries
The University consolidates in the group financial statements those entities it controls. Control exists where the University and
Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable benefits (either financial or non-financial) and has the ability to affect the nature
and amount of those benefits from its power over the entity. Power can exist over an entity if, by virtue of its purpose and
design, the relevant activities and the way in which the relevant activities of the entity can be directed has been predetermined
by the University and Group.
Investments in subsidiaries are measured at cost in the University’s parent financial statements.
2.3 INCOME TAX AND GOODS AND SERVICES TAX
The University Group is exempt from income tax. Accordingly, no provision has been made for income tax.
The financial statements are prepared on a basis which excludes GST. Accounts receivable and accounts payable are GST
inclusive. GST owing to the Inland Revenue Department as at 31 December 2019 has been included in trade payables.
2.4 ACC PARTNERSHIP PROGRAMME
The University belongs to the ACC Partnership Programme at the secondary level, whereby the University accepts the
management of workplace injuries through rehabilitation, case management, injury prevention and work safety management
practices. Under the ACC Partnership Programme, the University is effectively providing accident insurance to employees.
The value of this liability represents the expected future payments in relation to accidents and illnesses occurring up to the
balance date for which the University has responsibility under the terms of the Partnership Programme.
The liability for claims reported prior to balance date has been determined by assuming that the future experience for each
current claim is consistent with historical claim information since the commencement of the programme. The liability for
injuries or illnesses that have occurred up to balance date, but not yet reported, has been determined by reference to historical
information of the time it takes to report injury or illness.
The value of the liability is measured at the present value of the future payments for which the University has responsibility.
The value of the liability includes a risk margin that represents the inherent uncertainty of the present value of the expected
future payments. No allowance has been made in the financial statements for an ACC liability, as it is deemed to be immaterial.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED
For the year ended 31 December 2019

3. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS				
The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial instrument risks, including market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk.
The University and Group have a series of policies to manage the risks associated with financial instruments.
To manage and limit the effects of those risks, the University Council has approved policy guidelines and authorised the use of
various financial instruments. Compliance is monitored monthly and deviations from the target are reported to the Finance
and Budget Committee, the University of Otago Foundation Trust or the Foreign Exchange Risk Management Committee.
(A) FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT CATEGORIES				
The accounting policies for financial instruments have been applied to the line items below:		
				
				
FINANCIAL ASSETS
			

Consolidated
2019
2018
$’000
$’000

Fair value through surplus or deficit – held for trading				
Listed shares 			
165,418

University
2019
2018
$’000
$’000

139,413

136

386

Unlisted shares 				

5,672

4,241

-

-

Total fair value through surplus or deficit – held for trading		

171,090

143,654

136

386

Loans and receivables
Cash and cash equivalents 			

23,246

47,337

17,555

34,988

Receivables 				

40,044

35,309

45,827

34,892

44,329

66,516

20,000

49,500

Other financial assets:
-

Term deposits 			

-

Loans 				

5,353

5,739

5,353

5,739

-

Corporate bonds 				

49,453

41,465

-

-

-

Shares in subsidiaries 				

-

-

7,786

7,786

-

Investment in in-substance subsidiary 				

-

-

25,000

25,000

-

Investments in associates and joint ventures 			

4,395

4,338

-

-

Total loans and receivables 				

166,820

200,704

121,521

157,905

				
				

Consolidated
2019
2018
$’000
$’000

University
2019
2018
$’000
$’000

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES				
Financial liabilities at amortised cost
			
Payables				
48,513

64,053

55,627

66,430

Loans and leases 				

1,108

973

-

-

Total financial liabilities at amortised cost				

49,621

65,026

55,627

66,430
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(B) MARKET RISK										
Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in
foreign exchange rates.
The University purchases goods and services from overseas exposing it to currency risk. The University of Otago Foundation
Trust’s investment portfolio invests in shares and bonds denominated in foreign currency, which also exposes it to currency risk.
The University and Group manages currency risks associated with the purchase of goods and services from overseas that are
above specified amounts by entering into forward foreign exchange contracts. This allows the University and Group to fix the
New Zealand dollar amount payable prior to the payment date. Hedge accounting is not applied. The Group has a Foreign
Exchange Risk Management Committee that oversees this risk by applying the foreign exchange policy approved by Council.
The University of Otago Foundation Trust’s investment portfolio’s exposure to currency risk is mitigated to an extent through
diversification of investments across different currencies in accordance with the investment policy.		
The Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk at the reporting date was as follows:				
USD
$’000
Cash and cash equivalents foreign
bank accounts
Equities

4
6,940

2019
AUD
EUR
$’000
$’000

GBP
$’000

USD
$’000

AUD
$’000

		

2,033

21

8,470 			

5,879

1,078

2,165

2018

EUR
$’000

GBP
$’000

232

217

Price risk							
Price risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate as a result of changes
in market prices. Equity securities price risk arises on listed share investments, which are classified as available for sale
investments.
The price sensitivity impact on the surplus is based on a 5% movement in each of the following indexes with all other variables
held constant.								
			
Consolidated
Impact on the surplus
Impact on equity
Actual
Actual
Actual
Actual
Index
2019
2018
2019
2018
$’000
$’000
$’000
$’000
2,685 		

3,040

2,685

NZX50		
5,490
3,848 		

5,490

3,848

515

438

ASX 200 		
NYSE International 100 		

3,040
515

438 		

Interest rate risk						
Fair value interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in market interest
rates. Investments issued at fixed rates of interest create exposure to fair value interest rate risk. The University and Group do
not actively manage their exposure to fair value interest rate risk.					
Surplus (the Group)
Movement in interest rate

2019
$’000

2018
$’000

Equity (the Group)
2019
$’000

2018
$’000

0.5% (50 basis points) higher for the year							
Interest received		

331

417		331

417

Explanation of interest rate risk sensitivity							
The interest rate sensitivity is based on a reasonable possible movement in interest rates, with all other variables held
constant, measured as a basis points (bps) movement. For example, a decrease in 50 bps is equivalent to a decrease in
interest rates of 0.5%.										
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(C) CREDIT RISK										
The University and Group have no significant concentrations of credit risk. Credit risk is the risk that a third party will default
on its obligation to the University and Group, causing the University and Group to incur a deficit. Credit risk arises from cash
and cash equivalents, deposits with banks and financial institutions, credit exposures to receivables and other debtors as well
as derivative financial instruments.
In the normal course of business, the University and Group are exposed to credit risk from cash and term deposits with
banks, debtors and other receivables, corporate bonds, listed shares, other loans and pledged donations. For each of these, the
maximum credit exposure is best represented by the carrying amount in the Statement of Financial Position.
The University and Group control the amount of credit exposure to any one financial institution for cash and term deposits
by limiting the maximum funds that can be placed on deposit. The maximum deposit that can be held in any single registered
bank, where the bank has a Standard and Poors’ credit rating of at least AA-, is 33% of the value of deposits. This reduces to 5%
where the bank has a Standard and Poors’ credit rating of at least BBB.
The University and Group hold no collateral or other credit enhancements for financial instruments that give rise to credit risk.
Maximum exposure to credit risk								
The University and Group’s maximum credit exposures for each class of financial instruments are as follows:
				
				

Consolidated
2019
2018
$’000
$’000

University
2019
2018
$’000
$’000

Cash at bank and term deposits				

65,032

113,852

36,555

84,488

Receivables				
32,046

35,308

36,332

34,892

			

5,353

5,739

5,353

5,739

Corporate bonds 				

49,453

41,465

-

-

Total credit risk 				

151,884

196,364

78,240

125,119

Loans

Credit quality of financial assets									
The credit quality of financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired can be assessed by reference to Standard and Poor’s
credit ratings (if available), or to historical information about counterparty default rates.
Impairment of a loan or receivable is established when there is objective evidence that the University and Group will not
be able to collect amounts due according to the original terms of the debt. Significant financial difficulties of the debtor,
probability that the debtor will enter into bankruptcy and default in payments are considered indicators that the asset is
impaired. The amount of the impairment is the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of
estimated future cash flows, discounted using the original effective interest rate. For debtors and other receivables, the
carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of a provision account and the amount of the loss is recognised in
the surplus or deficit. When the receivable is uncollectable, it is written off against the provision account. Overdue receivables
that have been renegotiated are reclassified as current (i.e. not past due). For other financial assets, impairment losses are
recognised directly against the instrument’s carrying amount.					
Consolidated
University
				 2019
2018
2019
2018
				 $’000
$’000
$’000
$’000
Counterparties with credit ratings
Cash at bank and term bank deposits							
AA-				
52,871

91,596

35,055

73,488

A 				

-

14,103

-

11,000

BBB 				

12,161

8,051

1,500

-

Total cash at bank and term deposits 				

65,032

113,750

36,555

84,488
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Consolidated
2019
2018
$’000
$’000

University
2019
2018
$’000
$’000

Stock and government bonds								
AA+				
1,114
1,055
AA 				

4,812

1,760

-

-

AA- 				

6,346

6,599

-

-

A+ 				

1,072

1,023

-

-

A 				

2,524

1,520

-

-

A- 				

7,925

6,499

-

-

BBB+ 				

15,361

13,573

-

-

BBB 				

3,805

2,945

-

-

Not rated 				

6,495

6,489

-

-

Total corporate bonds 				

49,454

41,463

-

-

Counterparties without credit ratings
Debtors and other receivables 				

32,046

35,308

36,332

34,892

Existing counterparty with no defaults in the past 			

5,353

5,739

5,353

5,739

Total community and related-party loans 				

37,399

41,047

41,685

40,631

(D) LIQUIDITY RISK										
Liquidity risk is the risk that the University and Group will encounter difficulty raising funds to meet commitments as they fall due.
Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and liquid assets, the availability of funding through an
adequate amount of committed credit facilities and the ability to close out market positions.
The University and Group manages liquidity risk by continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash flow requirements and
matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities.
Contractual maturity analysis of financial assets and liabilities
The table below analyses financial assets and liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at
balance date to the contractual maturity date.									
		
Less
Between
Between
Over
Total
Carrying
		
than
1 and 2
2 and 5
5 years
contractual Amount
		
1 year
years
years		
cash flows
(assets)/		
							
liabilities
		$’000
$’000
$’000
$’000
$’000
$’000
CONSOLIDATED 2019										
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents 		

23,246

-

-

-

23,246

23,246

Bank term deposits 		

30,896

-

-

-

30,896

30,896

Corporate bonds 		

1,028

10,160

26,373

11,892

49,453

49,453

496

419

1,152

3,286

5,353

5,353

Total financial assets		

55,666

10,579

27,525

15,178

108,948

108,948

Payables and accruals 		

48,463

-

-

-

48,463

48,463

Loans 		

-

-

-

1,108

1,108

1,108

Total financial liabilities 		

48,463

-

-

1,108

49,571

49,571

Loans
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Less
Between
Between
Over
Total
Carrying
		
than
1 and 2
2 and 5
5 years
contractual Amount
		
1 year
years
years		
cash flows
(assets)/		
							
liabilities
		$’000
$’000
$’000
$’000
$’000
$’000
CONSOLIDATED 2018
									
Cash and cash equivalents 		

47,337

-

-

-

47,337

47,337

Bank term deposits 		

66,516

-

-

-

66,516

66,516

Receivables		

35,309

-

-

-

35,309

35,309

Corporate bonds 		

7,721

1,031

21,107

11,606

41,465

41,465

Loans 		

451

443

1,190

3,654

5,738

5,738

Total financial assets		

157,334

1,474

22,297

15,260

196,365

196,365

Financial liabilities
Payables and accruals 		

64,053

-

-

-

64,053

64,053

Loans 		

-

-

-

973

973

973

Total financial liabilities 		

64,053

-

-

973

65,026

65,026

UNIVERSITY 2019							
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents 		

17,555

-

-

-

17,555

17,555

Bank term deposits 		

20,000

-

-

-

20,000

20,000

Receivables 		

36,332

-

-

-

36,332

36,332

Loans 		

496

419

1,152

3,286

5,353

5,353

Total financial assets 		

74,383

419

1,152

3,286

79,240

79,240

Financial liabilities
Payables and accruals		

55,627

-

-

-

55,627

55,627

Total financial liabilities 		

55,627

-

-

-

55,627

55,627

UNIVERSITY 2018							
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents 		

34,988

-

-

-

34,988

34,988

Bank term deposits 		

49,500

-

-

-

49,500

49,500

Receivables 		

34,892

-

-

-

34,892

34,892

Loans 		

451

444

1,190

3,654

5,739

5,739

Total financial assets 		

119,831

444

1,190

3,654

125,119

125,119

Financial liabilities
Payables and accruals		

66,430

-

-

-

66,430

66,430

Total financial liabilities 		

66,430

-

-

-

66,430

66,430
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The table below analyses the Group’s non-derivative financial liabilities and net-settled derivative financial liabilities into relevant
maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the Statement of Financial Position date to the contractual maturity date.
Derivative financial liabilities are included in the analysis if their contractual maturities are essential for an understanding of the
timing of the cash flows. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows.
		
Less than
		
1 month
			
		$’000

Between
1 and 3
months
$’000

Between
3 and 12
months
$’000

339

7,077

Between
1 and 3
months
$’000

Between
3 and 12
months
$’000

327

-

Between
1 and 3
months
$’000

Between
3 and 12
months
$’000

339

7,077

Between
1 and 3
months
$’000

Between
3 and 12
months
$’000

327

-

Between
Total
1 and 2		
years		
$’000
$’000

Carrying
amount
liabilities
$’000

CONSOLIDATED – ACTUAL 2019
Forward foreign exchange contracts		

69

		
Less than
		
1 month
			
CONSOLIDATED – ACTUAL 2018		$’000
Forward foreign exchange contracts		

1,499

		
Less than
		
1 month
			
		$’000

3,719

11,204

Between
Total
1 and 2		
years		
$’000
$’000
-

1,826

Between
Total
1 and 2		
years		
$’000
$’000

11,204

Carrying
amount
liabilities
$’000
1,826

Carrying
amount
liabilities
$’000

UNIVERSITY – ACTUAL 2019
Forward foreign exchange contracts		

69

		
Less than
		
1 month
			
		$’000
UNIVERSITY – ACTUAL 2018
Forward foreign exchange contracts		

1,499

3,719

11,204

Between
Total
1 and 2		
years		
$’000
$’000
-

1,826

11,204

Carrying
amount
liabilities
$’000		
1,826
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(E) FAIR VALUE ESTIMATION								
For those instruments recognised at fair value in the Statement of Financial Position, fair values are determined according to
the following hierarchy:
•

Quoted market price (level 1) – financial instruments with quoted prices for identical instruments in active markets;

•

Valuation techniques using observable inputs (level 2) – financial instruments with quoted prices for similar instruments
in active markets or quoted prices for identical or similar instruments in inactive markets and financial instruments
valued using models where all significant inputs are observable;

•

Valuation techniques with significant non-observable inputs (level 3) – financial instruments valued using models where
one or more significant inputs are not observable.							

The following table analyses the basis of the valuation of classes of financial instruments measured at fair value in the
Statement of Financial Position:								
			
Total
Quoted
Observable
Significant
				
market price
inputs
non-observable
						 inputs
31 DECEMBER 2019 - CONSOLIDATED						
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents

28,465

28,465

-

-

Bank term deposits

37,612

37,612

-

-

Corporate bonds

49,453

49,453

-

-

165,418

165,418

-

-

Investments in associates and joint ventures

4,395

-

4,395

-

Shares in unlisted companies

5,672

-

-

5,672

Loans

5,353

-

5,353

-

296,368

280,948

9,748

5,672

Listed shares

Total financial assets

Total
Quoted
Observable
Significant
		
market price
inputs
non-observable
				inputs
31 DECEMBER 2018 - CONSOLIDATED				
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents

47,337

47,337

-

-

Bank term deposits

66,516

66,516

-

-

Corporate bonds

41,465

41,465

-

-

139,413

139,413

-

-

Investments in associates and joint ventures

4,338

-

4,338

-

Shares in unlisted companies

4,241

-

-

4,241

Loans

5,739

-

5,739

-

309,049

294,731

10,077

4,241

Listed shares

Total financial assets
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Total
Quoted
Observable
Significant
		
market price
inputs
non-observable		
				
inputs		
31 DECEMBER 2019 - UNIVERSITY				
Financial assets					
Cash and cash equivalents		 17,555
17,555
-

-

Bank term deposits		

20,000

20,000

-

-

Listed shares		

136

136

-

-

Shares in subsidiaries		

7,786

-

7,786

-

Investment in in-substance subsidiary		

25,000

-

25,000

-

Loans		

5,353

-

5,353

-

Total financial assets		

75,830

37,691

38,139

-

Total
Quoted
Observable
Significant
		
market price
inputs
non-observable		
				inputs
31 DECEMBER 2018 - UNIVERSITY				
Financial assets				
Cash and cash equivalents
34,988
34,988
Bank term deposits
Listed shares
Shares in subsidiaries
Investment in in-substance subsidiary
Loans
Total financial assets

49,500

49,500

-

-

386

386

-

-

7,786

-

7,786

-

25,000

-

25,000

-

5,739

-

5,739

-

123,399

84,874

38,525

-

102

UNIVERSITY OF OTAGO ANNUAL REPORT 2019

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED
For the year ended 31 December 2019

4. REVENUE SUMMARY							
ACCOUNTING POLICY									
Government grants
Government grants are recognised as revenue upon completion of services for which the grant was made. Where obligations are
attached to a government grant, a liability is recognised. Once the obligation is discharged, the government grant is recognised
as revenue.
Student Achievement Component (SAC) funding
SAC funding is the University’s main source of operational funding from the Tertiary Education Commission (TEC). The
University considers SAC funding to be non-exchange and recognises SAC funding as revenue, when the course withdrawal date
has passed, based on the number of eligible students enrolled in the course at that date and the value of the course.
Tuition fees
Domestic student tuition fees are subsidised by government funding and are considered non-exchange. Revenue is recognised
when the course withdrawal date has passed, which is when a student is no longer entitled to a refund for withdrawing from the
course.
International student tuition fees are accounted for as exchange transactions and recognised as revenue on a course percentage
of completion basis. The percentage of completion is measured by reference to the days of the course completed as a proportion
of the total course days.
Scholarships awarded by the University that reduce the amount of tuition fees payable by the student are accounted for as an
expense and not offset against student tuition fees revenue.
Fees free
The University considers fees free revenue as non-exchange and recognises revenue when the course withdrawal date has been
passed by an eligible student. The University has presented funding received for fees free as part of student fees. This is on the
basis that receipts from TEC are for payment on behalf of the student as specified by the relevant funding mechanism. The
amount received in 2019 was $28.505 million (2018: $24.475 million).
Donations
Donated assets are recognised at fair value.
Donations, trust funds, endowments and bequests for the benefit of the University are recognised as an asset and revenue when
the right to receive the funding or asset has been established, unless there is an obligation in substance to return the funds if
conditions are not met. If there is such an obligation, they are initially recorded as revenue in advance and then recognised as
revenue when conditions are satisfied. Pledges are not recognised as assets or revenue until the pledged item is received.
Research and contracts
The University exercises its judgement in determining whether funding received under a research contract is received in an
exchange or non-exchange transaction. In determining whether a research contract is exchange or non-exchange, the University
considers factors such as the following:
•

Whether the funder has substantive rights to the research output – this is a persuasive indicator of exchange or nonexchange;

•

How the research funds were obtained – for example, whether through a commercial tender process for specified work or
from applying to a more general research funding pool;

•

Nature of the funder;

•

Specificity of the research brief or contract.

For an exchange research contract, revenue is recognised on a percentage completion basis. The percentage of completion is
measured by reference to the actual research expenditure incurred, as a proportion to total expenditure expected to be incurred.
For a non-exchange research contract, the total funding receivable under the contract is recognised as revenue immediately,
unless there are substantive conditions in the contract. If there are substantive conditions, revenue is recognised when the
conditions are satisfied. A condition could include the requirement to complete research to the satisfaction of the funder, to
retain funding or return unspent funds. Revenue for future periods is not recognised where the contract contains substantive
termination provisions for failure to comply with the requirements of the contract.
Conditions and termination provisions need to be substantive, which is assessed by considering factors such as contract
monitoring mechanisms of the funder and the past practice of the funder.
Judgement is often required in determining the timing of revenue recognition for contracts that span a balance date and multiyear research contracts.
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Performance-Based Research Fund (PBRF)
The University considers PBRF funding to be non-exchange in nature. PBRF funding is specifically identified by the TEC as
being for a funding period as required by section 159YA of the Education Act 1989. The University recognises its confirmed
allocation of PBRF funding at the commencement of the specified funding period, which is the same as the University’s
financial year. PBRF revenue is measured based on the University’s funding entitlement adjusted for any expected adjustments
as part of the final wash-up process. Indicative funding for future periods is not recognised until confirmed for that future
period.
Consulting and commercial revenue
Service income is recognised as revenue throughout the period of delivery of the service.
Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the University and Group have transferred the significant risks and rewards
of ownership of the goods to the buyer.
Dividend and interest revenue
Dividend revenue from investments is recognised when the shareholders’ rights to receive payment have been established.
Interest revenue is recognised on a time-proportionate basis using the effective interest rate method.
Consolidated
				
Actual
Actual
				 2019
2018
				
$’000
$’000
Tuition fees
Domestic tuition fees				

University
Actual
Actual
2019
2018
$’000
$’000

117,528

114,910

116,840

114,241

52,515

50,442

48,669

45,752

				
170,043

165,352

165,509

159,993

International tuition fees 			
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5. GOVERNMENT GRANTS							
Consolidated
2019
2018
$’000
$’000

				
				

University
2019
2018
$’000
$’000

Vote Education				

246,087

241,906

244,859

240,613

Vote Health 				

2,640

1,648

2,640

1,648

Total government grants 				

248,727

243,554

247,499

242,261

The amount of fees free revenue in 2019 was $28.505 million (2018: $24.475 million).
			
											

6. SPECIFIC EXPENSES					

Consolidated
				
Actual
Actual
				 2019
2018
				
$’000
$’000
Surplus before income tax includes the following specific expenses:
Depreciation 				
66,858
63,050

University
Actual
Actual
2019
2018
$’000
$’000
66,706

62,897

Amortisation of intangible assets 				

3,561

3,112

3,537

3,083

Total depreciation and amortisation 				

70,419

66,162

70,243

65,980

Assurance Audits:
Audit fees for financial statements audit – Audit New Zealand		

260

250

239

231

Audit fees for the PBRF audit – Audit New Zealand 			

10

9

10

9

Other assurance audits – PricewaterhouseCoopers 			

42

-

42

-

Total				

312

259

291

240

Directors’/Councillors’/Trustees’ fees				
Directors’/Councillors’/Trustees’ fees include the following
fees paid to Council members:			

360

348

245

214

				
				
				

Consolidated
Actual
Actual
2019
2018
$’000
$’000

University
Actual
Actual
2019
2018
$’000
$’000

C. F. Barlow-Groome				

-

8

-

8

F. B. Barton				

20

20

20

20

M. R. Dippie 				

15

15

15

15

S. L. Ellison 				

15

-

15

-

J. A. Heath 				

8

-

8

-

S. J. Higgs 				

26

25

26

25

L. C. Hobson 				

15

15

15

15

C. J. Marshall 				

-

8

-

8

D. C. Matahaere-Atariki 				

-

15

-

15

S. A. Montague-Gallagher 				

8

8

8

8

P. A. Oakley 				

15

11

15

11

C. R. Pigden 				

6

-

6

-

R. J. Somerville QC (Chancellor) 				

43

40

43

40

M. A. Wong 				

18

16

18

16

Total earned 				

189

181

189

181
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Consolidated
Actual
Actual
2019
2018
$’000
$’000

University
Actual
Actual
2019
2018
$’000
$’000

Director and Trustee remuneration								
A. W. Campbell 				
19
S. J. Higgs 				

14

18

-

-

L .C. Hobson 				

3

3

-

-

P. C. Hodgson 				

17

-

-

-

S. J. McLauchlan 				

23

23

-

-

P. A. Oakley 				

-

10

-

-

V. Seaton 				

10

-

-

-

R. J. Somerville QC (Chancellor) 				

3

3

-

-

J .F. Ward 				

23

24

-

-

				

112

81

-

-

No Council members received compensation or benefits in
relation to cessation (2018 Nil)				

-

-

-

-

				
301

262

189

181

Rental expense relating to operating leases
Minimum lease payments 				

10,023

9,228

10,008

9,213

Total rental expense relating to operating leases 			

10,023

9,228

10,008

9,213

7. FINANCE REVENUE AND FINANCE COSTS				
Consolidated
				 2019
2018
				 $’000
$’000
Finance revenue
Interest received			
6,614
8,447

University
2019
2018
$’000
$’000
4,175

5,848

Realised gain/(loss) on sale of investments 				

3,346

3,701

-

-

Dividends received 				

5,308

4,846

-

-

Gain/(loss) forex unrealised 				

(432)

(1,286)

-

207

Unrealised gain/(loss) on revaluations of investments 			

31,495

(8,385)

(247)

(57)

Total finance revenue 				

46,331

7,323

3,928

5,998

Finance costs
Interest paid				

134

(8)

211

211

Total finance costs 				

134

(8)

211

211
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8. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS					
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits held at call with banks, other short-term highly liquid investments
with original maturities of three months or less, and bank overdrafts.					
							
							

Consolidated
2019
2018
$’000
$’000

University
2019		
2018
$’000		
$’000

Cash at bank and on hand 			

22,246

19,862

16,555

7,487

Short-term deposits maturing three months or less from
date of acquisitions				

1,000

27,474

1,000

27,500

Total cash and cash equivalents 				

23,246

47,336

17,555

34,987

					

9. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND PREPAYMENTS		
		
Consolidated
				 2019
2018
				 $’000
$’000
		

University
2019
2018
$’000
$’000

Trade debtors				

16,096

13,453

15,323

13,018

Other receivables 				

23,948

21,855

30,504

21,874

Prepayments 				

12,636

10,314

12,544

10,211

Total trade and other receivables and prepayments 			

52,680

45,622

58,371

45,103

The ageing profile of trade receivables is as follows:
Current 				

9,800

6,644

9,432

6,568

2 to 3 months 			

4,955

6,105

4,574

5,787

> 3 months 				

1,341

704

1,317

663

Total gross trade receivables 				

16,096

13,453

15,323

13,018

Any impairment or write-off of trade receivables is based on analysis of past history and a review of specific debtors’ balances
greater than 3 months. Amounts not considered recoverable are written off in the period in which they are identified.
Student fees are invoiced before a course begins or are due upon enrolment if the course has already begun.
Student fee receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally settled 20 days following date of invoice. Therefore, their
carrying value approximates the fair value.
Other receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally settled on the 20th of the month following date of invoice.
Therefore, the carrying value of other receivables approximates their fair value.
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10. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS				
ACCOUNTING POLICY				
Financial assets are classified into the following categories for the purpose of measurement:
•

Fair value through surplus or deficit;

•

Loans and receivables;

•

Held-to-maturity investments; and

•

Fair value through other comprehensive income.

The classification of a financial asset depends on the purpose for which the instrument was acquired.
Financial assets at fair value through surplus or deficit
Financial assets at fair value through surplus or deficit include financial assets held for trading. A financial asset is classified in
this category if acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the short-term or it is part of a portfolio of identified financial
instruments that are managed together and for which there is evidence of short-term profit-taking.
University investments in its subsidiaries are carried at cost. Investments in associate companies are valued at cost plus the
share of retained profits.
Investments held by the Group include state-owned enterprises stock, local authority stock, bank bonds, commercial bonds
and listed equities. The fair values of these investments are based on quoted market prices at balance date.
After initial recognition, financial assets in this category are measured at their fair values with gains or losses on
remeasurement recognised in the surplus or deficit.
Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active
market. They are included in current assets, except for maturities greater than 12 months after the balance date, which are
included in non-current assets.
After initial recognition, they are measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method, less impairment. Gains and
losses when the asset is impaired or derecognised are recognised in the surplus or deficit.
Term deposits
Term deposits are initially measured at the amount invested. Where applicable, interest is subsequently accrued and added to
the investment balance.				
Consolidated
				 2019
2018
				 $’000
$’000

University
2019
2018
$’000
$’000

Current portion 			
Other loans				

497

451

497

451

Short-term deposits 				

43,329

58,249

19,000

49,500

Corporate bonds 				

1,028

7,666

-

-

Total current portion 				

44,854

66,366

19,497

49,951

The maturity profile for the current other financial assets is as follows:
Consolidated
				 2019
2018
				 $’000
$’000
Less than 1 year
Other loans				

University
2019
2018
$’000
$’000

497

451

497

451

43,329

58,249

19,000

49,500

Corporate bonds 				

1,028

7,666

-

-

			

44,854

66,366

19,497

49,951

Short-term deposits with maturities of greater than 3 months from acquisition
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11. NON-CURRENT ASSETS – OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS AND
INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated
2019
2018
$’000
$’000

				
				

University
2019
2018
$’000
$’000

Non-current portion
Investment in subsidiaries
Shares in University of Otago Holdings Ltd				

-

-

-

-

100% owned subsidiary, domiciled in New Zealand 			

-

-

-

-

Balance date 31 December 				

-

-

7,786

7,786

Total investment in subsidiaries 				

-

-

7,786

7,786

Other investments
Long-term bank deposits				

-

8,267

-

-

Loans and receivables 				

4,857

5,287

4,857

5,287

Corporate bonds 			

48,425

33,799

-

-

			

53,282

47,353

4,857

5,287

Other listed securities
Shares in other companies				

165,418

139,413

136

386

			

165,418

139,413

136

386

Other unlisted securities
Equity securities				

5,672

4,241

-

-

			

5,672

4,241

-

-

-

-

25,000

25,000

				-

-

25,000

25,000

191,007

29,993

30,673

Investment in in-substance subsidiary
(University of Otago Foundation Trust)				
100% controlled trust, domiciled in New Zealand 			

					
Other financial assets 				

224,372

The maturity profile for the non-current other financial assets is as follows:
				
				

Consolidated
2019
2018
$’000
$’000

University
2019
2018
$’000
$’000

1 to 5 years
Other loans				

1,571

1,634

1,571

1,634

Short-term deposits with maturities of 1-5 years 			

-

8,267

-

-

34,554

22,139

-

-

More than 5 years
Other loans				

3,286

3,653

3,286

3,653

Corporate bonds 				

13,871

11,660

-

-

Shares in listed companies 				

165,418

139,413

136

386

Shares in unlisted companies 				

5,672

4,241

-

-

Shares in subsidiary 				

-

-

7,786

7,786

Investment in in-substance subsidiary 				

-

-

25,000

25,000

					
				
224,372

191,007

37,779

38,459

Corporate bonds			
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Investment in in-substance subsidiary is carried at cost in the parent entity financial statements.
Term deposits
The carrying amount of term deposits approximates their fair value.
Bonds
University of Otago Group
Bonds are valued at market bid prices.
Investments are carried at fair value through profit or loss and transaction costs are recognised in the Statement of
Comprehensive Revenue and Expense.
Loans
The face value of loans is $7.739 million (2018: $7.772 million).
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an
active market. Such assets are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method less any provision for impairment.
Gains or losses are recognised in the surplus or deficit when the loans and receivables are derecognised or impaired. These are
included in current assets, except for those with maturities greater than 12 months after balance date, which are classified as
non-current.
Unlisted shares
Unlisted shares are recognised at fair value.
For investments with no active market, fair values are determined using valuation methods. Investments whose fair values
cannot be reliably measured are accounted for at cost and amortised where necessary.
Listed shares
Listed shares are recognised at fair value. The fair values of listed shares are determined by reference to published current bid
price quotations in an active market.
Investments in quoted shares are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs.
Interest-free loans
Other loans are recognised when the loan value is transferred to the other party and contract documents signed. The fair value
of these loans is the face value. The University expects the loan repayment instalments to be repaid and the agreements to be
honoured.
Total interest-free loans outstanding are $6.933 million (2018: $7.337 million). The net present value of these loans at a discount
rate of 4% is $4.906 million (2018: $5.304 million).
Movements in the carrying value of loans are as follows:						
				
				

Consolidated
2019
2018
$’000
$’000

University
2019
2018
$’000
$’000

At 1 January 				

5,739

11,107

5,739

11,107

Amount of new loans granted during the year 			

58

9

58

9

Fair value adjustment on initial recognition 				

(2,027)

(2,033)

(2,027)

(2,033)

Loans repaid during the year (principal and interest) 			

(449)

(3,344)

(449)

(3,344)

At 31 December 				

3,321

5,739

3,321

5,739

Loans have been advanced to various affiliated colleges for upgrades of their accommodation facilities for use by students of
the University. Mortgages have been raised over the freehold interest in the properties in each case.		
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12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT				
ACCOUNTING POLICY							
The University’s land and buildings are revalued when there has been a significant movement in the market value or
depreciated replacement cost. They were revalued on 31 December 2019 in accordance with PBE IPSAS 17 Property, Plant and
Equipment and the New Zealand Property Institute’s Valuation Standard 3, "Valuations for Financial Reporting".
The basis of valuation was as follows:
The valuation was completed by a registered valuer employed by the University and has been reviewed by an independent
registered valuer (Chapman Consultancy (2008) Limited) and confirmed as appropriate for financial reporting purposes.
Land was valued at market value;
Land fair value, using market-based evidence, is based on the highest and best use of the land, with reference to comparable
land values;
Restrictions on the University’s ability to sell land are reflected in the valuation to recognise that additional time and costs
would be involved in selling any land due to these restrictions;
Specialised buildings and improvements were valued at depreciated replacement cost; and
Non-specialised buildings and improvements were valued at market value.
Specialised buildings are buildings designed for educational purposes. They are valued using depreciated replacement cost
because no reliable market data is available for such buildings.
Depreciated replacement cost is determined using a number of significant assumptions. Significant assumptions used in the
December 2019 valuation include:
The replacement costs of the specific assets are adjusted where appropriate for optimisation due to over-design or surplus
capacity;
The replacement cost is derived from recent construction contracts of modern equivalent assets and consultation with other
valuers and quantity surveyors;
Valuations have been adjusted to take account of known building faults including the need to strengthen some structures and
to comply with current fire regulations;
The remaining useful life of assets is estimated after considering factors such as the condition of the asset, future maintenance
and replacement plans and experience with similar buildings;
Straight-line depreciation has been applied in determining the depreciated replacement cost value of the asset.
Non-specialised buildings (for example, residential buildings and storage facilities), are valued at fair value using market-based
evidence. Significant assumptions in the 31 December 2019 valuation include market rents and capitalisation rates.
Key assumptions and special conditions
Remaining useful lives and other strategic considerations are based on:
-

The University’s capital expenditure and strategic asset management plan;

-

Seismic assessment programme close-out report;

-

Fire penetrations assessment;

-

Discussions with facilities managers.

Restrictions on title
Under the Education Act 1989, the University is required to obtain consent from the Ministry of Education to dispose of land
and buildings. For plant and equipment, there is an asset disposal limit formula, which provides a limit up to which a Tertiary
Education Institution may dispose of plant and equipment without seeking the approval from the Ministry of Education.
Detailed information on the asset disposal rules can be found on the TEC website.
Costs incurred in researching and determining the feasibility of acquiring a fixed asset, prior to final approval to purchase,
have been recognised as an expense.
All Crown-owned land and buildings (if any) used by the University are included as part of the University’s assets. Although
legal title has not been transferred, the University has assumed all the normal risks and rewards of ownership.
Capital work in progress is valued at cost less impairment and is not depreciated.
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Library books and periodicals, with the exception of rare books and special library collections, have been valued at cost less
accumulated depreciation less impairment. Library electronic resources in the form of annual subscriptions are written off at
the time of purchase.
Rare books and special library collections were valued as at 31 December 1994 by expert University Library staff, based on the
net current value of items following the generally accepted methodology employed by the Alexander Turnbull Library. Any
additions to the collection have been valued at cost (refer Note 27).
The Hocken Collection was revalued at 1 January 2006 by an independent registered valuer (Peter Webb Galleries). The value
represents deemed cost. Any additions since 1 January 2006 have been valued at cost (refer Note 26).
University Artworks were valued at 1 January 2006 by an independent registered valuer (Peter Webb Galleries). The value
represents deemed cost. Any additions since 1 January 2006 have been valued at cost.
Plant, motor vehicles, equipment and furniture are recorded at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.
Asset purchases of less than $2,000 are expensed at cost on acquisition, with the exception of furniture, mobile phones and
computers which are capitalised regardless of cost.
Property, plant and equipment that have a finite useful life are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicate that an impairment has occurred. Impairment losses are recognised in the Statement of
Comprehensive Revenue and Expense.
Depreciation
Depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis on all property, plant, and equipment other than land and heritage collections,
at rates that will write off the cost (or valuation) of the assets to their estimated residual values over their useful lives. Heritage
collections are not depreciated because they are maintained such that they have indefinite or sufficiently long useful lives that
any depreciation is considered negligible.
The useful lives and associated depreciation rates of major classes of assets have been estimated as follows:
Class of asset depreciated

Estimated useful life

Depreciation rates

Site improvements

50 years

2.0%

Structure including walls

30 to 250 years

0.4% to 3.3%

Roof

25 to 100 years

1.0% to 4.0%

Plumbing

40 to 50 years

2.0% to 2.5%

Lifts

40 years

2.5%

Heating and ventilation

30 to 50 years

2.0% to 3.3%

Fume cupboards

15 years

6.7%

Floor coverings and chattels

10 to 40 years

2.5% to 10.0%

Fit out

30 to 75 years

1.3% to 3.3%

Fire protection

40 to 60 years

1.7% to 2.5%

Electrical

40 to 50 years

2.0% to 2.5%

Data network

20 years

5.0%

Infrastructure

10 to 50 years

2% to 10%

Motor vehicles and trailers

3 to 10 years

10% to 33.3%

Furniture and fittings

5 to 10 years

10% to 20%

Plant and equipment

4 to 60 years

1.7% to 25.0%

Computers and photocopiers

4 to 10 years

10.0% to 25.0%

Ipads and similar tablet devices

3 years

33.3%

Library collections

5 to 10 years

10.0% to 20.0%

Buildings and components

(255)

Disposals

Balance as at 31 December 2019

284,362

-

-

Additions

Transfers/adjustments

-

13,367

271,250

271,250

Rollback accum deprec

Revaluation

Balance as at 1 January 2019

CONSOLIDATED 2019

Balance as at 31 December 2018

-

(3,303)

Disposals

Transfers/adjustments

5,956

Additions

Year ended 31 December 2018

1,467,022

(8,725)

(916)

102,850

(73,153)

53,445

1,393,521

1,393,521

(204)

(6,903)

120,540

70,454

1,255

(1,958)

5,618

-

-

65,539

65,539

(13)

(2,722)

6,674

17,928

455

(1,851)

1,600

-

-

17,724

17,724

172

(1,844)

2,007

11,287

(13)

-

110

-

-

11,190

11,190

6

-

288

26,234

-

(4,243)

2,617

-

-

27,860

27,860

-

(6,534)

2,738

115,658

-

-

762

-

-

114,896

114,896

-

-

1,361

10,114

-

-

112

-

-

10,002

10,002

-

-

73

306,453

8,056

(4,894)

20,040

-

-

283,251

283,251

(142)

(9,426)

20,373

2,309,512

1,028

(14,117)

133,709

(73,153)

66,812

2,195,233

2,195,233

(181)

(30,732)

160,010

Gross carrying amount									
Balance as at 1 January 2018
268,597
1,280,088
61,600
17,389
10,896
31,656
113,535
9,929
272,446
2,066,136

						 Library
Hocken
Rare
Land
Buildings Computers Furniture
Artworks
Books
Collection
Books
Equipment
Total
$’000
$’000
$’000
$’000
$’000
$’000
$’000
$’000
$’000
$’000
CONSOLIDATED 2018									
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-

-

-

-

Disposals

Depreciation charge (Note 6)

Transfers / adjustments

Balance as at 31 December 2018

-

-

-

-

-

Revaluation

Disposals

Depreciation charge (Note 6)

Transfers/adjustments

Balance as at 31 December 2019

268,597 1,279,987

271,250 1,358,234

284,362 1,466,841

As at 31 December 2018

As at 31 December 2019

(181)

337

(38,191)

629

72,331

(35,287)

(35,287)

102

(35,288)

-

-

(101)

As at 1 January 2018

Net book value

-

Balance as at 1 January 2019

CONSOLIDATED 2019

-

-

Revaluation

Year ended 31 December 2018

Balance as at 1 January 2018

15,537

15,378

14,749

(54,917)

2

(6,711)

1,953

-

(50,161)

(50,161)

(5)

(5,987)

2,682

-

(46,851)

8,157

7,911

7,555

(9,771)

(1)

(1,806)

1,849

-

(9,813)

(9,813)

-

(1,757)

1,778

-

(9,834)

11,287

11,190

10,896

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

12,532

12,456

12,465

(13,702)

-

(2,541)

4,243

-

(15,404)

(15,404)

-

(2,747)

6,534

-

(19,191)

115,658

114,896

113,535

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

10,114

10,002

9,929

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

91,763

81,643

79,232

(214,690)

(77)

(17,609)

4,604

-

(201,608)

(201,608)

84

(17,271)

8,793

-

(193,214)

2,016,251

1,882,960

1,796,945

(293,261)

261

(66,858)

13,278

72,331

(312,273)

(312,273)

181

(63,050)

19,787

-

(269,191)

Accumulated depreciation									
Cost
(101)
(46,851)
(9,834)
(19,191)
(193,214)
(269,191)

						 Library
Hocken
Rare
Land
Buildings Computers Furniture
Artworks
Books
Collection
Books
Equipment
Total
$’000
$’000
$’000
$’000
$’000
$’000
$’000
$’000
$’000
$’000
CONSOLIDATED 2018									
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(120)

Disposals

(8,725)

(626)

102,850

(73,153)

53,445

1,391,373

1,391,373

(203)

(468)

120,540

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Balance as at 1 January 2018

Year ended 31 December 2018
Disposals

Depreciation charge (Note 6)

Transfers/adjustments

Balance as at 31 December 2018

(35,146)

-

(35,146)

-

-

-

284,283 1,465,164

Accumulated depreciation
Cost

UNIVERSITY 2018

Balance as at 31 December 2019

-

-

Additions

Transfers/adjustments

-

13,367

271,036

271,036

Rollback accum deprec

Revaluation

Balance as at 1 January 2019

UNIVERSITY 2019

Balance as at 31 December 2018

-

(320)

Disposals

Transfers/adjustments

5,955

-

Additions

Year ended 31 December 2018
Revaluation

(49,759)

(5)

(5,947)

2,682

(46,489)

(46,489)

69,963

1,255

(1,955)

5,613

-

-

65,050

65,050

(11)

(2,722)

6,629

-

(9,537)

-

(1,620)

1,653

(9,570)

(9,570)

17,622

455

(1,849)

1,597

-

-

17,419

17,419

173

(1,782)

2,005

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

11,287

(13)

-

110

-

-

11,190

11,190

6

-

288

-

(15,404)

-

(2,747)

6,534

(19,191)

(19,191)

26,234

-

(4,243)

2,617

-

-

27,860

27,860

-

(6,534)

2,738

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

115,658

-

-

762

-

-

114,896

114,896

-

-

1,361

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

10,114

1

-

112

-

-

10,001

10,001

-

-

72

-

(201,165)

311

(17,437)

8,793

(192,832)

(192,832)

305,749

8,053

(4,854)

20,030

-

-

282,520

282,520

(127)

(9,199)

20,224

-

(311,011)

306

(62,897)

19,662

(268,082)

(268,082)

2,306,074

1,026

(13,647)

133,691

(73,153)

66,812

2,191,345

2,191,345

(162)

(21,025)

159,812

-

Gross carrying amount									
Balance as at 1 January 2018
265,401 1,271,504
61,154
17,023
10,896
31,656
113,535
9,929
271,622
2,052,720

						 Library
Hocken
Rare
Land
Buildings Computers Furniture
Artworks
Books
Collection
Books
Equipment
Total
$’000
$’000
$’000
$’000
$’000
$’000
$’000
$’000
$’000
$’000
UNIVERSITY 2018									
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-

-

-

-

-

Revaluation

Disposals

Depreciation charge (Note 6)

Transfers/adjustments

Balance as at 31 December 2019

271,036 1,356,227

284,283 1,465,164

As at 31 December 2018

As at 31 December 2019

Equipment $1.119 million (2018: $0.963 million).

Buildings $129.898 million (2018: $170.747 million);

Work in progress as at 31 December 2019 (University and Group):

265,401 1,271,504

-

337

(38,153)

631

72,331

(35,146)

As at 1 January 2018

Net book value

-

Balance as at 1 January 2019

15,478

15,291

14,665

(54,485)

(1)

(6,675)

1,950

-

(49,759)

8,137

7,882

7,453

(9,485)

-

(1,797)

1,849

-

(9,537)

11,287

11,190

10,896

-

-

-

-

-

-

12,532

12,456

12,465

(13,702)

-

(2,541)

4,243

-

(15,404)

115,658

114,896

113,535

-

-

-

-

-

-

10,114

10,001

9,929

-

-

-

-

-

-

91,531

81,355

78,790

(214,218)

(77)

(17,540)

4,564

-

(201,165)

2,014,184

1,880,334

1,784,638

(291,890)

259

(66,706)

13,237

72,331

(311,011)

						 Library
Hocken
Rare
Land
Buildings Computers Furniture
Artworks
Books
Collection
Books
Equipment
Total
$’000
$’000
$’000
$’000
$’000
$’000
$’000
$’000
$’000
$’000
UNIVERSITY 2019									
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13. INTANGIBLE ASSETS								
ACCOUNTING POLICY								
Costs that are directly associated with the development of software for internal use are recognised as an intangible asset.
Direct costs include the software development employee costs and an appropriate portion of relevant overheads.
Costs incurred in researching and determining the feasibility of acquiring computer software, prior to final approval to
purchase, have been recognised as an expense.
Acquired computer software is capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring to use the specific software,
subsequent to final approval to purchase.
Costs associated with maintaining computer software are recognised as an expense when incurred.
Amortisation
The carrying value of an intangible asset with a finite life is amortised on a straight-line basis over its useful life.
Amortisation begins when the asset is available for use and ceases at the date that the asset is derecognised. The amortisation
charge for each period is recognised in the surplus or deficit.
The useful lives and associated amortisation rates of major classes of intangible assets have been estimated as follows:
Class of intangible asset

Estimated useful life

Amortisation rates

Computer software

3 to 25 years

4% to 33.3%

				
				Computer
				software				
				 $’000		
CONSOLIDATED 2018							
Gross Carrying Amount								
Cost				50,433		
Balance as at 1 January 2018				

50,433

Year ended 31 December 2018		
Additions				4,967
Adjustments				199
Impairment charge (Note 6)				

-

Disposals				(43)		
Balance as at 31 December 2018				

55,556

CONSOLIDATED 2019							
Balance as at 1 January 2019				

55,556		

Additions				4,144
Adjustments 				

(1,108)		

Disposals				(120)		
Balance as at 31 December 2019				

58,472
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				Computer
				software				
				 $’000
CONSOLIDATED 2018
Accumulated amortisation and impairment
		
Cost				(26,233)		
Balance as at 1 January 2018				

(26,233)

Year ended 31 December 2018		
Amortisation charge (Note 6)				(3,112)		
Disposals				36		
Balance as at 31 December 2018				

(29,309)		

CONSOLIDATED 2019			
Balance as at 1 January 2019				

(29,309)		

Amortisation charge (Note 6)				(3,561)		
Disposals				119		
Balance as at 31 December 2019				

(32,751)		

Net Book Value			
As at 1 January 2018				

24,200		

As at 31 December 2018				

26,247		

As at 31 December 2019				

25,719

UNIVERSITY 2018			
Gross carrying amount			
Cost				50,134		
Balance as at 1 January 2018				

50,134

Additions 				

4,961

Adjustments 				

200

Disposals 				

(43)		

Balance as at 31 December 2018				

55,252		

UNIVERSITY 2019			
Balance as at 1 January 2019				
55,252		
Year ended 31 December 2019
Additions				4,144
Adjustments 				

(1,108)

Impairment charge (Note 6) 				

-

Disposals 				

(120)

Balance as at 31 December 2019 				

58,168
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				Computer
				software				
				 $’000
UNIVERSITY 2018			
Accumulated amortisation and impairment
		
Cost				(26,021)		
Balance as at 1 January 2018				
Additions 				

(26,021)		
36

Amortisation charge (Note 6) 				(3,083)
Balance as at 31 December 2018 				

(29,068)

UNIVERSITY 2019							
Balance as at 1 January 2019				

(29,068)		

Year ended 31 December 2019
Disposals				117
Amortisation charge (Note 6) 				(3,537)
Balance as at 31 December 2019 				

(32,488)

Net book value
As at 1 January 2018 				

24,113

As at 31 December 2018 				

26,184

As at 31 December 2019 				

25,680

		

Work in progress as at 31 December 2019 (University and Group) was $2.029 million (2018: $3.429 million).			
		

14. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS		
Creditors and other payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired in the ordinary course of
business from suppliers. They are classified as current liabilities if payment is due within one year or less. If not, they are
presented as non-current liabilities.
Payables are non-interest bearing and are settled on the 20th of the month following date of invoice. Therefore, the carrying
value of payables approximates their fair value.
Consolidated
				 2019
2018
				 $’000
$’000

University
2019
2018
$’000
$’000

Current					
Trade payables
5,600
13,930
5,390
13,706
Accruals

23,649

26,962

23,537

26,849

Other payables

19,214

23,161

26,650

25,875

Total creditors and other payables

48,463

64,053

55,577

66,430
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15. CURRENT LIABILITIES – EMPLOYEE ENTITLEMENTS		
SHORT-TERM EMPLOYEE ENTITLEMENTS							
Employee benefits expected to be settled within 12 months after the end of the period in which the employee renders the
related service are measured based on accrued entitlements at current rates of pay.
These include salaries and wages accrued up to balance date, annual leave earned to, but not yet taken at balance date.
Defined contribution/benefit schemes
Employer contributions to multi-employer defined benefit plans: Consolidated $1.702 million (2018: $2.095 million),
University $1.702 million (2018: $2.095 million).
Employer contributions to defined contribution schemes: Consolidated $17.090 million (2018: $16.865 million), University
$17.090 million (2018: $16.865 million).									
Consolidated
				 Actual
Actual
				2019
2018
				 $’000
$’000

University
Actual
Actual
2019
2018
$’000
$’000

Current portion								
Annual leave				
31,923
30,555
31,653
30,199
Long-service leave 				

980

1,014

980

1,014

Retirement gratuities 				

18,053

17,359

18,053

17,359

Accrued wages 				

8,152

7,614

8,090

7,571

Total current portion 				

59,108

56,542

58,776

56,143

16. CURRENT LIABILITIES – DEFERRED REVENUE				
Consolidated
				 2019
2018
				 $’000
$’000

University
2019
2018
$’000
$’000

Research funding in advance			

48,549

42,023

48,549

42,023

Student fees in advance 				

27,912

13,710

25,925

11,892

Other income in advance				

4,224

3,030

4,025

2,843

80,685

58,763

78,499

56,758

Total current liabilities - deferred income			

Deferred revenue from tuition fees includes both liabilities recognised for domestic student fees received for which the course
withdrawal date has not yet passed and for international student fees, which is based on the percentage completion of the
course. Deferred revenue from research contracts includes both liabilities recognised for research funding with unsatisfied
conditions (non-exchange contracts) and liabilities for exchange research funding received in excess of costs incurred to date
on the required research.
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17. NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES – EMPLOYEE ENTITLEMENTS
LONG-TERM EMPLOYEE ENTITLEMENTS 							
Employee benefits that are due to be settled beyond 12 months after the end of the period in which the employee renders the
related service, such as long-service leave and retirement gratuities, have been calculated on an actuarial basis. The calculations
are based on:
•

Likely future entitlements accruing to staff, based on years of service, years to entitlement, the likelihood that staff will
reach the point of entitlement, and contractual entitlement information; and

•

The present value of the estimated future cash flows.

Sick leave, annual leave, vested long-service leave, non-vested long-service leave and retirement gratuities expected to be
settled within 12 months of balance date are classified as a current liability. All other employee entitlements are classified as a
non-current liability.
Wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave
Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits, annual leave and accumulating sick leave expected to
be settled within 12 months of the reporting date are recognised in other payables in respect of employees’ services up to
the reporting date and are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled. Liabilities for nonaccumulating sick leave are recognised when the leave is taken and measured at the rates paid or payable.
Long-service leave
The liability for long-service leave is recognised in the provision for employee benefits and measured as the present value of
expected future payments to be made in respect of services provided by employees up to the reporting date using the projected
unit credit method. Consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels, experience of employee departures and
periods of service. Expected future payments are discounted using market yields at the reporting date on national government
bonds with terms to maturity and currency that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows.
Retirement benefit obligations
A liability or asset in respect of defined benefit superannuation plans is recognised in the Statement of Financial Position,
and is measured as the present value of the defined benefit obligation at the reporting date plus unrecognised actuarial gains
(less unrecognised actuarial losses) less the fair value of the superannuation fund’s assets at that date and any unrecognised
past service cost. The present value of the defined benefit obligation is based on expected future payments which arise from
membership of the fund to the reporting date, calculated annually by independent actuaries using the projected unit credit
method. Consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels, experience of employee departures and periods
of service.
The actuarial assessment of retiring gratuities, long-service leave and sick leave is performed by Eriksen Global Limited
annually.
Critical assumptions
The assumed long-run rate of CPI inflation is 2% to which was added 0.5% per annum for secular salary increases.
Demographic assumptions were based on the experience of the Government Superannuation Fund and key economic
assumptions were taken from prescribed Treasury rates calculated as at 31 December 2019. The discount rate was based on the
yields on government bonds.				
Consolidated
				 2019
2018
				 $’000
$’000

University
2019
2018
$’000
$’000

48,816

41,925

48,816

41,925

Long-service leave				

2,100

1,925

2,100

1,925

Sick leave 				

1,096

1,041

1,096

1,041

Staff IP entitlements – non-current 				

1,469

-

1,469

-

Total non-current portion				

53,481

44,891

53,481

44,891

Retirement gratuities			
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18. EQUITY						
ACCOUNTING POLICY
Equity is the community’s interest in the University and is measured as the difference between total assets and total liabilities.
Equity is disaggregated and classified into the following components:
•

General funds

•

Property revaluation reserves.

Property revaluation reserve: This reserve relates to the revaluation of land and buildings to fair value.
The breakdown of accumulated funds and reserves are disclosed as follows:
Consolidated
University
							
Restated
				 2019
2018
2019
2018
				 $’000
$’000
$’000
$’000
Accumulated funds							
Balance at 1 January 			
1,055,613
1,027,183
867,778
711,952
-

-

-

113,535

Adjustments				
975

1,465

1,331

-

Surplus/(deficit) for the year				

42,906

26,965

8,399

42,291

Balance 31 December 				

1,099,494

1,055,613

877,508

867,778

Hocken Collection moved to parent 				

		
Consolidated
				 2019
2018
				 $’000
$’000

University
2019
2018
$’000
$’000

Reserves include
Building revaluation reserve 			

846,609

794,261

846,609

794,261

Land revaluation reserve 			

203,296

189,929

203,296

189,929

1,049,905

984,190

1,049,905

984,190

Revaluation reserves
Balance at 1 January				
984,190

985,414

984,190

985,414

65,715

(1,224)

65,715

(1,224)

1,049,905

984,190

1,049,905

984,190

Total reserves				

Net revaluation adjustment 			
Balance at 31 December 				

		

122

UNIVERSITY OF OTAGO ANNUAL REPORT 2019

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED
For the year ended 31 December 2019

19. CONTINGENCIES					
Consolidated
				 2019
2018
				 $’000
$’000

University
2019
2018
$’000
$’000

Contingent liabilities		
The University provided a guarantee to the Bank of New Zealand
for a bond given by the bank to the Dunedin City Council, over
the siting of some temporary buildings. 				

50

50

50

50

There were several personal grievance and employment-related
claims against the University.				

30

20

30

20

Total Contingent Liabilities				

80

70

80

70

		
Contingent assets							
There are no contingent assets at balance date (2018: nil).
Pledged donations
Trust pledged donations are recognised as revenue when the funds are received.
Total pledged donations outstanding as at 31 December 2019 at face value are $10.581 million (2018: $11.343 million)
Quantifiable contingent assets
Consolidated
				 2019
2018
				 $’000
$’000

University
2019
2018
$’000
$’000

Pledged donations at fair value				

9,594

2,795

-

Total quantifiable contingent assets			
-

9,594

2,795

-

-

HARBOURSIDE DEVELOPMENT: SUSTAINABLE FUTURES CENTRE
A Heads of Agreement has been signed between the University and Port Otago Limited whereby Port Otago agree to transfer a
block of land located in Fryatt Street, Dunedin, to the University for development as a Sustainable Futures Centre. The transfer of
title in this land will only be completed when the University has made substantial progress towards the development of the centre.
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20. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS AND OPERATING LEASES
ACCOUNTING POLICY								
Operating leases								
An operating lease is a lease that does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset.
Lease payments under an operating lease are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
Consolidated
				 2019
2018
				 $’000
$’000

University
2019
2018
$’000
$’000

Capital Commitments
Buildings				
40,149

105,470

40,149

105,470

Equipment and other 				

4,665

3,427

4,665

3,427

Total capital commitments 				

44,814

108,897

44,814

108,897

Capital commitments represent capital expenditure contracted for at balance date, but not yet incurred.
		
Consolidated
				 2019
2018
				 $’000
$’000

University
2019
2018
$’000
$’000

Operating leases as lessee
Not later than 1 year 				

6,122

6,936

6,122

6,882

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 			

5,139

4,153

5,139

4,132

Later than 5 years 				

2,828

2,396

2,828

2,396

Total non-cancellable operating leases 				

14,089

13,485

14,089

13,410

Operating leases Not later than 1 year includes accommodation head leases, $3.200 million (2018: $3.106 million).
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21. RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS					
The Government influences the role of the University and Group as well as being a major source of revenue. While the
University and Group enter into numerous transactions with Government departments and other Crown agencies, they are
on an arm’s length basis and, where those parties are acting in the course of their normal dealings, are not considered to be
related-party transactions.										
RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS WITH SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES OR JOINT VENTURES
Consolidated
					
2019
2018
					
$’000
$’000
Intra-Group						
University of Otago Holdings Limited (UOHL)
Dividends received from Foundation Studies Ltd 				

452

524

Equity advanced to Otago Innovation Limited 				

250

-

Accounting and secretarial services paid to the University of Otago			

29

28

Interest paid on this current account amounted to				

68

63

The balance of the current account at year end was 				

2,633

2,392

University of Otago Foundation Studies Limited (FSL)
FSL enters into transactions with the University of Otago, which are made on normal
commercial terms and conditions. During the year FSL purchased goods and services
from the University, including building rentals, to the value of			

2,083

2,153

At year end the amount owing to the University was 				

-

-

During the year FSL provided goods and services to the University to the value of 		

-

-

At the end of the year the amount owing by the University was			

111

-

FSL has invested its surplus funds with the University of Otago. Interest is paid by the
University at the average rate achieved by the University on its bank call and term
deposits. Interest paid on these funds amounted to				

156

160

The balance at year end was					

5,327

5,066

Otago Innovation Limited (OIL)
OIL enters into transactions with the University of Otago, which are made on normal
commercial terms and conditions. During the year OIL purchased goods and services
from the University to the value of					

969

950

At year end the amount owing to the University was				

3,516

1,031

During the year OIL supplied services to the University to the value of 			

672

686

At year end the amount owing by the University was 				

127

10

Immune Solutions Limited (ISL)
ISL enters into transactions with the University of Otago, which are made on normal
commercial terms and conditions. During the year ISL purchased goods and services
from the University to the value of					

-

-

At year end the amount owing to the University was 				

-

37

Disease Research Limited (DRL)
DRL enters into transactions with the University of Otago, which are made on normal
commercial terms and conditions. During the year DRL purchased goods and services
from the University to the value of					

21

25

At year end the amount owing to the University was 				

227

310

UOHL has a current account with the University of Otago. Since 1 January 2008 this
account has been interest-bearing, with interest paid by the University at the average rate
achieved by the University of Otago on its bank call and term deposits.
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Consolidated
					2019
2018
					 $’000
$’000
University of Otago Foundation Trust
The University of Otago Foundation Trust paid to the University
administration fees to the value of					

672

672

The University of Otago Foundation Trust distributed to the
University an amount of 					

10,333

10,616

The University of Otago Foundation Trust holds a current
account with the University 					

3,388

3,452

The University of Otago Foundation Trust received donations
via the University of Otago an amount of					

320

196

University Union Limited (UUL)
During the year the University entered into transactions with UUL,
an associate company of UOHL. The transactions were made on
commercial terms and conditions. The University paid UUL rent of			

373

294

UUL paid the University of Otago ground rent of 				

119

147

										Consolidated
Transactions with key management personnel				
2019
2018		
Key management personnel compensation 				 $’000
$’000
Senior management team, including the Vice-Chancellor:
Remuneration					
4,206

3,960

14

14

Full-time equivalent 					

There are close family members of key management personnel employed by the University and Group. The terms and conditions
of those arrangements are no more favourable than the University and Group would have adopted if there
were no relationship to key management personnel.
All members of the Vice Chancellor’s Advisory Group were included as key management personnel.
Council members’ fees: Consolidated $0.191 million (2018: $0.180 million), University $0.191 million (2018: $0.180 million).
Directors’ fees: Consolidated $0.110 million (2018: $0.078 million), University (nil) (2018: nil).
No provision has been required, nor any expense recognised for impairment of receivables, for any loans or other receivables to
related parties (2018: nil).					
Transactions with members of Council
				
				
Member of Council
Organisation
Ms C. F. BarlowOtago University Students’ Association (P)
Groome (term 1
Jan 2018 to 31
University Bookshop (Otago) Limited (D)
Dec 2018)

Purchased by
the University
2019
2018
$’000
$’000

Purchased from
the University
2019
2018
$’000
$’000

-

3,633

-

135

-

164

-

5

Mr F. B. Barton
(term 1 Jan 2016
to 31 Dec 2019)

Anderson Lloyd (D) (P)			

41

316

-

-

Presbyterian Support Otago (trustee) 		

3

16

46

-

Mr M. R. Dippie
(term 1 Jan 2016
to 31 Dec 2019)

Mitre 10 (New Zealand) Limited (D)		

69

68

-

-

Purchased by
the University

Purchased from
the University
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				 2019
				 $’000
Member of Council
Organisation
Ms S. L. Ellison
Karitane Māori Tours Limited (D)		
3
(term 1 Jan 2019
to 31 Dec 2022)
Kati Huirapa Runaka ki Puketeraki (manager)
47

2018
$’000

2019
$’000

2018
$’000

-

-

-

-

-

-

599

315

17

161

Professor H. Hayne

NZ Vice Chancellors’ Committee Universities
NZ (committee member)

Mr J. A .Heath
(term 1 Jan 2019 to
31 Dec 2019)

Otago University Students’ Association (P)

3707

-

102

-

University Bookshop (Otago) Limited (D)

116

-

3

-

Mr S. J. Higgs (term
1 Jan 2016 to 31
Dec 2019)

Farmlands Co-Operative Society Ltd		
(secretary)

-

1

-

-

Mitern Limited (D) (S) 			

35

46

-

-

Ms D. C. MatahaereAtariki
(term 1 Jan 2016
to 31 Dec 2018)

Te Whare Pounamu Dunedin Womens Refuge
(trustee)
Arai Te Uru Whare Hauora (D) 		

-

-

-

1

-

16

-

3

Otakou Health Limited (D) 		

-

3

-

11		

26

26

-

-

28

43

-

-

Institute of Directors in New Zealand		
(branch committee)

4

7

-

-

Dr R. J. Somerville QC
(term 1 Jan 2016
to 31 Dec 2019)

University of Otago Foundation for Malaysia
(Ex officio trustee)

-

-

-

3

Mr M. A. Wong
(term 1 Jan 2018
to 31 Dec 2021)

Cook North & Wong Limited (D) (S) 		

16

20

-

-

Ms P. A. Oakley 		Dunedin International Airport Limited (D)
(term 1 Mar 2018
to 31 Dec 2019)
Forsyth Barr Limited (employee) (S) 		

* C = Chairman; D = Director; S = Shareholder; P = President
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22. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES
ACCOUNTING POLICY
The University and Group has adopted the new group standards, PBE IPSAS 34 to 38, in preparing these financial statements.
In adopting these new standards, the University and Group has updated its accounting policies for its investments in
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures. Disclosures have also been updated for the new disclosure requirements of PBE
IPSAS 38.
Investments in subsidiaries are measured at cost in the University’s parent financial statements.
ASSOCIATE
An associate is an entity over which the University has significant influence and that is neither a subsidiary nor an interest
in a joint venture. Investments in associates are accounted for in the group financial statements using the equity method of
accounting.
Investments in associates are measured at cost in the University’s parent financial statements.
JOINT VENTURE
A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net
assets of the arrangement. Joint control is the agreed sharing of control of an arrangement by way of a binding arrangement,
which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.
Investments in joint ventures are measured at cost in the University’s parent financial statements.
EQUITY METHOD OF ACCOUNTING IN GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Investments in associates and joint ventures are accounted for in the group financial statements using the equity method of
accounting.
Under the equity method of accounting, the investment is initially recognised at cost and the carrying amount is increased
or decreased to recognise the Group’s share of the change in net assets of the entity after the date of acquisition. The Group’s
share of the surplus or deficit is recognised in the Group surplus or deficit. Distributions received from the investee reduce the
carrying amount of the investment in the Group financial statements.
If the share of deficits of the entity equals or exceeds the interest in the entity, the group discontinues recognising its share of
further deficits. After the group’s interest is reduced to zero, additional deficits are provided for and a liability is recognised,
only to the extent that the group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the entity. If the
entity subsequently reports surpluses, the group will resume recognising its share of those surpluses only after its share of the
surpluses equals the share of deficits not recognised.
Consolidated
					2019
2018
					 $’000
$’000
University of Otago Holdings Limited								
University Union Limited					
4,395
4,338
Total investments in associates and joint ventures 				

4,395

4,338

128

UNIVERSITY OF OTAGO ANNUAL REPORT 2019

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED
For the year ended 31 December 2019
Consolidated
					2019
2018
					 $’000
$’000
University of Otago Holdings Limited’s associates and joint ventures
Name of entity: University Union Limited
Investment in the University Union Limited (at cost)				

-

-

Group 					Dividends or similar distributions received 					
-

-

-

-

2,106

1,876

150

57

Total current assets 					

2,256

1,934

Non-current assets 					

3,762

3,869

Current liabilities 					

-

-

Financial liabilities (excluding accounts payable) 				

-

-

Other current liabilities					

56

58

Total current liabilities 					

56

58

Revenue, excluding interest 					

434

436

Interest revenue 					

62

63

Depreciation and amortisation 					

(171)

(171)

Net surplus/(deficit)					

114

115

Other comprehensive revenue and expenses 					

-

-

Total comprehensive revenue and expenses 				

114

115

Reconciliation to equity accounted carrying amount
			
University Union Limited net assets 					
5,859

5,745

Group’s share (%) 					

50

50

Equity accounted carrying amount 					

2,930

2,872

Group’s share of building revaluation 					

1,465

1,465

Total equity accounted carrying amount 					

4,395

4,337

Shareholder funding commitments for next 3 years				

-

-

Share of University Union Limited’s contingent liabilities 				

-

-

Name of entity: Otakou Health Limited
Principal activity: Owner of community health facility
Ownership: 33% (31 December 2018: 33%)
In December 2018 the UOHL Board resolved to transfer 33% shareholding
in Otakou Health Limited to the other shareholders. 				
Balance date 31 March 					

-

-

Summarised financial information of University Union Limited 			
Current assets 					
Cash and cash equivalents 					
Other current assets 				

Risks associated with the Group’s investment in the University Union Limited

Name of entity: Upstart Incubation Trustee Company Limited
Principal activity: This company is not operational and has no assets or liabilities.
Ownership: 33% (31 December 2018: 33%)
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23. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT			
THE UNIVERSITY			
The University and Group’s capital is its equity, which comprises general funds and reserves. Equity is represented by net
assets. The University is subject to the financial management and accountability provisions of the Education Act 1989, which
includes restrictions in relation to: disposing of assets or interests in assets, ability to mortgage or otherwise charge assets or
interests in assets, granting leases of land or buildings or parts of buildings, and borrowing.
The University manages its revenues, expenses, assets, liabilities, investments and general financial dealings prudently and in
a manner that promotes the current and future interests of the community. The University’s equity is largely managed as a byproduct of managing revenues, expenses, assets, liabilities, investments and general financial dealings.
The objective of managing the University’s equity is to ensure that it effectively and efficiently achieves the goals and objectives
for which it has been established, while remaining a going concern.
		

24. EVENTS OCCURRING AFTER THE BALANCE DATE
On March 11, 2020, the World Health Organization declared the outbreak of a coronavirus (COVID-19) a pandemic and
two weeks later the New Zealand Government declared a State of National Emergency. At the time of signing the financial
statements, the country is at Alert Level 4, and in lockdown. As a result, economic uncertainties have arisen which are likely to
negatively affect our operations and services.
We describe below the most significant of the possible effects that we have identified on the University Group as a result of the
COVID-19 pandemic.
•

Government tuition funding has been guaranteed at the level agreed for 2020 along with fees free income for students in
their first year of tertiary level study.

•

Income from student fees and charges will be reduced due to the potential loss of current and prospective students caused
by the disruption created by COVID-19.

•

Externally-funded research income will be reduced where research cannot be undertaken from home. This will most likely
be a timing impact for 2020 rather than a reduction in overall income for the research projects.

•

There will be savings on direct costs for travel and consumables.

•

Additional costs will be incurred for developing on-line delivery of teaching to students who are not now distance taught
and for dealing with other COVID-19-related activities such as supporting students in self isolation.

•

Financial markets are facing extreme volatility as a result of the pandemic, and at the 27th of March $34 million had
been lost from the value of the portfolio of the University Group. It is impossible to predict with any confidence at this
point what the trajectory of the markets will be over the remainder of the year, but if the current situation continues for a
prolonged length of time it is not unreasonable to expect that the year-end value of the Group’s investment portfolio will
be well down on its 2020 starting position.

At this time, it is difficult to determine the full effect of the COVID-19 pandemic and there could be other matters that affect
the University Group.
The 33% shareholding in Otakou Health Limited was transferred to other shareholders on 27 February 2020.		

130

UNIVERSITY OF OTAGO ANNUAL REPORT 2019

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED
For the year ended 31 December 2019

25. RECONCILIATION OF NET SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) TO NET
CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES		
Consolidated
				 Actual
Actual
				2019
2018
				 $’000
$’000

University
Actual
Actual
2019
2018
$’000
$’000

Surplus/(deficit) 				
42,906

26,965

8,399

42,291

Add/(less) non-cash items
Non-cash donations				

(761)

(1,361)

(761)

(1,361)

Gain/(loss) in fair value of assets 				

511

-

1,331

-

Non-cash dividends 				

(1,390)

(1,622)

-

-

Share of associate’s surplus 				

(57)

154

-

-

7,121

950

7,121

950

Depreciation and amortisation expense 				

70,419

66,162

70,243

65,980

Property, plant and equipment impairment 				

899

97

528

100

Intellectual property income 				

38

-

(1,750)

-

Dunedin City Tertiary Accommodation Trust 			

-

(5,890)

-

(15,610)

Increase/(decrease) in loans from external trust funds 			

142

(10)

-

-

(Gains)/losses in fair value of investments 				

(33,171)

11,222

608

2,033

Total non-cash items 				

43,751

69,702

77,320

52,092

Add/(less) movements in working capital items
(Increase)/decrease in receivables				

(4,736)

(4,267)

(6,989)

(5,409)

(Increase)/decrease in prepayments 				

(2,376)

(1,370)

(2,387)

(1,379)

(Increase)/decrease in inventory 				

126

(54)

127

(204)

Increase /(decrease) in payables 				

(12,492)

838

(14,194)

4,468

Increase/(decrease) in funds received in advance 			

21,809

9,434

19,215

9,748

Increase /(decrease) in employee entitlements 			

(606)

2,640

7,582

1,581

Net movement in working capital items 				

1,725

7,221

3,354

8,805

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from operating activities 			

88,382

103,888

89,073

103,188

Adjustments to staff entitlements 			
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26. HOCKEN COLLECTION				
Consolidated
				
Actual
Actual
				 2019
2018
				 $’000
$’000

University
Actual
Actual
2019
2018
$’000
$’000

Opening balance				

120,267

118,300

120,267

118,300

Hocken additions				

1,023

1,967

262

1,967

				
121,290

120,267

120,529

120,267

being:
Assets owned by the University				

120,267

120,529

120,267

121,290

The University holds in trust a national archival collection of books and artworks known as the Hocken Collection. Items
included in the collections are acquired by gift, bequest and purchase. Items are also accepted on deposit where ownership is
retained by the depositor. The University has included the valuation of the owned and deposited items in the total above as it
believes that the Hocken Library is in-substance the owner of all items in the collection. The total collection includes deposited
items valued at $27.669 million (2018: $27.197 million).			

27. RARE BOOKS AND SPECIAL LIBRARY COLLECTIONS
The University holds a number of gifted collections of books, manuscripts, and artworks within the Central, Medical and
Dental Libraries. The collections were valued at 31 December 1994, based on net current value, by expert University staff
following the generally accepted methodology employed by the Alexander Turnbull Library. The total valuation of the Rare
Books and Special Collections is $10.114 million (2018: $10.002 million). Additions at cost in 2019 were $0.112 million (2018:
$0.073 million) (refer Note 12).
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28. RECLASSIFICATION OF PREVIOUS YEAR’S BALANCES DUE
TO THE INCLUSION OF THE HOCKEN COLLECTION IN THE
UNIVERSITY IN 2019
The University has restated the opening balances as at 1 January 2018 and adjusted its comparatives at 31 December 2018,
to reflect the change in accounting for the Hocken Collection. The adjustments are shown in the table below:
		

Statement of Comprehensive
Revenue and Expenses

University Actual 2018
Previously		 Restated
Reported
Adjustments
Amount
$’000
$’000
$’000

Other revenue

38,990

1,361

40,351

Surplus and/or deficit

40,930

1,361

42,291

Statement of Financial Position
Property, plant and equipment			

1,765,438

114,896

1,880,334

Equity accumulated funds 			

752,882

114,896

867,778

Note 18 - Equity:
Hocken Collection moved to the University			

-

113,535

113,535

Surplus/(deficit) for the year 			

40,930

1,361

42,291

Balance 31 December 			

752,882

114,896

867,778

Statement of Changes in Equity
Total comprehensive revenue and expenses previously reported		

40,930

1,361

42,291

Hocken Collection 			

-

113,535

113,535

Balance at 31 December 			

1,737,072

114,896

1,851,968

Surplus/deficit			40,930

1,361

42,291

-

(1,361)

(1,361)

53,453

(1,361)

52,092

Note 25 - Reconciliation of net surplus/(deficit) to net cash from
operating activities
Non-cash donations 			
Total non-cash items		
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29. EXPLANATION OF MAJOR VARIANCES AGAINST BUDGET
STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE REVENUE AND EXPENSES
Investment revenue was significantly higher than budget due to high investment returns in the Foundation Trust.
Salaries – professional were higher than budget due to people being employed on research projects, but budgeted under
consumables and general, and vacancies being filled quicker than expected.
Staff-related costs include a non-budgeted actuarial accrual for long-service leave, sick leave and retirement gratuities.
Consumables and general were lower than budget due to people being employed on research projects, but budgeted under
consumables and general.
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
Cash and cash equivalents, and other financial assets (current and non-current) balances were higher than expected due to
delays in completing capital projects. It was expected that the University would be in a borrowing position by year end, but this
did not eventuate.
Trade and other receivables and prepayments were higher than budget due to changes in accounting process in accounting for
fees in advance at balance date.
Investments in associates and joint ventures and investments in subsidiaries are budget errors.
Property, plant and equipment balances are higher than budget because of the land and buildings revaluation (revaluations are
not budgeted).
Intangible assets are higher than budget due to a change in process of capitalising software-related assets.
Trade and other payables and accruals lower than budget due to less capital project accruals at year end.
Deferred revenue is mainly research projects and student fees. The University received an increase in research activity.
Student fees in advance were higher than budget due to changes in accounting process in accounting for fees in advance at
balance date.
Higher employee entitlements are due to a non-budgeted actuarial accrual for long-service leave, sick leave and retirement
gratuities.
Loans were budgeted, but did not eventuate because of delays in the capital programme.
Revaluation adjustments are not budgeted.
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
Net cash flow from operating activities were lower than expected due to the lower surplus in the University and improvements
and efficiencies made in purchasing and payment processes which led to more supplier invoices being paid in 2019 and a lower
creditors’ balance at year end.
Net cash flow from investing activities was higher than expected due to delays in the capital programme.
Net cash flow from financing activities was less than budgeted as borrowing did not eventuate.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the readers of University of Otago and Group’s financial statements and
service performance report for the year ended 31 December 2019
The Auditor-General is the auditor of University of Otago (the University) and Group. The Auditor-General has appointed me,
Andy Burns, using the staff and resources of Audit New Zealand, to carry out the audit of the financial statements and service
performance report of the University and Group on his behalf.

Opinion
We have audited:
•

the financial statements of the University and Group on pages 86 to 133, that comprise the statement of financial position as
at 31 December 2019, the statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for
the year ended on that date and the notes to the financial statements that include accounting policies and other explanatory
information; and

•

the service performance report of the University and Group on pages 62 to 82.

In our opinion:
•

the financial statements of the University and Group on pages 86 to 133 to:
~ present fairly, in all material respects:

		

-

the financial position as at 31 December 2019; and

		

-

the financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended; and

~ comply with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand in accordance with Tier 1 Public Benefit Entity 		
Standards; and
•

the service performance report on pages 62 to 82:
~ presents fairly, in all material respects, the University and Group’s service performance achievements as compared with the
forecast outcomes included in the investment plan for the year ended 31 December 2019; and
~ complies with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand.

Our audit was completed on 21 April 2020. This is the date at which our opinion is expressed.
The basis for our opinion is explained below, and we draw your attention to the possible effects of COVID-19. In addition, we
outline the responsibilities of the Council and our responsibilities relating to the financial statements and the service performance
report, we comment on other information, and we explain our independence.

Emphasis of Matter - COVID-19
Without modifying our opinion, we draw your attention to the disclosures in note 24 on page 129 which outline the possible effects
to the University and Group as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic. It is difficult to determine the full effect of it on the University
and Group at this time.

Basis for our opinion
We carried out our audit in accordance with the Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards, which incorporate the Professional and
Ethical Standards and the International Standards on Auditing (New Zealand) issued by the New Zealand Auditing and Assurance
Standards Board. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Responsibilities of the auditor section of
our report.
We have fulfilled our responsibilities in accordance with the Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Responsibilities of the Council for the financial statements and the service performance report
The Council is responsible on behalf of the University and Group for preparing financial statements that are fairly presented and
that comply with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand.
The Council is also responsible on behalf of the University and Group for preparing a service performance report that is fairly
presented and that complies with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand.
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The Council is responsible for such internal control as it determines is necessary to enable it to prepare financial statements and a
service performance report that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements and the service performance report, the Council is responsible on behalf of the University and
Group for assessing the University and Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
The Council’s responsibilities arise from the Crown Entities Act 2004 and the Education Act 1989.
Responsibilities of the auditor for the audit of the financial statements and the service performance report
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements and the service performance report,
as a whole, are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit carried out in accordance with the AuditorGeneral’s Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements are differences or omissions
of amounts or disclosures, and can arise from fraud or error. Misstatements are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the decisions of readers taken on the basis of these financial statements
and service performance report.
For the budget information reported in the financial statements and the service performance report, our procedures were limited to
checking that the information agreed to the University and Group’s approved budget and State of Objectives.
We did not evaluate the security and controls over the electronic publication of the financial statements and the service
performance report.
As part of an audit in accordance with the Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards, we exercise professional judgement and maintain
professional scepticism throughout the audit. Also:
•

We identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements and the service performance report,
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

•

We obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the University and Group’s internal
control.

•

We evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the Council.

•

We conclude on the appropriateness of the use of the going concern basis of accounting by the Council and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
University and Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements and the service performance
report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the University and Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

•

We evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements and the service performance report,
including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements and the service performance report represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

•

We obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial statements and the service performance report of
the entities or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements and the
consolidated service performance report. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the Group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Council regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.
Our responsibilities arise from the Public Audit Act 2001.
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Other information
The Council is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included on pages 1 to 61,
83 to 85 and 137 to 144, but does not include the financial statements and the service performance report, and our auditor’s report
thereon.
Our opinion on the financial statements and the service performance report does not cover the other information and we do not
express any form of audit opinion or assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the financial statements and the service performance report, our responsibility is to read the other
information. In doing so, we consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements and
the service performance report or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on
our work, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have
nothing to report in this regard.

Independence
We are independent of the University and Group in accordance with the independence requirements of the Auditor-General’s
Auditing Standards, which incorporate the independence requirements of Professional and Ethical Standard 1: International Code
of Ethics for Assurance Practitioners (including International Independence Standards) (New Zealand) issued by the New Zealand
Auditing and Assurance Standards Board.
Other than the audit, we carried out an assurance engagement reporting on the Vice-Chancellor’s annual declaration on the
Performance-Based Research Fund external research income.
We have no relationship with or interests in the University or any of its subsidiaries.

ANDY BURNS
Audit New Zealand
On behalf of the Auditor-General
Dunedin, New Zealand
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SUMMARY FACTS AND FIGURES
2019

2018

2017

2016

2015

STUDENT ENROLMENTS								
Equivalent Full-time Students (EFTS)							
Commerce

2,811

2,829

2,885

2,954

2,928

Health Sciences

6,435

6,483

6,267

6,089

5,871

Humanities

4,901

4,825

4,712

4,807

4,944

Sciences

4,543

4,435

4,334

4,437

4,413

Subtotal

18,689

18,572

18,198

18,287

18,156

226

268

260

259

265

18,915

18,840

18,457

18,547

18,421

Other Group EFTS*
Total

* Other Group EFTS comprise EFTS enrolled in the Foundation Studies programme of the University subsidiary Foundation
Studies Limited.					

ENROLMENT BY QUALIFICATION TYPE 						
PhD
Professional doctorates

1,402

1,399

1,383

1,325

1,307

177

142

118

86

80

1,469

1,360

1,261

1,287

1,224

Postgraduate diplomas

942

1,063

1,072

1,016

946

Postgraduate certificates

649

628

690

638

596

Masters

Graduate diplomas

192

215

243

294

314

Bachelor honours

396

404

366

385

451

Bachelors

14,728

14,677

14,448

14,598

14,559

Undergraduate diplomas

14

17

20

29

39

Certificate of proficiency

1,576

1,455

1,492

1,493

1,442

13

5

11

1

4

263

298

305

292

316

0

0

0

0

4

21,240

21,108

20,838

20,814

20,601

Interest only
Foundation Studies
Other
Total students

Note: Enrolments by qualification type sum to more than the total headcount as students can enrol for more than one qualification type.
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2019

2018

2017

2016

2015

GENDER OF STUDENTS						
Female
Male
Gender diverse
Total

12,711

12,588

12,272

12,147

11,879

8,510

8,519

8,565

8,665

8,720

19

1

1

2

2

21,240

21,108

20,838

20,814

20,601

FIRST- YEAR AND RETURNING STUDENTS						
First-year

4,025

4,023

3,770

4,002

3,738

Returning

17,215

17,085

17,068

16,812

16,863

Total

21,240

21,108

20,838

20,814

20,601

ETHNICITY OF STUDENTS						
European/Pākehā

71.5%

71.4%

72.4%

73.1%

73.4%

Māori

10.3%

9.9%

9.3%

8.9%

8.5%

Asian

20.3%

20.5%

19.8%

19.2%

18.8%

Pacific

5.0%

4.7%

4.5%

4.2%

3.9%

Middle Eastern/Latin American/African

3.7%

3.6%

3.4%

3.4%

3.6%

Other/unknown

3.8%

3.7%

3.9%

3.7%

3.6%

Note: Students who reported more than one ethnic group are counted once in each group reported. This means that the total number of responses for all ethnic groups
can be greater than the total number of students who stated their ethnicities. Therefore, totals may be greater than 100%.			

HOME AREA OF STUDENTS						
Dunedin

3,078

2,999

3,043

3,127

3,182

Otago/Southland

1,853

1,858

1,860

1,969

2,033

Remainder of South Island

3,662

3,796

3,813

3,903

3,828

North Island

9,180

8,946

8,737

8,570

8,482

Overseas (including NZ citizens overseas)

3,448

3,482

3,348

3,191

3,014

19

27

37

54

62

21,240

21,108

20,838

20,814

20,601

Unknown
Total
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2019

2018

2017

2016

2015

INTERNATIONAL STUDENTS						
Undergraduate

1,833

1,819

1,807

1,810

1,768

Postgraduate

1,139

1,096

1,030

913

824

Total

2,972

2,915

2,837

2,723

2,592

INTERNATIONAL STUDENTS BY HOME COUNTRY						
United States of America

804

772

798

721

656

China

525

507

500

490

460

Malaysia

263

301

241

241

255

India

149

133

130

119

103

United Kingdom

69

85

89

87

100

Singapore

67

70

68

52

45

Canada

59

71

67

54

54

Vietnam

52

40

27

25

26

Iran, Islamic Republic of

50

52

55

53

61

Indonesia

48

43

39

32

20

Germany

47

59

69

72

62

Oman

37

33

27

30

30

Korea, Republic of

37

29

30

31

32

Pakistan

36

34

27

21

21

Sri Lanka

36

29

23

14

10

Brunei Darussalam

35

38

41

52

56

France

32

35

46

52

40

Norway

31

34

30

34

25

Thailand

31

34

31

30

32

Denmark

29

20

21

24

14

Japan

29

35

37

44

51

Other

506

461

441

449

442

2,972

2,915

2,837

2,727

2,595

Total

Note: Australian, Tokelauan and Cook Islands’ students - whether resident in their home country or New Zealand prior to commencing study - are not counted as
international students, and so are not included in the above figures.

HOME AREA OF FIRST-YEAR STUDENTS						
Dunedin

577

573

578

616

Otago/Southland

414

462

428

432

416

Remainder of South Island

717

745

714

831

768

2,015

1,950

1,794

1,826

1,722

302

293

255

277

263

0

0

1

20

15

4,025

4,023

3,770

4,002

3,738

North Island
Overseas (including NZ citizens overseas)
Unknown
Total

			

554
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2018

2017

2016

2015

ACADEMIC ATTAINMENT					
Number of Programme Completions						
Undergraduate diplomas and certificates
Undergraduate degrees
Postgraduate diplomas and certificates
Postgraduate degrees
Total University
Commerce graduates

97

130

143

183

168

3,517

3,395

3,368

3,467

3,566

912

940

969

995

841

1,044

1,054

1056

969

989

5,570

5,519

5,536

5,614

5,564

709

724

700

671

745

Health Sciences graduates

1,691

1,768

1,674

1,790

1,576

Humanities graduates

1,237

1,099

1,275

1,290

1,419

Sciences graduates

1,566

1,541

1,494

1,475

1,455

367

387

393

388

369

5,570

5,519

5,536

5,614

5,564

Interdivisional graduates
Total University

DEGREES, DIPLOMAS AND CERTIFICATES COMPLETED PER 100 EFTS ENROLLED

		

Commerce

25.2

25.6

24.3

22.7

25.4

Health Sciences

26.3

27.3

26.7

29.4

26.8

Humanities

25.2

22.8

27.1

26.8

28.7

Sciences

34.5

34.7

34.5

33.2

33.0

Total

29.8

29.7

30.4

30.7

30.6

EXAMINATION PASS RATES						
Commerce

89.1%

89.6%

88.6%

87.8%

87.7%

Health Sciences

94.8%

95.0%

94.9%

94.2%

93.7%

Humanities

92.5%

92.5%

92.4%

92.1%

91.4%

Sciences

88.0%

87.2%

87.1%

87.7%

87.1%

Other (Foundation Studies)

73.5%

77.2%

76.0%

74.8%

79.3%

Total pass rate

91.5%

91.5%

91.2%

90.8%

90.3%
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2019

2018

2017

2016

2015

STAFF PROFILE						
Full-time Equivalent (FTE) Teaching and Research Staff						
Female					
Vice-Chancellor/senior academic managers

3

2

2

2

2

Professors

67

53

52

50

42

Readers/associate professors

79

78

74

72

71

154

164

168

162

166

94

88

89

87

82

Senior lecturers
Lecturers
Other teaching and teaching/research staff

245

182

160

161

159

Research-only staff

245

225

198

181

246

Total Females

887

792

743

715

769

Male					
Vice-Chancellor/senior academic managers

5

6

6

6

6

175

167

170

178

166

Readers/associate professors

114

129

120

117

108

Senior lecturers

175

183

191

186

191

Professors

Lecturers

56

55

62

69

82

Other teaching and teaching/research staff

184

100

104

106

116

Research-only staff

148

164

159

155

182

Total Males

857

804

810

817

851

1,744

1,596

1,552

1,532

1,619

Total Academic and Research-Only Staff

					
Full-time Equivalent (FTE) Professional Staff						
Female					
Senior managers
Professional services, student and community staff
Librarians and library assistants
Research support staff and technicians
Total Females

9

9

9

9

12

1,186

1197

1,177

1,153

1,053

86

88

93

93

101

153

318

325

235

236

1,434

1,612

1,604

1,489

1,403

Male					
Senior managers
Professional services, student and community staff
Librarians and library assistants

18

18

18

18

16

647

651

651

640

602

23

24

22

21

24

Research support staff and technicians

124

179

181

162

139

Total Males

812

872

872

841

781

Total Professional Staff

2,246

2,484

2,476

2,330

2,184

Total Staff

3,996

4,080

4,029

3,862

3,803

Note: Total staff includes staff who identify as neither female nor male. 						
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2019

2018

2017

2016

2015

RESEARCH ACTIVITIES (revised for previous years)					
Total Research Outputs

5,375

5,837

5,354

5,125

5,513

Note: Publications are shown in the year they are reported in the University’s Research Outputs Report. Actual date of publication or dissemination may differ.
Figures for the current year are provisional, subject to final vetting. Figures for previous years are updated as appropriate to account for the impact of vetting.

LAND AND BUILDINGS						
Land (hectares)
Land owned by the University (other than endowment land)

33.7

33.9

33.1

32.1

32.0

Land in Crown title for the University

10.7

10.7

10.7

11.7

12.0

Endowment land

22.2

22.2

22.2

22.2

22.2

Total Land Controlled by the University

22.3

22.3

22.3

22.3

22.3

		

University of Otago Net Assignable Space (floor space in square metres)				
Total

223,565

220,495

219,784

220,408

224,713

Notes: 			
1. Assignable space is defined as the floor area measured from the inside face of the walls and deducting all the common use areas (corridors, toilets, etc) and noninhabitable areas (lifts, stairs, service ducts, etc). Note, corridors provided within “open plan” offices are considered to be assignable space.
2. Assignable space at University-owned flats and residential colleges totals a further 57,064m².

LIBRARY								
Library Collection
Books (volumes)

1,235,974

1,231,268

1,224,672

1,217,737

1,216,154

1,093

2,776

2,855

2,915

3,247

1,141,358

1,137,522

1,136,251

1,131,932

1,131,458

10,518

10,415

10,272

10,178

10,034

Electronic serials available

199,772

163,586

169,530

152,490

171,199

Electronic books available

1,037,433

953,812

850,783

779,443

744,321

Seating places available
4,419
4,584
4,500
			

4,392

4,388

Print serials subscriptions
Hocken pictures and photographs
Hocken linear metres of archives

Space

INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY SERVICES						
Volume of Computer and Telecommunications Traffic
Off-campus network traffic (Gigabytes)

8,542,900

7,819,583

7,371,800

5,078,486

692,958

KEY FINANCIAL INDICATORS						
Financial Indicators

2019

2018

2017

2016		

2015
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Consolidated Consolidated Consolidated Consolidated

Consolidated

Current ratio

0.7

0.9

1.2

1.4

1.3

Liquid ratio

1.6

1.7

2.5

3.1

2.7

Level of debt (debt to equity)

2.5%

2.2%

2.2%

2.2%

2.1%

Increase in net assets

5.6%

2.4%

14.0%

1.8%

2.2%

Return on total assets

2.0%

1.2%

1.5%

1.6%

1.7%

Return on revenue

6.1%

3.9%

4.8%

4.6%

5.0%
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